MODULATION OF ENDOTHELIAL ACTIVATION AND CEREBRAL ANGIOGENESIS BY TNF FAMILY LIGANDS AND RESVERATROL: AN *IN VITRO* STUDY

by

Pei-Lin Chen

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia December 2010

© Copyright by Pei-Lin Chen, 2010

DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

DEPARTMENT OF PATHOLOGY

The undersigned hereby certify that they have read and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance a thesis entitled "MODULATION OF ENDOTHELIAL ACTIVATION AND CEREBRAL ANGIOGENESIS BY TNF FAMILY LIGANDS AND RESVERATROL: AN *IN VITRO* STUDY" by Pei-Lin Chen in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

	Dated:	December 10, 2010
External Examiner:		
Research Supervisor:		
Examining Committee:		

Departmental Representative: ______

DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

DATE: December 10, 2010

AUTHOR: Pei-Lin Chen

TITLE: MODULATION OF ENDOTHELIAL ACTIVATION AND CEREBRAL ANGIOGENESIS BY TNF FAMILY LIGANDS AND RESVERATROL: AN *IN VITRO* STUDY

DEPARTMEN	IT OR SCHOOL:	DEPARTMENT O	F PATHOLOGY		
DEGREE:	PhD	CONVOCATION:	May	YEAR:	2011

Permission is herewith granted to Dalhousie University to circulate and to have copied for non-commercial purposes, at its discretion, the above title upon the request of individuals or institutions. I understand that my thesis will be electronically available to the public.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

The author attests that permission has been obtained for the use of any copyrighted material appearing in the thesis (other than the brief excerpts requiring only proper acknowledgement in scholarly writing), and that all such use is clearly acknowledged.

Signature of Author

For my dear parents —

who I love and respect; and who give me the life of a princess, and the strength and spirit of a phoenix.

Dr Ming-Tsun Chen & Shu-Chin Chen Wu

and

Dr Hong Dao Tze & Mrs. Hong (my Kungfu Shifu/Master & Shimu)

LIST OF FIGURES	ix
ABSTRACT	xi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS USED	xii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xvi
CHAPTER 1- INTRODUCTION	1
1.0. Overview	1
1.1. Endothelial Dysfunction, Activation, Injury and Death	2
1.1.1. Physiological Functions of Endothelial Cells	3
1.1.2. Endothelial Responses to Injury and Endothelial Activation	4
1.1.3. Mechanisms of Cell Death – Injury Beyond Repair	6
1.2. Inflammation and Angiogenesis	11
1.2.1. Inflammation	11
1.2.2. Angiogenesis	13
1.2.3. Cross-talk Between Angiogenesis and Inflammation	19
1.3. Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) Superfamily	21
1.3.1. TNF	22
1.3.2. TRAIL	24
1.3.3. FasL	25
1.4. Resveratrol	27
1.4.1. Background and Sources of Resveratrol	28
1.4.2. Cellular Effects of Resveratrol	28
1.4.3. Health Benefits of Resveratrol	31
1.5. Rationale and Objectives:	
CHAPTER 2- METHODS AND MATERIALS	
2.1 Cell Cultures	
2.1.1. HUVEC (Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells)	
2.1.2. EA.hy926	37
2.1.3. HMVEC (Human Microvascular Vein Endothelial Cells)	
2.1.4. hCMEC/D3 (Human Cerebral Microvascular Endothelial Cells/D3)	
2.1.5. BBMEC (Bovine Brain Microvascular Endothelial Cells)	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.2. Reagents and Antibodies	
2.3. Neutrophil Isolation and Neutrophil Adhesion Assay	41
2.3.1. Neutrophil Isolation and Labeling	41
2.3.2. Neutrophil Adhesion Assay	
2.4. Cell Number Assessment/Cytotoxicity Assay	
2.4.1. Acid Phosphatase Assay	42
2.4.2. MTT Assay	43
2.4.3. Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH)-Release Assay	44
2.5. Cell Proliferation/BrdU Assay	45
2.6. Flow Cytometry Analysis	45
2.6.1. Annexin V-FITC Apoptosis Assay	
2.6.2. PI (Propidium Iodide) Cell Cycle Analysis by Flow Cytometry	
2.7. NF-кB Activation Assay	47
2.8. Caspase 3 Activation Assay	
2.9. Microscopy, Image Acquisition, and Processing	
2.10. Cell Migration/ Scratch Wound Healing Assay	
2.11. Tube Formation/ <i>in vitro</i> Matrigel [™] Assay	
2.12. Ex vivo Rat Aorta Angiogenesis Assay	
2.13. Western Blotting Analysis	51
2.14. Statistical Analysis	52
CHAPTER 3 – Apoptotic Phenotype Alters the Capacity of Tumor Necrosis	
Factor Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand (TRAIL) to Induce Human Vascular Endothelial Activation	54
3.0. Copyright Permission and Student Contribution Statement	55
3.1. Abstract	55
3.2. Introduction	56
3.3. Results	58
3.3.1. Characterization of TRAIL and FasL Responses in EA.hy926 Cells	
апо почес	

3.3.2. Regulation of TRAIL-Induced Increases in Neutrophil Adhesion to EA.hy926 Cells	59
3.3.3. TRAIL Treatment of EA.hy926 Cells Results in NF-кВ Activation and Increased Surface Expression of ICAM-1	61
3.3.4. TRAIL Induces Apoptosis in HUVEC Treated with LY294002 in 1% Serum	61
3.3.5. TRAIL Treatment, in the Presence of LY294002/1% Serum, Increases Neutrophil Adhesion to HUVEC	62
3.4. Discussion	63
3.5. Acknowledgement	68
CHAPTER 4 – Evidence that Tumor Necrosis Factor Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand (TRAIL) Inhibits Angiogenesis by Inducing Vascular Endothelial Cell Apoptosis.	87
4.0. Copyright Permission and Student Contribution Statement	88
4.1. Abstract	88
4.2. Introduction	89
4.3. Results	90
4.3.1. Effects of TRAIL, Fas Ligand and TNF in HUVEC	90
4.3.2. Effect of TRAIL, Fas Ligand, and TNF in hCMEC/D3 Cells	91
4.4. Discussion	93
4.4.1. Effect of TRAIL on HUVEC	93
4.4.2. Actions of TRAIL and FasL in hCMEC/D3 Cells	94
4.5. Conclusions	96
4.6. Acknowledgments	96
CHAPTER 5 – Anti-angiogenic Effects of Resveratrol on Cerebral Angiogenesis.	
5.0. Copyright Permission and Student Contribution Statement	
5.1. Abstract	
5.2. Introduction	
5.3. Results	110
5.3.1. Impact of Resveratrol on BrdU Incorporation and Cell Numbers	110
5.3.2. Effect of Resveratrol on Cell Migration	111
5.3.3. Possible Explanations for the Impact of Resveratrol	111

5.3.4. Effects of Resveratrol on Tubule Formation	
5.3.5. Effects of Resveratrol on Key Signaling Molecules	
5.4. Discussion	
5.4.1. Principal Findings	
5.4.2. The Significance of Angiogenesis	
5.4.3. Resveratrol and Angiogenesis	
5.4.4. Resveratrol Dosage and Metabolism	
5.4.5. Present Findings	
5.5. Conclusion	121
5.6. Acknowledgement	121
CHAPTER 6 – DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	
6.1. Overview and Principal Findings	
6.2. General Direction of the Work	139
6.3. Limitations and Future Directions	140
6.3.1. Use of the hCMEC/D3 Cell Line	140
6.3.2. Limitations of Using Large Vessel Endothelial Cells	
6.3.3. Lack of Response to Growth Factors	
6.3.4. Limitations of Activation and Apoptosis Assays	145
6.3.5. Limitations of Angiogenesis Assays	
6.4. Future Directions	149
6.5. Concluding Remarks	150
APPENDIX I	
AI-1: Copyright Permission from the Macmillan Publishers Limited	153
AI-2: Copyright Permission from S. Karger AG Basel	155
AI-3: Copyright Permission from the Elsevier Limited	157
AI-4: Copyright Permission from Bentham Science Publishers Limited	159
APPENDIX II: SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	161
REFERENCE	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Extrinsic and Intrinsic Apoptosis Pathways
Figure 1.2. Cascade of Events During Leukocyte Recruitment
Figure 1.3. Multistep Processes of Angiogenesis
Figure 3.1. Surface Expression of TRAIL, FasL and Their Cognate Receptors Detected by Flow Cytometry in HUVEC (A) and EA.hy926 Cells (B)69
Figure 3.2. Effect of TRAIL and FasL on EA.hy926 Cell and HUVEC Numbers, Measured by Acid Phosphatase Assay
Figure 3.3. Effect of TRAIL, TNF and FasL on Apoptosis of EA.hy926 Cells Measured by Annexin V-FITC Labeling74
Figure 3.4. Effect of TRAIL and FasL on Neutrophil Adhesion to EA.hy926 Cells, Assessed by Calcein Labeling
Figure 3.5. NF-кB Activation in EA.hy926 Cells Treated with TNF, TRAIL, and FasL79
Figure 3.6.: Surface Expression of ICAM-1 Detected by Flow Cytometry in EA.hy926 Cells Following Treatments with TRAIL, FasL, and TNF
Figure 3.7. HUVEC Sensitized to Undergo Apoptosis by Treatment with LY294002 Alone, or in Combination with TRAIL
Figure 3.8. Neutrophil Adhesion to HUVEC85
Figure 4.1. Effects of Multiple Factors on Parameters of Angiogenesis in the HUVEC
Figure 4.2. Tube Formation Assay on Matrigel™ in HUVEC Treated with Growth Factors and Indicated Ligands
Figure 4.3. Effects on Parameters of Cerebral Angiogenesis Modeled with hCMEC/D3 Cells
Figure 4.4. Tube Formation Assay on Matrigel™ in hCMEC/D3 Cells Treated in Serum (5% FBS) and with Indicated Ligands103
Figure 5.1. Impact of Resveratrol on BrdU Incorporation and Cell Number
Figure 5.2. Effect of Resveratrol on Migration Assessed by Scratch Assay
Figure 5.3. Possible Mechanisms of Action of Resveratrol128
Figure 5.4. Tubule Formation Assay on Matrigel [™] in hCMEC/D3 Cells Treated with Vehicle or Indicated Doses of Resveratrol131
Figure 5.5. Ex Vivo Angiogenesis Assay using Explanted Rat Aortic Rings
Figure 5.6. Resveratrol Induces a Reduction in the Phosphorylated Form of Akt Relative to Total Akt Levels by Western Blot on hCMEC/D3 Cells

Figure S.1. Surface Expression of TRAIL, Fas Ligand and Their Cognate Receptors and the VEGF Receptors R1 and R2 in hCMEC/D3 Cells.	161
Figure S.2.: Effect of Growth Factors on BrdU Incorporation in hCMEC/D3 Cells	162
Figure S.3. Effect of Growth Factors and Heparin (H) on hCMEC/D3 Cell Numbers Assessed with the MTT Assay.	163
Figure S.4.: Cell Migration Assessed with Scratch Assay in hCMEC/D3 Cells in Response to Growth Factors or TNF Family Ligands	164
Figure S.5. ICAM-1 Expression in hCMEC/D3 Cells Following Treatments with TNF and TRAIL.	165
Figure S.6. Impact of Growth Factors, TNF Family Members and Resveratrol on HMVEC Cells.	166
Figure S.7. Impact of Growth Factors, TNF Family Members and Resveratrol on BBMEC Cells.	168
Figure S.8. Detection of NF-κB and MAPK Signaling Molecules in hCMEC/D3 Cells by Western Blotting	170
Figure S.9. Reduction in ICAM-1 Expression in hCMEC/D3 Cells Treated with Resveratrol.	172

ABSTRACT

Vascular endothelial cell activation and apoptosis (programmed cell death) are critical in inflammation and angiogenesis (the formation of new blood vessels). Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine known for its ability to induce endothelial cell activation and apoptosis. However, the ability of two death ligands in the TNF superfamily: TRAIL (TNF-Related Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand) and Fas ligand (FasL), to activate vascular endothelium is less well defined, and forms the basis of this work. We find that in the human endothelial cell line EA.hy926, TRAIL induces endothelial cell activation (activation of the transcription factor NF-kB with increased expression of the adhesion protein ICAM-1 and adhesion of human neutrophils) when it concurrently induces apoptosis. In addition, angiogenesis is implicated in diseases of the central nervous system, and its modulation represents an attractive therapeutic strategy. We investigated the modulatory potential of the two endogenous molecules TRAIL and FasL as well as an exogenous molecule resveratrol, a phytochemical present in red wine, in angiogenesis. We modeled cerebral angiogenesis with the human brain endothelial cell line hCMEC/D3 and primary bovine brain endothelial cells. Resveratrol inhibited several parameters of angiogenesis (proliferation, migration and tube formation) in human umbilical vein endothelial cells, however, neither TRAIL nor FasL had an effect on this model. By contrast, in hCMEC/D3 cells both resveratrol and TRAIL inhibited all parameters while FasL had minimal effects. Resveratrol did not induce apoptosis in hCMEC/D3 but arrested cell cycle progression to G2/M phase and inhibited phosphorylation of Akt/PKB, a key cell survival protein kinase. This leads to a reduction in cell growth, endothelial migration and tube formation, hence, inhibition of in vitro angiogenesis. TRAIL induced anti-angiogenic effects in hCMEC/D3 due to apoptosis. The data suggests that TRAIL primarily influences angiogenesis through induction of vascular endothelial apoptosis while resveratrol induces cell cycle arrest, both of which may lead to vessel regression. These are the first studies to report the modulation of different aspects of endothelial cell activation by TRAIL and resveratrol in several endothelial cell culture models, with a particular focus on the central nervous system.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS USED

°C	degree Celsius
AM	acetoxymethyl ester
Ang	angiopoietin(s)
ANOVA	analysis of variance
Apaf	apoptotic protease activating factor
BBB	blood-brain-barrier
BBMEC	bovine brain microvascular endothelial cells
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor
BrdU	5-bromo-2deoxyuridine
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CAM	chick chorioallantoic membrane
caspase	cysteinyl aspartic acid-protease
CCL	chemokine ligand(s)
CD	cluster of differentiation molecule(s)
Cdc	cell-division cycle
c-FLIP	cellular FLICE inhibitory protein
CI	caspase-inhibitor
CNS	central nervous system
CO ₂	carbon dioxide
DD	death domain
ddH ₂ O	double-distilled or distilled-deionized water
DED	death effector domain
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DNase	deoxyribonuclease
DPBS	Dulbecco Phosphate Buffered Saline
DTT	dithiothreitol
ECM	extracellular matrix
ECGS	endothelial cell growth supplement
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacectic acid
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EM	emission
ERK	extracellularsignal-regulated kinase(s)

EX	excitation
FACS	fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FADD	Fas-associated death domain
FasL	Fas ligand (CD95L)
FasR	Fas receptor (CD95)
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
FLICE	FADD-like IL-1β-converting enzyme
FLT	Fms-related tyrosine kinase
xg	acceleration due to Earth's gravity (9.8m/s2)
g	gram(s)
GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
h	hour(s)
H ₂ O	water
HCI	hydrochloride acid
hCMEC/D3	human cerebral microvascular endothelial cell/D3 cell line
HIF	hypoxia-inducible factor
HMVEC	human dermal microvascular endothelial cells
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
HSPG	heparin sulphate proteoglycan
HT	hypoxanthine and thymidine
HUVEC	human umbilical vein endothelial cells
ICAM	intercellular adhesion molecule
IGF	insulin-like growth factor
lgG	immunoglobulin G
lκB	inhibitor of kappa B
IKK	inhibitors of kappa B kinase
IL	interleukin
JNK/SAPK	c-jun N-terminal kinase/stress-activated protein kinase
kDa	kilodalton
KDR	kinase insert domain receptor(CD309)
L (I)	litre(s)
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
LFA	lymphocyte function-associated antigen
LPS	lipopolysaccharide (endotoxin)
М	molar; moles per liter

ΜΑΡΚ	mitogen-activated protein kinase
mg	milligram(s)
min	minute(s)
ml	millilitre(s)
mM	millimolar
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
MS	multiple sclerosis
MTT	(3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa B
nM	nanomolar(s)
NO	nitric oxide
O ₂	molecular oxygen
OD	optical density
PAK	platelet-activating factor
p-Akt	phosphorylated Akt
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PE	phycoerythrin
PECAM	platelet/endothelial cell adhesion molecule (CD31)
рН	logarithmic unit measuring acidity
PI	propidium iodide
РІЗК	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PIGF	phosphatidylinositol-glycan biosynthesis class F protein
PIP	phosphatidylinositol phosphate
PMN	polymorphonuclear neutrophils
p-value	probability (of incorrectly rejecting the null hypothesis)
PVDF	polyvinylidene fluoride
RNase	ribonuclease
rpm	revolutions per minute
RT	room temperature
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate
s or sec	second(s)
SEM	standard error of the mean
TBST	Tris buffered saline with Tween-20
TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine

TERT	telomerase reverse transcriptase
TNF	tumor necrosis factor alpha
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
TRAIL-R	TRAIL receptor
Tris-HCl	tris[hydroxymethyl]-amino methane hydrochloride
TSP	thrombospondin
TWEAK	TNF-related weak inducer of apoptosis
μL	microliter(s)
μM	micromolar
VCAM	vascular cell adhesion molecule
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VLA	very late antigen, an integrin
XIAP	X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis proteins

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

What a great experience I've had at the Easton Lab! Many people have assisted me directly or indirectly with this thesis work. I cannot thank everyone enough for helping me grow as a person and gain the necessary knowledge to survive as a graduate student.

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Alex Easton, for the opportunity you gave me to pursue a degree that I never thought I had the courage to take on. I especially appreciate your encouragement, patience, and support over the past six years. Your amazing talent at hiring the most wonderful group of people truly made my PhD life one sweet memory. As well, thank you for allowing me to personalize my bench space, so I never want to leave this pleasant lab environment after work.

Many thanks to the Department of Pathology for giving me the opportunity to study and making the time spent here so enjoyable. I am grateful to my supervisory committee: Drs. David Hoskin, Andrew Issekutz, and Brent Johnston for helpful discussions and invaluable guidance on my studies. I could not complete my thesis research without your mentorship. Your devotion to research set the best example for me and all the students around. Also, thank you to Dr. Wenda Greer for walking me through the tough times and always having your office doors open. Of course, I must also thank Eileen Kaiser for working very hard behind the scene and I love that we share the same passion.

Thanks to Dr. A. Issekutz for providing us the human endothelial cells, HUVEC and EA.hy926 cell lines. This research would not be possible without expert technical assistance from many people, especially Pat Colp, Derek Rowter, Mary-Ann Trevors, and Stephen Whitefield. I would also like to acknowledge those labs which kindly offered to share their valuable equipment: Guernsey's, Hoskin's, Johnston's, and Marshell's labs. My heartfelt appreciation goes to the fellow pathology graduate students and the 11th floor Tupper Building community for their support, their friendship, and their patience in enduring my laughter as well as some grunts and screams, when experiments did not work. In particular, thank you Duane for your interest in my research and always being there to encourage students to take the next step. I am especially grateful for the support from you and C.J. ("Siege") in the months leading to my thesis defense. Of course, I will never forget the "benefits of resveratrol experiments" we conducted after work.

I would like to express my most sincere gratitude to the past and present members of the Easton lab: fellow graduate students, Shannon, Krystyna, C.J., Firdaus, Sam, and Nadine (an honorary member of the Easton's); past technicians, Antar, Yaping, Emily, Jing, and Erin; and previous summer students, Brent, Aishwarya, Jahnavi, and Ryan. All are friends both inside and outside of the lab. You guys made the lab the best place to be. Thanks for introducing me to the true Canadian culture, taking my hands and showing me what Canadian University life is like. Thanks to the "Easton Girls", my English vocabulary has expanded dramatically in the past several years. It was an honour to work with everyone! Also, I promised to mention in this thesis the multicultural nickname you guys proudly gave me. Who knows what it means, but Wynnwaa McChen is pure fun!

I appreciate Dr. Zhongmin Dong at Saint Mary's University in Halifax, NS, for initiating me into the field of research. I also feel blessed to have many caring friends, both in Canada and in Taiwan. I am especially grateful to share a friendship with Patricia Irvine, Shannon Joice, Susan McCurdy, Erin Mentink, and Ron Patterson. They have

xvii

supported me in many ways beyond what a friend can do. They really are my guardian angels.

I would like to express my warmest acknowledgments to my Chinese Kungfu Shifu (like teacher and father; Master), Tai Ji Men Zheng-men-ren, the director of Tai Ji Men Qigong Academy and the founder of the Federation Of World Peace And LOVE (FOWPAL), Dr. Hong Tao Tze, and Shimu, his wife, Mrs. Hong. I owe a great deal of gratitude for Dr. Hong, if he had not been saved my life when I was 17. Shifu, the Kungfu and Philosophy of Yin & Yang what you taught me cannot be found in books. However, they can be easily applied to understanding book knowledge, most importantly, to real life situations which are not described on the page. I learned to stand back and view the big picture with a smile before dealing with any frustrating moments both in research and in life. I will follow your steps to give, to care, and to love the world!

Last, but certainly not the least, I appreciate my Mom and Dad for their everlasting love. Mom and Dad, no words can describe my thankfulness for your trust in and support of me. You have not only provided me with a sweet and carefree home, but have also given me the courage and opportunity to explore the world without worries. I have benefited so much from the integrity and moral values you taught me. And finally, a big thank to all my family who have always made me laugh and are just a phone call away.

xviii

CHAPTER 1- INTRODUCTION

1.0. Overview

There has been an increasing awareness of the link between cancer and chronic inflammatory diseases, such as atherosclerosis, ulcerative colitis, and rheumatoid arthritis (1-5). In this respect, angiogenesis is of interest. Angiogenesis refers to the formation of new blood vessels from pre-existing vasculature. Its involvement in cancer has been well delineated. For instance, angiogenesis promotes the growth and metastasis of cancer to distant sites. Conversely, the link between angiogenesis and inflammation is not as clearly outlined. The detailed physiology of these events, particularly in the central nervous system (CNS), has not been adequately described. Many investigators are describing how therapies interfere with angiogenesis, without describing the basic mechanisms that underlie this process. Finding treatment options with less toxic side effects are desirable and in high demand. Nevertheless, it is also important to understand that both inflammatory and angiogenic processes are not always pathological, they are also essential in keeping physiological homeostasis in a healthy individual.

Endothelial activation and apoptosis are important aspects of vascular physiology. The ability of members of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) family of inflammatory cytokines to induce apoptosis in tumors and inflammatory cells is well documented (6, 7). Nonetheless, their role in endothelial activation and apoptosis in endothelium is not as clearly understood. The first portion of work described in this thesis (chapter 3) will investigate the link between endothelial apoptosis and activation in response to two

1

TNF family cytokines known as "death ligands", namely TRAIL (TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand) and FasL (Fas ligand).

The second body of work (chapter 4) aims to describe how these inflammatory cytokines affect endothelial processes linked to angiogenesis. Recent reports demonstrate that some patients with multiple sclerosis (MS) have an increased density of blood vessels in disease foci (8, 9). In addition, a study has found that serum concentration of TNF family cytokines are elevated in MS patients (10-12). This raises interesting questions about the role of TNF family members in blood-brain-barrier inflammation and cerebral angiogenesis. Therefore, one of my goals was to establish a cerebral angiogenesis model in order to examine the effects of TRAIL and FasL on this process.

In addition to the interest shown in the role of pro-inflammatory cytokines in angiogenesis, growing attention has been paid to dietary compounds or supplements and the potential of these exogenous chemicals to prevent and ameliorate disease. Resveratrol is a phytochemical derived from multiple plant sources including grapes (red wine), whose effects on the cardiovascular system have been extensively studied (13-19). However, little is known of its corresponding effects on the cerebrovascular system. Therefore, the third set of studies (chapter 5) describes the effect of resveratrol on mechanisms linked to angiogenesis in endothelium derived both from the CNS and from peripheral vessels.

1.1. Endothelial Dysfunction, Activation, Injury and Death

The normal cell has defined structures and functions that maintain a steady state called homeostasis. Alterations of physical, chemical, or biological status or the

deprivation of vital substrates triggers cellular responses. The cellular response to a mild injurious stimulus consists of adaptations that allow the cell to survive and continue to function. If the stimulus persists or is severe enough, reversible or irreversible injury, or even cell death may occur (20). This thesis examines endothelial responses in particular. However, the concept of endothelial cell dysfunction, adaptation, injury, and death, in general, could also be applied to other cell types.

1.1.1. Physiological Functions of Endothelial Cells

Vascular endothelium located at the interface between blood and tissue was once thought to be an inert structure but is now recognized to perform many critical homeostatic functions. These include serving as a barrier to control the passage of materials or cells between blood and tissue, maintenance of vascular tone, control of blood pressure and flow through vasoconstriction and vasodilation, regulation of blood coagulation, participation in angiogenesis, inflammatory responses, and immune surveillance(20, 21).

Endothelial cells form a single layer of cells that line the entire circulatory system including both cardiovascular and lymphatic systems (22). While some common features are shared (i.e. flat elongated shape and Weibel palade bodies that store von Willebrand (vW) factor and P-selectin), endothelial cells from different anatomic locations exhibit a wide diversity of unique characteristics and functions (21, 23). Endothelium from an organ system such as lung or kidney possesses a distinct phenotype compared to endothelial cells in the CNS. In addition, endothelial cells found in a large vessel (artery or vein) also differ in morphology and functionality from those originating from microvessels (arteriole, capillary, or venule) (20). This heterogeneity is largely programmed by the tissue microenvironment, surrounding cells, extracellular matrix components, shear stress, and biological factors/mediators (24). Furthermore, alterations in the microenvironment may cause the endothelium to respond differently to the same set of mediators (21).

Endothelium in the CNS that separates the bloodstream from the neuronal milieu is perhaps the most unique class of endothelium in the body. Part of this unique function is defined by the term 'blood brain barrier' (BBB). The BBB refers to the very low permeability of water soluble substances such as ions, peptides, and proteins between blood and brain (25, 26). This is several orders of magnitude lower than across vascular beds in the periphery (27-29). The highly specialized cerebral endothelial cells are sealed by complex tight junctions, have reduced density of vesicles, and possess a unique pattern of cell surface receptors, transporters, and intracellular enzymes (25, 26, 30). All of these traits are crucial in regulating microvascular permeability and maintaining CNS homeostasis. However, in order for cerebral endothelium to achieve its functions, it needs to act in concert with astrocytes, pericytes, smooth muscle cells, neurons, and the extracellular matrix of the basement membrane, collectively known as the neurovascular unit (25, 31-34).

1.1.2. Endothelial Responses to Injury and Endothelial Activation

1.1.2.1. Causes of Endothelial Injury and Cell Death

Cell injury, and death results when cells are under severe stress or sustain irreversible injury that overrides adaptive responses. Depending on the cause, injury type, duration, and severity, cell injury could result in acute or chronic responses and these may be reversible or irreversible. If adaptive changes are unable to restore cellular functions and homeostasis, a variety of degradation processes are initiated that lead to eventual cell death. The causes of endothelial cell injury may be grouped into the following categories (20, 35): 1. physical in nature such as ionizing radiation, temperature, mechanical trauma; 2. chemical agents such as drugs and poisons; 3. biological causes such as enzyme dysfunction, viral or other microbial infections, cytokines, cell-mediated immunological reactions and inflammation; 4. deprivation of vital substrates, for example oxygen and glucose. These injurious stimuli may exert different types of stress such as oxidative stress, metabolic stress, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and genotoxic stress (DNA damage) in endothelial cells (21). Moreover, oxidative stress caused by accumulation of reactive oxygen-derived free radicals has been implicated in a wide variety of pathologic conditions and processes, such as chemical and radiation injury, hypoxia, ischemia-reperfusion injury, cancer, aging and inflammatory responses (20, 21). Therefore, oxidative stress is perhaps one of the major stresses causing endothelial injury and death.

1.1.2.2. Endothelial Cell Activation

There is no 'gold standard' definition for endothelial cell activation (36). Many researchers restrict the definition strictly to the expression of adhesion and signaling molecules that promote leukocyte interactions with endothelium in response to inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF and Interleukin (IL)-1 (37-39). A broader definition for endothelial cell activation is an alteration in endothelial cell phenotype or function in response to environmental stimuli (36). This definition includes a role for endothelial cell activation, immune responses, coagulation, and angiogenesis, as well as in atherosclerosis, autoimmune disease, and sepsis (21). Nevertheless, endothelial cell activation involves significant changes in endothelial cell protein expression, production of cytokines and

chemokines, alterations in cytoskeletal organization, cell shape, and permeability (36, 38). Many of the stimuli recognized to induce endothelial cell injury are also known to activate the endothelium. These include (but are not limited to) cytokines, pleotrophic signaling factors such as, thrombin, LPS, bacterial endotoxin and other microbial products, hemodynamic perturbation, oxidants and radiation (20, 21).

1.1.3. Mechanisms of Cell Death – Injury Beyond Repair

1.1.3.1. Types of Cell Death

Homeostasis in multicellular organisms results from the balance between the generation of new cells by cell proliferation and the removal of unwanted or damaged cells by cell death. Apoptosis and necrosis are two major mechanisms of cell death (40, 41). Necrosis is a form of accidental or uncontrolled cell lysis in which noxious contents of cells are released into surrounding tissues and induce inflammatory responses. In contrast to necrosis, apoptosis is programmed cell death. Cell suicide by programmed cell death is a finely regulated process that is occurring constantly in an otherwise healthy individual. Cell deletion by apoptosis is vital to the health of multicellular organisms, especially in embryogenesis and tissue remodeling (42, 43), cell and tissue homeostasis (44), function of the immune system (45) and resolution of inflammation (46). Defective apoptotic processes have been implicated in a variety of diseases. Insufficient apoptosis causes uncontrolled cell proliferation or failure to eliminate autoreactive lymphocytes and infected cells that can lead to cancer, autoimmunity, and persistent infections (47, 48). Excessive apoptosis can result in atrophy, such as seen in neurodegenerative diseases and ischemic damage (49, 50). Although apoptosis is a physiological process to remove unwanted cells, apoptosis can also result from non-physiological mechanisms that cause DNA damage, such as ultraviolet radiation and many chemotherapeutic drugs (51, 52).

Apoptosis is distinguished from necrosis by several morphological features, such as nuclear fragmentation, chromatin condensation, DNA fragmentation, cell shrinkage, and membrane blebbing (40, 41). The key distinction between apoptosis and necrosis is that plasma membrane integrity is usually maintained in apoptotic cells (20). These dying cells express molecules, such as phosphatidylserine, on their cell surface which signals them to be engulfed by phagocytes so that potentially harmful cellular components are not released into surrounding tissues (53-55). Therefore, ridding the body of unwanted or damaged cells by apoptotic mechanisms avoids an inflammatory response which causes tissue swelling, damage and scar formation, as would occur in necrosis (53-55). In the case of insufficient removal of apoptotic cells, post-apoptotic cytolysis, or so called secondary necrosis, can follow with potential pro-inflammatory and pro-immunogenic consequences (56). In addition, there is a subtype of programmed cell death termed anoikis that plays a significant role in death of anchoring cell types, such as endothelial cells (57, 58)(59). Anoikis is a form of apoptosis that is triggered when anchorage dependent cells lose contact with the extracellular matrix. Besides the aforementioned types of programmed cell death, autophagic cell death (autophagocytosis) is another type of programmed cell death in endothelial cells that has been recognized in more recent years (60). Autophagocytosis is a tightly regulated catabolic process that involves the degradation of intracellular components through the lysosomal machinery. Several antiangiogenic agents, such as endostatin (61) and Bortezomib (62), have been shown to stimulate endothelial cell autophagy.

1.1.3.2. Pathways of Apoptosis

Processes of apoptosis involve numerous signaling proteins and the detailed

signaling pathways that trigger apoptosis are not fully understood. Apoptosis can be initiated by diverse stimuli from outside or inside the cell, e.g. death ligands, DNA damage, a lack of survival signals, growth factor withdrawal, paradoxical cell cycle signalling, or by developmental death signals (20). Nevertheless, apoptosis is known to occur through two key pathways: the extrinsic (or cytoplasmic) pathway and the intrinsic (or mitochondrial) pathway, see Figure 1.1. (63).

a. Extrinsic Pathway

The extrinsic pathway begins outside the cell through activation of the so called "death receptors" on the cell surface by ligation specific molecules known as "death ligands". Death ligands and receptors belong to the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) protein superfamily, including TNF-TNF receptors (TNF-R1), FasL-Fas (Fas ligand and receptor), and TRAIL-TRAIL receptors (death receptors-4, 5; DR-4, DR-5) (64-66). Death receptors contain an essential cytoplasmic domain called the death domain (DD) which engages in protein-protein interactions that transmit apoptotic signals (67). Formation of the Death Inducing Signaling Complex (DISC) is a key step in initiation of extrinsic death signaling (68). The DISC recruits DD containing adapter molecules like FADD (Fas-associated death domain) or TRADD (TNF receptor associated death domain) to the DDs of the activated death receptor as well as enrollment of initiator caspases 8 or 10 to the complex (69, 70). Other than DDs, both adaptor protein FADD and pro-caspase-8 contain a death effector domain (DED) and through DED-DED interaction, elevated concentration of procaspase-8 molecules at the DISC leads to their proximity-induced autocatalytic activation and production of active caspase-8 (69, 71, 72). Active caspase-8 molecules then further activate downstream effector caspases which in turn cleave specific substrates that result in cell death. In some cell types, death ligands also trigger intrinsic

mitochondria-dependent apoptotic pathways (73). The link between the caspase signaling cascade and mitochondria is through Bid, a Bcl-2 family protein (73, 74). Bid is cleaved by caspase-8 in the cytosol and the active form of truncated Bid (tBID) translocates to the mitochondria where it interacts with pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members (Bax and Bak) to induce the release of cytochrome c and other pro-apoptotic factors from mitochondria into the cytosol (73-75).

b. Intrinsic Pathway

The mitochondrial or intrinsic pathway is initiated by intracellular stress signals that direct pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins to the mitochondria where they interact and compete with anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins (76). Pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins trigger the release of cytochrome c and other mitochondrial membrane components (76). Cytochrome c binds to apoptotic peptidase activating factor-1 (Apaf-1) and ATP/dATP in the cytosol assembling to form a large multiprotein structure known as the apoptosome (77). Once the apoptosome is formed, pro-caspase 9 is recruited and activated (77). This results in cleavage and activation of executioner pro-caspases, which then further cleave downstream targets, leading to chromatin condensation, nuclear degradation, DNA fragmentation and apoptosis (77).

c. Caspase Cascade

Both extrinsic and intrinsic pathways converge to activate caspases which mediate the final phase of programmed cell death (63). Caspases are cysteine proteases that are synthesized as inactive pro-caspases (zymogens). Pro-apoptotic caspases can be split into two functional distinct groups, caspase-2, -8, -9, and -10 are initiator caspases, while caspases-3, -6, and -7 are executioner caspases. The active form of executioner caspases proceeds to shut down DNA repair mechanisms, to break down nuclear structural protein, and cleave DNA into nucleosomal units by inhibition of enzymes involved in DNA repair such as PARP (Poly-ADP-Ribose-Polymerase), degradation of intra-nuclear proteins such as lamins, and activation of DNases such as CAD (Caspase Activated DNase) (63).

Although caspase-induced apoptosis is most likely the predominant form of programmed cell death, other evidence suggests that apoptosis may also be mediated by caspase-independent mechanisms (78, 79). Several mitochondrial proteins are able to translocate to the nucleus when released into the cytosol and induce DNA fragmentation and apoptosis, without activating caspases. Factors such as AIF (apoptosis-inducing factors), EndoG (endonuclease G), HtrA2/Omi (serine protease high temperature requirement protein A2), and Bnip3 are examples of proteins involved in caspase-independent apoptosis (80, 81). Some phytochemicals are also known to induce apoptosis in a caspase-independent manner (82-84).

1.1.3.3. Regulatory Mechanisms of Apoptosis Signaling

Apoptosis signaling requires a delicate balance between death-inducing signals and cell survival signals. Molecules that activate cell growth and survival pathways such as growth factors with downstream activation of PI-3K/Akt and the NF-kB signaling pathways can counteract apoptosis. In viable cells, pro-apoptotic molecules are repressed and kept in an inactive state. Anti-apoptotic regulatory factors also assist in inhibiting these signals. Many anti-apoptotic regulatory factors interfere with many steps of the extrinsic and intrinsic pathways (20). The Bcl-2 family proteins include more than 20 members and are known for their ability to regulate intrinsic apoptosis. Bcl-2, Bcl-x, and A1 are examples of Bcl-2 family proteins that play anti-apoptotic roles (76) while Bax and Bak proteins are known for their pro-apoptotic function (75, 76). In addition, cellular

FLICE (Fas-associated death domain protein- like interleukin-1β- converting enzyme)-like inhibitor protein, c-FLIP, is an example of a molecule that negatively regulates the extrinsic pathway (85). c-FLIP is a catalytically inactive homologue of caspase-8/-10 that can bind to pro-caspase-8/-10 but cannot cleave and activate the caspase because it lacks a protease domain (72, 73). Another important group of proteins called IAP (inhibitors of apoptosis proteins) are key anti-apoptotic regulators that inhibit caspase activation (86). Furthermore, a mitochondrial protein with the arcane name Smac/DIABLO can neutralize IAP in the cytoplasm and initiate a caspase cascade (87), which demonstrates the complicated cross talk between regulatory molecules that influence apoptosis.

1.2. Inflammation and Angiogenesis

1.2.1. Inflammation

Inflammation is the physiological process whereby tissues of the body respond to injury (i.e. physical injury, chemical irritants, toxins, infections). In normal circumstances, inflammation results in clearance of infections/toxins and the restoration of normal cell function and structure. The typical signs of inflammation include: rubor (redness), tumor (swelling), calor (heat), dolor (pain), and loss of function (20). There are two forms of inflammation, acute and chronic. Acute inflammation is an immediate and early innate (i.e. intrinsic and not antigen triggered) immune response to tissue injury. It involves an increase in blood flow, structural changes in the microvasculature that permit the rapid influx of blood leukocytes and plasma proteins into the tissue; typically neutrophils enter followed by monocytes (20). These monocytes are then quickly transformed to macrophages that affect the functions of resident tissue macrophages (20). These leukocytes ingest and eliminate foreign substances and they also produce growth factors that facilitate in repair. During the resolution phase of inflammation, a large number of leukocytes are eliminated by undergoing apoptosis. These apoptotic leukocytes are also gradually removed by phagocytes. Failure to remove apoptotic leukocytes and the injurious stimulus can trigger persistent inflammation or adaptive (i.e. antigen-specific) immune responses that result in the development of autoimmune diseases. Termination of inflammation involves activation of anti-inflammatory mechanisms that prevents further damage to the host. The usual outcome of acute inflammation is successful resolution and repair of tissue damage. In contrast, chronic or persistent inflammatory responses can lead to proliferation of blood vessels, fibrosis, and further tissue destruction (20).

1.2.1.1. Leukocyte (Neutrophil) Recruitment During Inflammation

As mentioned, a key role of inflammation is to bring leukocytes to the site of injury to assist in removal of the offending agents and dead tissue. The passage of leukocytes from the vessel lumen to the interstitial tissue is called extravasation. This process can be divided into the following steps (Figure 1.2., (20)): 1. *Activation of vascular endothelial cells*. Under physiological conditions, circulating platelets and leukocytes do not adhere to quiescent vascular endothelium, which has a low expression of adhesion molecules, or adhesion molecules existing in a non-adherent state. However, during inflammation, endothelial cells become activated by cytokines (i.e. TNF, IL-1, and chemokines) and other mediators (histamine, thrombin, and PAF; platelet-activating factor). These mediators stimulate the redistribution of P-selectin from Weibel-Palade bodies (intracellular storage in endothelial cell granules) to the cell surface. Also, within 1-2 hours, endothelial cells begin to express adhesion molecules such as E-selectin and

ligands for L-selectin that promote the binding and transmigration of circulating leukocytes into the tissues, including neutrophils early in inflammation, and lymphocytes and macrophages at later stages. 2. Leukocyte margination and rolling; rows of leukocytes bind transiently to the endothelium, detach, and adhere again. Sialyl-Lewis X-modified proteins (and L-selectins) on leukocytes as well as P- and E-selectins on endothelium mediate the rolling process. 3. Activation of leukocytes. To promote stable adhesion, integrin (at its low-affinity state) on the surface of rolling leukocytes undergoes a conformational change to a high-affinity state. Integrin is activated through leucocyte binding to chemokines (i.e. IL-8) presented on the proteoglycan surface of endothelial cells. 4. Firm adhesion of leukocytes. High avidity integrins on the leukocyte (i.e. VLA-4, LFA-1, and Mac-1) can stably attach to cell adhesion molecules on endothelium (i.e. vascular cell adhesion molecule-1; VCAM-1, and intercellular adhesion molecule-1; ICAM-1). 5. Transmigration called diapedesis. Several adhesion molecules that are present in the intercellular junctions between endothelial cells (i.e. CD31/ PECAM-1; platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecules and junctional adhesion molecules) are involved in the migration of leukocytes through the endothelium. This process occurs mainly in post-capillary venules. 6. Chemotaxis of leukocytes. After passing through the endothelium, leukocytes may secrete collagenases (endothelial cells may also secrete various proteases) to degrade the basement membrane to help leukocytes enter the tissue. Leukocytes then migrate toward the chemotactic gradient and accumulate at their site of action. (20)

1.2.2. Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is an important process in both health and in disease. In health,

physiological angiogenesis is significant in embryonic development, resolving inflammation, wound healing, and the normal menstrual cycle. In disease, pathological angiogenesis plays a critical role in tumor growth and metastasis, diabetic retinopathy, rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis, Alzheimer's disease, and more (1, 5, 20).

1.2.2.1. Processes of Angiogenesis

By definition, angiogenesis is a multistep process whereby new blood vessels develop from pre-existing vasculature in response to pro-angiogenic factors and inhibitors. Angiogenesis includes a cascade of events (Figure 1.3.): 1. production and diffusion of angiogenic factors by tumor or injured tissues to nearby endothelial cells; 2. ligand-receptor binding leading to detachment of pericytes and activation of endothelial cells; 3. endothelial production of proteases (e.g. matrix metalloproteinases, MMPs) leading to degradation of the vascular basement membrane; 4. proliferation and migration of endothelial cells; 5. remodeling of extracellular matrix; 6. formation of capillaries and blood vessel loops, and 7. stabilization of newly formed vessels by specialized supporting cells (i.e. smooth muscle cells and pericytes) before initiating blood flow. (1, 20)

1.2.2.2. Modulation of Angiogenesis

A delicate balance of pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors controls the growth of blood vessels. Modulation of angiogenesis by using anti-angiogenic approaches can be a promising strategy in treating diseases such as cancer, where excessive growth of vessels exacerbates the condition. On the other hand, for disorders characterized by inadequate blood supply, such as myocardial ischemia, pro-angiogenic therapies may be an option. Endogenous pro-angiogenic factors such as growth factors (i.e. VEGF, bFGF, PDGF), angiopoietins, MMPs (MMP-9), cytokines/chemokines (IL-8),

and transcription factors (HIF), promote endothelial proliferation and formation of vessels (1, 2, 20, 88). Endogenous anti-angiogenic factors, such as angiostatin, endostatin, and thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1), negatively modulate angiogenesis and prevent excessive vessel growth (89).

Pro-angiogenic factors:

Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF)/VEGF receptors

Among all the diverse factors that participate in angiogenesis, VEGF and its receptor (VEGF-R) signaling plays a central role in adult physiological angiogenesis as well as in chronic inflammation and tumor growth (39, 90). VEGF is secreted by many mesenchymal and stromal cells, including tumor cells and activated macrophages (1). In a healthy individual, VEGF is expressed at low levels in a variety of tissues. VEGF receptors are tyrosine kinase receptors and expressed by endothelial cells, their precursors, and by many tumor cells (2).

VEGF is a family of growth factors that include VEGF-A, -B, -C, -D, and PIGF (placenta growth factor) in humans (91). Each of the subtypes has its unique function: VEGF(-A) signaling through VEGF-R2 (Flk-1/KDR) is the key angiogenic pathway; it is important in stimulating endothelial cell proliferation, migration, and production of proteolytic enzymes, has chemotactic properties to attract macrophages and granulocytes, and is also a vasodilator that promotes endothelial permeability (91). In addition, VEGF-A has 6 different splice variants (isoforms) whose expression varies with tissue environment, ambient conditions and tissue type (91). Among all the isoforms, VEGF₁₆₅ and VEGF₁₂₁ are the predominant variants (91). VEGF₁₆₅ has protein domains that interact with heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) and co-receptors (neuropilins) on the cell surface (92, 93). It has an enhanced ability to bind and activate VEGF-R2 (92). The role of

VEGF-R1 (Flt-1) signaling is less clear with respect to VEGF-A; it is thought to be a decoy receptor (91). However, both PIGF and VEGF-B also bind to VEGF-R1 which plays a significant role in embryonic angiogenesis and in angiogenesis during ischemia, inflammation, wound healing, and cancer (94). Therefore, VEGF-R1 is believed to be critical in pathological angiogenesis. In addition, VEGF-C and -D induce signaling by binding to VEGF-R3 (Flt-4) which induces lymphangiogenesis (91, 94).

Other pro-angiogenic regulators:

Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and angiopoietins (Ang) that bind to endothelial-specific Tie2 receptors have an established role in recruitment of pericytes and maturation of the microvasculature (95, 96). Stabilization and maturation of the vessel wall is a vital step in angiogenesis. Compared to the leaky immature vessel, it has been shown that endothelial cells in the vessel wall, surrounded by pericytes and extracelluar matrix are more resistant to apoptosis induced by VEGF withdrawal or anti-angiogenic factors (97).

In addition to signaling by growth factors, a class of zinc-dependent endopeptidases known as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are major modulators of angiogenesis and have a critical role in tissue remodelling (98). These lytic enzymes are expressed by proliferating endothelial cells to promote cellular migration in the early stages of angiogenesis, also by malignant tumors to increase tumor invasion and metastatic potential (99). Together, MMPs are capable of degrading all components of extracellular matrix proteins (i.e. collagen, gelatin), as well as regulating a number of bioactive molecules (i.e. cleavage of cell surface receptors, activation or inactivation of chemokines/cytokines, release of apoptotic (Fas) ligands) (98, 99). Since MMPs are important in numerous physiological and pathological processes, their bioactivity is also very tightly regulated. They are synthesized in the inactive form as a zymogen, and they are also regulated by a family of endogenous protease inhibitors called tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) (98). These factors form part of a complex interacting network of regulators in angiogenesis.

Negative regulators of angiogenesis:

A number of endogenous factors are known inhibitors of angiogenesis (reviewed in (89)). Angiostatin, an internal fragment of plasminogen, is produced by proteolytic cleavage of this circulating plasma protein (100); fragments of type XVIII collagen, endostatin and tumstatin, are also known to have anti-angiogenic capacities (101, 102). Unlike mitogenic factors such as VEGF, that act on endothelial cells through specific receptors and pathways to induce cell proliferation and angiogenesis, anti-angiogenic factors, such as angiostatin and endostatin, seem to have an impact through diverse mechanisms, and not necessarily through specific cell surface receptors. For instance, angiostatin can reduce endothelial cell proliferation; it can induce apoptosis through intrinsic and extrinsic pathways (103, 104) as well as anoikis (105) and also inhibit cell migration through $\alpha_{\rm V}\beta_3$ integrin and angiomotin binding (106). Moreover, endostatin has been shown to modulate VEGF-R2, MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinases), PI3K/PKB signaling pathways and to regulate the activity of MMPs (107-109) leading to decreased cell proliferation, survival, and migration. In fact, many exogenous compounds, such as chemotherapeutic drugs and phytochemicals, which inhibit angiogenesis also exert their angiostatic actions through multiple pathways similar to endogenous inhibitory molecules.

Key molecular signaling pathways

A number of signaling pathways play an important role in coordinating the multiple

steps involved in angiogenesis. Among all of these, PI3K/Akt and MAPK signaling are major pathways that transduce survival and proliferation signals in endothelial cells. PI3K/Akt signaling

Akt/protein kinase B (PKB) is a protein-serine/threonine kinase that phosphorylates a wide range of target proteins upon activation, including cell survival proteins, transcription factors, and metabolic proteins (110). The starting point of this signaling pathway is PIP2 (phosphatidylinositol biphosphate) where the enzyme PI3K (phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase) phosphorylates at the third position of inositol to form the second messenger PIP3 (phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate) (110). PIP3 then interacts with Akt/PKB via pleckstrin homology (PH) domain of Akt at the plasma membrane (110). One downstream action of Akt is activation of NF-κB which regulates the expression of VEGF, IL-8, and MMP-9, which can alter angiogenesis (111). It also promotes endothelial cell proliferation by affecting proteins that regulate the cell cycle and apoptosis, including mTOR and cyclin D and it inhibits pro-apoptotic proteins such as Bad (111, 112).

p38 MAPK, ERK1/2, and JNK/SAPK pathways

The mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) superfamily is a group of highly conserved serine/threonine-specific protein kinases that respond to extracellular stimuli (i.e. mitogens and proinflammatory cytokines) (113). The MAPK signaling pathway modulates various cellular activities such as mitosis, proliferation and cell survival/apoptosis (113). The extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK1, ERK2) are the most characterized family members which regulate cell proliferation and differentiation in response to growth factors (113). Other MAPK signaling pathways, such as those triggered by p38 and JNK/SAPK (c-Jun N-terminal kinases/stress activated protein
kinases) modulate cell differentiation and apoptosis in response to stress stimuli (113). While ERK1/2 and JNK/SAPK signaling are important in modulating endothelial proliferation, p38 signaling plays a crucial role in cell migration (114, 115). Collectively, all of these MAPKs contribute to modulation of angiogenesis.

1.2.3. Cross-talk Between Angiogenesis and Inflammation

The outcome of angiogenesis can either be beneficial or detrimental, an effect that is highly dependent on context. In the case of stroke recovery, increasing blood flow is beneficial, and can promote neurogenesis (116). On the other hand, angiogenesis in chronic inflammation may promote cancer development and lead to a positive feedback cycle in which further angiogenesis supports cancer growth and metastasis. Although angiogenesis is a necessary part of inflammation (20), it must also be limited to avoid detrimental effects. This requires precise coordination of signals that both promote and inhibit angiogenesis.

Many angiogenic factors are expressed in chronic inflammatory conditions and hypoxic tissues (i.e. cancer; stroke). In theory, angiogenesis will improve blood supply and reverse tissue hypoxia; it also increases the influx of leucocytes, such as phagocytes, that promotes the clearance of necrotic tissue and induce wound repair (20). However, the recruitment of inflammatory and immune cells, such as macrophages, dendritic cells and lymphocytes, also leads to generation of more inflammatory cytokines. These can exacerbate inflammation and induce the expression of angiogenesis modulators. This in turns causes activation of endothelial cells, increasing number of endothelial cells in the tissue and an excessive influx of pathogenic leucocytes as has been suggested in chronic inflammation (i.e. rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis) (117). Activated endothelial cells around inflamed tissues also increase the amount of proinflammatory mediators released into the underlying tissues that modulate other stromal cells (i.e. fibroblasts; macrophages; pericytes; dendritic cells; inflammatory cells) (117) to produce various angiogenic mediators as well as angiostatic factors. Through molecular cross-talk involving inflammatory cytokines and angiogenic modulators, cells of the immune system and vasculature define a delicately regulated relationship between inflammatory processes and angiogenesis.

Among all the modulators produced by stromal cells that are involved in inflammation and cancer, the VEGF growth factor and receptor family plays the principal role in angiogenesis (117-119). Besides VEGF, other growth factors, various cytokines, chemokines, proteases, and transcription factors (i.e. HIF- α ; NF-kB) are also known to have pivotal roles in this process (90, 118, 120, 121). Growth factors, such as bFGF, PDGF, epidermal growth factor (EGF) and transforming growth factor (TGF)-β, are also released into chronic inflammatory tissues (90, 118, 120, 121). Depending on the concentration, TGF-β can act as an angiogenic mediator or inhibitor (120, 122). In addition, numerous chemokines have been shown to modulate angiogenesis, for example: IL-8/CXCL8 is chemotactic and mitogenic for vascular endothelial cells in vitro and is a key regulator of angiogenesis in hypoxic conditions (123). A chemokine called monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) is one of the main contributors to post-ischemic neovascularization (124). Proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF and IL-6, account for a significant portion of stromal cell activation resulting in the release of chemokines and potent angiogenic mediators. However, depending on concentration and the timing of cytokine production, cytokines can exert a dual function in angiogenesis. For instance, TNF has been demonstrated to stimulate endothelial cells and upregulate MMP expression (99); TNF can also induce IL-10 synthesis in microvascular endothelium at the early phase (1-24

hours) of ischemic reperfusion injury that inhibits angiogenesis (88). However, after the first 24 hours of reperfusion injury, IL-10 production is downregulated by TGF- β so the balance shifts toward angiogenesis (88). This example gives us a hint of this intricately coordinated cascade of inflammation and angiogenesis.

1.3. Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) Superfamily

The tumor necrosis factor family of cytokines has effects on diverse functions including inflammation, cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis. There are more than 20 ligands in the TNF family and close to 30 TNF family receptors identified (7). TNF- α is the most well known and prototypic member of this family while another member called TNF- β is known as lymphotoxin (LT). The nomenclature was changed several years ago: TNF- α is referred to as TNF and TNF- β is referred to as LT.

TNF family ligands can act as secreted cytokines or membrane bound molecules by binding to specific receptors (7). All members of the TNF receptor family have cysteine rich extracellular sub-domains which mediate ligand-receptor binding; this leads to trimerization of the ligand-receptor complex, recruitment of several adapter proteins and activation of multiple signal transduction pathways (i.e. apoptosis, JNK, p38, ERK, PI3K and NF-kB) (125). There are three different types of receptor. Death receptors have a DD (death domain) in the cytoplasmic tail that signals death signaling upon activation through the extrinsic (caspase dependent) apoptotic pathway described earlier (7). Another subtype of receptor lacks a cytoplasmic death domain; these activate inflammatory cascades through the NF-kB pathway (described below) but their role in mediating apoptosis is not as well known. The third subtype of receptor is known as a decoy receptor that lacks functional intracellular motifs so that receptor binding does not induce downstream signaling (7). By binding ligand, it also impairs the effect of binding to functional receptors. To add another layer of complexity, the extracellular portion of membrane bound receptors can also be cleaved and secreted into the circulation in soluble forms that also function as a decoy receptor to neutralize the action of ligands (7). Cleavage of cytokines and receptors can be carried out by MMPs or by modulatory enzymes such as TACE (TNF-alpha converting enzymes; ADAM-17) (126).

NF-kB Signaling Pathway

As mentioned, stimulation of TNF family receptors may lead to inflammatory responses through activation of NF-κB signaling. NF-κB is a family of transcription factors (i.e. RelA/p65, RelB, c-Rel, p50 and p52) that control many genes involved in inflammation (127). Dysregulation of NF-κB has been linked to inflammatory and autoimmune disease, as well as cancer (128). In quiescent cells, NF-κB exists as dimers that are sequestered in an inactive state in the cytoplasm by a family of inhibitors, called inhibitor of κB (i.e. IκBα, IκBβ, IκBε) (127). Upon stimulation, a kinase called IKK (IκB kinase) phosphorylates the inhibitory IκBα proteins (127). Following phosphorylation, IκBα proteins are ubiquitinated which targets them for degradation by the proteasome (127). With the degradation of IκBα proteins, the NF-κB dimers are then freed to enter the nucleus where they bind to specific DNA binding sites to modulate the expression of certain genes (127). The activation of these target genes results in cell survival, proliferation, inflammatory, and/or immune responses (128, 129).

1.3.1. TNF

TNF, the prototype of the family, was first discovered as a soluble factor in blood that can cause necrosis of tumors. Since then, it has been identified as a critical regulator of inflammatory responses. TNF is mainly produced by activated macrophages and T lymphocytes but a wide range of cells can produce TNF, including endothelial cells, neutrophils, smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts (130). Two membrane-bound receptors TNF-R1 and -R2 are differentially expressed on cells and tissues. TNF-R1 is better characterized and known to mediate cellular responses related to tissue injury, while TNF-R2 has been linked to signals that promote tissue repair and angiogenesis. TNF mediated responses are highly regulated by the recruitment of various adapter proteins and inhibitors. Despite the differential expression of TNF receptors in diverse cell types, the proinflammatory actions of TNF are mainly carried out on vascular endothelium and through endothelial-leukocyte interactions (130). Endothelial cells activated by TNF express different combinations of adhesion molecules on the cell surface to attract leukocytes, increase permeability and trans-endothelial passage of fluid and also, express pro-coagulant proteins (21). These inflammatory responses are largely regulated by activation of NF-κB (127).

In a healthy individual, TNF is not usually detectable in serum. However, TNF is a necessary component of effective immune surveillance and is required for immune cells to proliferate and respond. The level of TNF is elevated in several pathological conditions, such as autoimmune diseases (i.e. rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis), infections and cancer (10-12). Extensive research has shown that TNF plays a central role in cancer associated inflammation and angiogenesis (131). TNF and its receptors are produced by many types of tumor cells, including glioblastoma and neuroblastoma, and are known to mediate proliferation by modulating the expression of growth factor receptors (132, 133). As well, TNF can induce angiogenesis by upregulation of angiogenic factors as seen in malignant glioma cells (134). With many diseases associated with TNF expression and signaling, anti-TNF therapies have been developed, including anti-TNF antibodies (i.e.

infliximab), soluble TNF receptors (i.e. etanercept), inhibitors to impede TNF expression, to suppress ligand trimerization, or to block the downstream signaling pathways (131). Many of these inhibitors have side effects and are costly, therefore it is important to find safer, less expensive alternatives.

1.3.2. TRAIL

TNF-Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand (TRAIL) is also a member of the TNF family of ligands and is normally expressed in multiple tissues, including endothelial cells and predominantly by various immune cells (135). It was once thought that TRAIL only induces cell death in tumor cells but not normal tissues. This lead to much research focused on using TRAIL as anti-tumor therapy (136, 137). Later, it was shown that TRAIL mediated apoptosis can occur in normal hepatocytes, neurons, vascular endothelial cells and transformed non-tumor cell lines (reviewed in (138)). In healthy brain, TRAIL is expressed at very low to almost undetectable levels (139). However, under pathological conditions such as multiple sclerosis, TRAIL and TRAIL receptor concentrations are elevated (140). Moreover, TRAIL receptors are widely distributed in normal brains, on neurons, astrocytes , and oligodendrocytes (140). This may contribute to TRAIL mediated parenchymal cell death in multiple sclerosis (140). In fact, intracerebral injection of a soluble TRAIL receptor in an animal model of multiple sclerosis (experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis; EAE) shows less apoptosis and myelin loss that prevents neurological disability (141).

In humans, TRAIL acts on five known receptors, four of which are membrane bound. Two are death receptors, TRAIL-R1 and TRAIL-R2 (also called death receptor DR3 and DR4), two are decoy receptors (DcR), TRAIL-R3 (DcR1) and TRAIL-R4 (DcR2), as well as one soluble receptor osteoprotegerin (OPG) (142). All four cell surface TRAIL receptors are expressed in almost all tissues but the expression level may be altered in disease (138). Ligation of TRAIL to TRAIL-R1 and R2 triggers the formation of the death inducing signaling complex (DISC) or ligand-receptor complex (LRC). Depending on the type of adapter proteins recruited to the DISC/LRC, TRAIL-R1 and R2 can induce the extrinsic apoptosis pathway, activate the mitochondria dependent intrinsic pathway, and initiate survival signals via NF- κ B (143). The survival signaling is mediated by recruitment of TRADD (TNF-R1 associate death domain protein), RIP (receptor interacting protein) and TRAF2 (TNF-receptor associated factor 2) to the DISC/LRC (143). Moreover, decoy receptor TRAIL-R3 lacks an intracellular domain while TRAIL-R4 has a truncated but non-functional death domain (143). OPG has a role in the regulation of osteoclast activity; however, along with TRAIL-R3 and R4, these decoy receptors compete for the binding of TRAIL (143). While TRAIL-R4 is incapable of transducing apoptosis signals, overexpression of TRAIL-R4 demonstrates its ability to activate NF-KB (144). TRAIL does not induce apoptosis in human umbilical vein endothelial cell (HUVEC) under normal culture conditions, with the exception of one study (145). However, the complicated TRAIL/TRAIL-R network means that the cellular effects of TRAIL are diverse and cell-type, context dependent. The effect of TRAIL on endothelial cell activation and angiogenesis is less well understood, and so forms the basis for this study.

1.3.3. FasL

Fas ligand is another death ligand in the TNF superfamily; similar to other members of the family, FasL is synthesized as a transmembrane protein or a secreted form. It also plays a critical role in regulating the immune system (146). Unlike TRAIL, which is expressed in many tissues and cell types, FasL expression is limited to leukocytes including neutrophils, macrophages and T cells, as well as cells in sites of 'immune privilege' such as brain, eye, and testis where immune responses are suppressed (64, 147). In healthy brains, FasL is constitutively expressed in microglia, astrocytes, and neurons at low levels (148, 149). The level of FasL increases in many pathological conditions in the CNS, including infections and autoimmune diseases.

Two cognate receptors of FasL has been identified; one is membrane bound called Fas receptor (Fas) and the other is a decoy receptor, DcR3 (150). Similar to the other TNF family members, the FasL/Fas system can induce apoptosis and NF-KB signaling upon ligand-receptor ligation while binding of FasL to DcR3 neutralizes Fas mediated actions (150, 151). Though FasL expression is limited to cells of the immune system, Fas is ubiquitiously expressed by multiple cell types throughout the body (146). The basal expression of Fas in normal brain, however, remains low, and when Fas is upregulated in the CNS as a result of disease it can result in direct or indirect damage to neurons and microglia. Astrocytes resist Fas-mediated apoptosis and engagement of FasL to Fas on astrocytes promotes proliferation (152) and inflammatory responses such as increasing chemokine MCP-1 production (153). In the periphery, the FasL-Fas reaction induces cell-mediated cytotoxicity as part of the peripheral immune response (146). It was shown that HUVEC resist FasL mediated apoptosis (154, 155), however, FasL induces apoptosis in endothelial cells from coronary artery (156) and liver (157).

The role of Fas/FasL in immune system regulation and inflammatory responses is well characterized. However, the role of Fas/FasL in angiogenesis has been studied to a lesser extent and mostly in peripheral models. In an *in vitro* experiment using peripheral endothelial cells (HUVEC, human aortic endothelial cell/HAEC, and HMVEC/dermal microvascular endothelial cells), it was shown that TNF downregulates FasL expression by the endothelial cells, thus reducing their cytotoxicity (158). Also, FasL expression on endothelial cells induces monocyte apoptosis and decreases the extent of TNF induced monocyte infiltration. This in turn may reduce the angiogenic growth factors that can be brought into the tissue by leukocytes. Therefore, it was speculated that endothelial FasL may act as a negative modulator of angiogenesis (159). This was supported by an *in vivo* experiment. Biancone *et al.* showed that administration of anti-Fas antibody to murine Matrigel[™] implants resulted in increased neovascularization and infiltration of inflammatory cells (160). However the role of FasL on endothelial cells and its angiostatic modulatory role in physiological conditions is still not completely understood.

1.4. Resveratrol

There is of considerable interest for the therapeutic potential of dietary supplements because of their low toxicity and minor to no side effects. Growing evidence supports the potential for clinical application of various plant derived polyphenolic compounds (161-167). Due to their antioxidant properties, polyphenols have been linked to an extensive list of health benefits, such as prevention and amelioration of cancer (162), cardiovascular diseases (164, 168, 169), inflammatory diseases (161, 170), and slowing of the aging process (171). In addition to these antioxidant effects, polyphenols act on multiple signaling pathways and therefore have diverse cellular effects. One of the most widely studied polyphenols is resveratrol (trans-3,5,4'-trihydroxystilbene) that has been identified in a variety of plants, including Japanese knotweed, peanuts, berries and pine. Since it is abundant in the skin of grapes, it also is a constituent of red wine (19).

1.4.1. Background and Sources of Resveratrol

Resveratrol was first isolated in the 1940s from the roots of white hellebore (Veratrum grandiflorum), but the history of using grape extracts for human health can be traced back over hundreds of years (172). Resveratrol is produced naturally by many plants in response to stress, injury and microbial infections, and it is a phytoalexin compound (19). Fresh grapes contain about 50-100mg/g of resveratrol (173), and the concentration in wine ranges from 0.2-7.7mg/L (172). Trans-resveratrol is commercially available and sterically more stable than *cis*-resveratrol (174). When consumed by humans, resveratrol is absorbed mainly in the duodenum and is subsequently metabolized to glucuronated and sulfated forms (175). Clinical and in vivo reports demonstrate that free trans-resveratrol is short-lived (< 30mins) and present in low (nanomolar) concentrations in plasma (176). Metabolites of resveratrol remain in plasma much longer (72h) than the unconverted form (177). Studies in mice indicate that resveratrol is absorbed by the duodenum and can be detected in brain 3 hours after administration and in liver, kidney, and duodenum from 1.5 hours up to 6 hours post-administration (178). In addition, resveratrol is a lipophilic compound which can cross plasma membrane freely (179). It has been demonstrated that resveratrol is able to pass through the BBB and exert protective effects against cerebral ischemic injury in an animal model (180).

1.4.2. Cellular Effects of Resveratrol

Several studies report that the effects of resveratrol are tissue, and/or species specific as well as dose dependent (172, 181-184). It seems that many phytochemicals target various signaling pathways and have a diverse effect on cells. Resveratrol is no exception; it interacts with diverse cell surface and intracellular receptors, modulates

signaling molecules, DNA repair mechanisms, oxidative systems, and transcription factors. As a result, resveratrol affects numerous cellular processes, including cell proliferation, cell cycle arrest, and cell death, reviewed in (19, 172, 173).

Resveratrol, like most phytochemicals, lacks a specific cell surface receptor. Nonetheless, due to its structural similarity to estrogens, resveratrol binds to estrogen receptors and acts as an estrogen receptor modulator (172, 185). The effect of the estrogenic signaling induced by resveratrol is dose dependent. At lower doses (<10 μ M), resveratrol activates phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) through estrogen receptor- α leading to the promotion of cell growth in breast adenocarcinoma cells (MCF-7)(186); however exposure to greater than 50 μ M has an opposite effect that downregulates Bcl-2 and NF- κ B and triggers cell death signaling pathways (186-188).

In addition, the dose dependent effects of resveratrol have also been seen in other growth factor receptor induced MAPK signaling pathways (189). For instance, resveratrol appears to modulate EGF signaling in highly metastatic breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231) (190); at 5 μ M, the effect of resveratrol is to enhance cell migration and invasion while higher concentrations (\geq 50 μ M) inhibit these processes.

Resveratrol is also reported to modulate cell cycle progression in many types of cells, tumor cells (191), endothelial cells (184, 192), and fibroblasts (193). Cell cycle progression is tightly regulated by regulatory proteins at several control points and checkpoints (20). Dysregulation of cell cycle progression leads to uncontrolled cell growth and cancer will ensue. A quiescent cell in G₀ phase is non-dividing and may progress through four phases of the cycle upon stimulation: G₁, S, G₂, (interphase) and M (mitosis phase) (20). Cells in the G₁ phase have increasing cellular activity and are preparing for DNA synthesis. The G₁/S transition is a critical cell cycle checkpoint where

the integrity of the cell is assessed and the decision to repair or eliminate damaged cells is made. This is based on factors such as DNA integrity. Cells that have progressed through this transition point enter the S phase in which DNA synthesis and chromosomal replication occurs. Once the S phase is complete, cells enter the G₂ phase and will continue to synthesize proteins in this last stage of interphase before entering mitosis (M). The G_2/M checkpoint ensures no damaged DNA and the genome is completely replicated once the cell is ready to enter the M phase where cell growth stops and cell division occurs (20). Resveratrol mediates cell cycle regulation by several mechanisms such as induction of cell-cycle inhibitor protein expression (i.e. p21), downregulation or inhibition of activator proteins (i.e. cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases) (193, 194). Together, these cause cell arrest at the G1/S-, S-, or G2/M- phase and confer the anti-proliferation activity of resveratrol. It was reported that resveratrol inhibits proliferation and regulates cell cycle control in human aortic and pulmonary artery endothelial cell cultures (184). Most studies have found anti-proliferative actions of resveratrol in various cell types (195-202); however this inhibition is cell type and dose specific, as resveratrol (50 μ M) has been reported to promote proliferation of human peripheral blood endothelial progenitor cells and angiogenesis in vitro by Wang et al.(203).

Other than modulation of cell cycle progression, resveratrol can induce cell death by various mechanisms. First, induction of cell growth arrest by resveratrol may lead to apoptosis through modulation of apoptotic and survival pathway genes. In various human malignant cells, resveratrol has been shown to mediate cell death by inducing pro-apoptotic protein expression and suppression of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins (194, 204). Second, resveratrol possibly induces the death receptor dependent extrinsic apoptotic pathway through redistribution of death receptors (i.e. FasL) in lipid rafts that sensitize cells to death receptor agonists (205). Another mechanism by which resveratrol can mediate cell death is sensitization of cells to other inducers of apoptosis. For example, it has been shown that resveratrol sensitizes cancer cells, but not normal human fibroblasts, to TRAIL-induced apoptosis (193, 205).

In addition to modulation of cell proliferation, cell cycle control, and apoptosis, resveratrol induces many other effects on human endothelium. In human umbilical cord endothelial cells (HUVEC), resveratrol (0.1µM) significantly increased the expression of endothelial nitric oxide (NO) synthase (eNOS) and synthesis of NO (a vasodilator); it also decreased the expression of the vasoconstrictor endothelin-1 (ET-1) (183). This may contribute to the beneficial effects of resveratrol (red wine) at lowering blood pressure and reducing the risk of cardiovascular diseases, also termed 'the French Paradox' (206). The anti-inflammatory actions of resveratrol (40µM) significantly inhibits IL-1β induced inflammatory responses (182). Rius *et al.* showed that *trans*- (but not *cis*-) resveratrol mediates anti-inflammatory effects *in vivo* through modulation of NF-κB signaling and reduction of adhesion molecule expression on both endothelial cells and monocytes (207).

1.4.3. Health Benefits of Resveratrol

Evidence supporting anti-cancer properties of resveratrol has been generated from both *in vitro* cell culture studies and *in vivo* animal model experiments. Overall, studies strongly support the use of this molecule in the treatment of cancer. Resveratrol modulates signal pathways that control cell division, growth, apoptosis, inflammation, angiogenesis, and metastasis (173). In animal studies (mostly mice and rat), it has been shown that resveratrol is effective in suppressing tumor initiation, promotion, and progression in cancers from skin, breast, prostate, lung, gastrointestinal tract, as well as brain, review in (173, 208).

Cardiovascular protective effects of resveratrol have been demonstrated *in vivo*; this plant molecule increases expression of both eNOS and iNOS (inducible nitric oxide synthase) that may effectively promote vasorelaxation (209). Studies also demonstrate that resveratrol protects rat hearts against ischemia-reperfusion injury when animals are treated with resveratrol (210-213). However, most of the cardioprotective effects mediated by resveratrol are achieved through pre-conditioning (209, 213-215). This suggests a potential usage of resveratrol in preventive health management.

In the brain, resveratrol differentially modulates the inflammatory responses of microglia and astrocytes (216). It has been shown that resveratrol prevents CNS neuron death and degeneration both in vitro and in vivo. A number of neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's disease (217, 218), Parkinson's disease (219), as well as stroke (220-222), could benefit from including resveratrol in the therapeutic management. However, there is a continuing debate surrounding the mechanisms of neuroprotection (223, 224). Possible factors include antioxidant effects or the longevity factor Sir2/Sirt1 (225-227). Despite the uncertainty of mechanisms of resveratrol action in the CNS, Tseng *et al* demonstrated that resveratrol inhibits glioma-induced neovascularization in rats (228). Moreover, resveratrol has been shown to protect against brain damage following cerebral ischemia (180, 229, 230). In an *in vivo* stroke model, rats given resveratrol for 21 days prior to cerebral ischemia showed less motor impairment and decreased infarct volume comparing to untreated animals (220). Evidence that resveratrol could be a potential therapy in neurological disorders, makes it

interesting to understand the effects of resveratrol in the CNS and on cerebral endothelial cells.

1.5. Rationale and Objectives:

Rationale

Angiogenesis is the balance between vessel formation and regression (1, 5, 20). Many studies emphasize on the process linked to vessel formation. However, vessel regression and the factors that regulate this process are not as well studied. We hypothesized that vessel regression during angiogenesis is modulated by the immune system. Specifically, that vessel regression is linked to increased interactions between vascular endothelial cells and immune effector cells. In addition, that immune effector cells might regulate vessel regression through apoptosis by death ligands. This underlies the objectives A and B of the study. Finally, vessel regression might also be induced by exogenous factors, such as the phytochemical resveratrol which underlies objective C of this study.

Objectives

- A. To assess the effects of two death ligands from the TNF superfamily, TRAIL and FasL, on vascular endothelial cell activation, neutrophil adhesion, and apoptosis (Chapter 3, Manuscript 1).
- B. To set up an *in vitro* cerebral angiogenesis model using a newly developed human cerebral microvascular endothelial cell line, hCMEC/D3. Then, using this model, to evaluate the role of the inflammatory cytokines (endogenous molecules) TRAIL and FasL, on processes of angiogenesis. (Chapter 4, Manuscript 2).
- C. To investigate the effects of an exogenous molecule, resveratrol, on the *in vitro* model of cerebral angiogenesis. (Chapter 5, Manuscript 3).

Figure 1.1. Extrinsic and Intrinsic Apoptosis Pathways

The extrinsic (death-receptor) pathway (A) is activated upon death ligand-receptor trimerization and ligation, while the intrinsic (mitochondrial) pathway (B) can be triggered by DNA damage and a variety of stress inducing stimuli. Both pathways can trigger initiator caspase (i.e. caspase 8) activation, which subsequently activate downstream executioner caspases (i.e. caspase-3, 9), leading to apoptosis. Cross talk between extrinsic and intrinsic pathways is linked by Bid.



(adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Hengartner *et al.* (231), see Appendix I-1 for the copyright permission)

Figure 1.1.

Figure 1.2. Cascade of Events During Leukocyte Recruitment

See text for detail.



Kumar et al: Robbins & Cotran Pathologic Basis of Disease, 8th Edition. Copyright © 2009 by Saunders, an imprint of Elsevier, Inc. All rights reserved.

(adapted from Kumar et al. (20))



Figure 1.3. Multistep Processes of Angiogenesis

See text for detail.



Figure 1.3.

CHAPTER 2- METHODS AND MATERIALS

2.1 Cell Cultures

2.1.1. HUVEC (Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells)

Primary cultures of HUVEC used in Chapter 3 were a kind gift from the laboratory of Dr. Andrew Issekutz (Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada) and were used in experiments at passage 3-4. Unless otherwise specified, cells used in Chapter 3 were cultured on plastic flasks and multiwell plates coated with 0.1% gelatin, in M199 (Sigma-Aldrich Canada, Oakville, ON) supplemented with 20% (v/v) fetal bovine serum (FBS; heated inactivated at 56°C for 30 minutes, Hyclone laboratories, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Ottawa, ON), 2mM Glutamax (GIBCO-Invitrogen Life Technologies, Burlington, ON), 1x penicillin/streptomycin (Sigma-Aldrich), 100µg/ml heparin (Sigma-Aldrich) and 100µg/ml endothelial cell growth supplement (ECGS; from bovine neural tissue, Sigma-Aldrich). HUVEC results presented in Chapters 4 & 5 were generated using primary cultures (from a single donor) purchased from the Clonetics[®] Endothelial Cell Systems (Lonza Walkersville, Inc., Walkersville, MD) and used at passage 3-5. Clonetics[®] HUVEC are characterized by morphological observation throughout serial passage. These cells were cultured on plastic flasks or multi-well plates coated with Type I collagen from rat tails (BD Biosciences, Mississauga, ON) in endothelial basal medium (EBM)-2 supplemented with EGM-2 SingleQuotes (hydrocortisone, hEGF, FBS, VEGF, hFGF-B, Ra3-IGF-1, ascorbic acid, heparin and gentamicin/amphotericin-B; Lonza Walkersville Inc.). The medium was replaced every other day.

2.1.2. EA.hy926

The human umbilical vein immortalized cell line, EA.hy926, established by Dr. Cora-Jean S. Edgell (232) was derived from a fusion of HUVEC with the human lung carcinoma cell line A549. The cell line was provided by Dr. Andrew Issekutz's laboratory (Dalhousie University) with the agreement of Dr. Edgell. Cells were used at passage 4 after subcultivation, and grown on uncoated plastic in DMEM (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium; Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% FBS (Hyclone laboratories, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.), 1x penicillin/streptomycin (Sigma-Aldrich) and 1x HT (hypoxanthine and thymidine) supplement (Life Technologies). The medium was replaced every other day.

2.1.3. HMVEC (Human Microvascular Vein Endothelial Cells)

Primary cultures of HMVEC from a single donor were purchased from Clonetics[®] (Lonza) and maintained on Type I collagen coated culture flasks in the EGM-2MV medium (Lonza) as recommended by the manufacturer; and used at passage 3 & 4. The EGM-2MV medium consisted of the EBM-2 basal medium supplemented with EGM-2MV SingleQuotes (hydrocortisone, hEGF, 5% FBS (v/v), VEGF, hFGF-B, R3-IGF-1, ascorbic acid and gentamicin/amphotercin-B). The Conetics[®] endothelial cells test positive for von Willebrand Factor VIII, and acetylated LDL uptake and test negative for alpha smooth muscle actin according to the Certificate of Analysis provided by Clonetics[®]/Lonza. The medium was replaced every 2-3 days.

2.1.4. hCMEC/D3 (Human Cerebral Microvascular Endothelial Cells/D3)

The immortalized human adult brain endothelial cell line hCMEC/D3 was generated as described (233) and kindly provided by Dr. Weksler (Weill Medical College of Cornell University, NY). This cell line was derived from a primary cell culture through coexpression of hTERT and the SV40 large T antigen and retains most of the morphological and functional characteristics of brain endothelial cells. The hCMEC/D3 cells were recovered from liquid nitrogen at the 4th passage after subcultivation and plated onto Type I collagen coated plastic tissue culture flasks in EGM-2MV medium. The medium was replaced every 2-3 days.

2.1.5. BBMEC (Bovine Brain Microvascular Endothelial Cells)

The bovine brain microvascular endothelial cell system was purchased from Clonetics[®] (bMVEC-B; Lonza) and cultured on Type I collagen coated tissue cultureware in an optimized medium system (EMVB medium) recommended by the manufacturer. EMVB medium contains EBM-2 basal medium supplemented with ascorbic acid, b-ECGF, horse serum (platelet poor), heparin, and penicillin/streptomycin/fungizone. Cells were used in experiments at passage 2-4.

All cell cultures were maintained at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere. Cells were subcultured by trypsiniziation using 0.5x trypsin-EDTA (Sigma) for primary cell cultures (HUVEC, HMVEC, and BBMEC) and 1x trypsin-EDTA for immortalized cell lines (EA.hy926 and hCMEC/D3). Unless otherwise specified, seeding density was between 15,000 cells to 20,000 cells/cm² for all cell types when subculturing.

2.2. Reagents and Antibodies

Reagents were obtained from the following sources: Tumor necrosis factor (TNFα, human recombinant, expressed in yeast), bFGF (human recombinant fibroblast growth factor-basic expressed in *E. coli*), EGF (human recombinant epidermal growth factor expressed in *E. coli*) are purchased from Sigma-Aldrich; recombinant human VEGF 165 from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN); FasL and enhancer (1ug/ml) from Alexis Biochemicals (San Diego, CA); non-tagged soluble recombinant human TRAIL (amino acids 114-281) was from Peprotech Inc (Rocky Hill, NJ). All of the above reagents were purchased as lyophilized-powder (with the exception of TNF, which was pre-diluted),

diluted in either sterile PBS or ddH₂O as recommended by manufacturer, and stored at -80° C. Resveratrol, (3,4',5-Trihydroxy-trans-stilbene (C₁₄H₁₂O₃), >99% (GC)), was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and a 100mM stock solution was prepared and aliquot in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), and stored in the dark at -80° C.

Caspase inhibitors, Z-VAD-FMK (pan), Z-IETD-FMK (caspase-8), and Z-DEVD-FMK (caspase-3) were obtained from R&D Systems and a 20mM stock solution was prepared in DMSO and aliquots were stored at -20°C. PI3K inhibitor, LY294002 (IC_{50} =10µM), was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, prepared in DMSO, and stored at -20°C.

Blocking monoclonal antibodies to TRAIL-R1 (clone HS101) and TRAIL-R2 (clone HS201, both IgG1, mouse anti-human) were obtained from Alexis. A blocking monoclonal mouse anti-human CD18 antibody (IgG2a, cloneIB4) was obtained from Ancell Corp. (Bayport, MN). Isotype control antibodies (IgG subtype specific) were obtained from Cedarlane Laboratories Limited (Burlington, ON).

Flow-cytometric antibodies (all IgG1 phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated monoclonal mouse anti-human) against TRAIL-R1 (clone DJR1), R2 (clone DJR2-4), R3 (clone DJR3), R4 (clone DJR4-1), TRAIL (clone RIK-2), and FasL (clone NOK-1) were obtained from eBioscience (San Diego, CA), Fas receptor (clone DX2), E-selectin (clone 68-5H11), P-selectin (clone AK-4), ICAM-1 (clone HA-58), and VCAM-1 (clone 51-10C9) were obtained from BD Biosciences. IgG1 isotype control antibodies (clone MOPC-21) were obtained from eBioscience and BD Bioscience. All antibodies were purchased as pre-diluted solutions and stored in the dark at 4°C.

Antibodies for Western blotting were all purchased from Cellular Signaling Technology Inc. (Danver, MA): β -actin rabbit mAb (HRP conjugate; clone 13E5), phospho-Akt (Ser473) XPTM rabbit mAb (clone D9E), Akt (pan) rabbit mAb (clone C67E7),

p42/p44 MAP kinase (ERK1/2) rabbit mAb (clone 137F5), phospho-p44/p42 MAPK (Thr202/Tyr204) rabbit mAb (clone D13.14.4E), NF-κB p65 rabbit mAb (clone C22B4), phospho-NF-κB p65 (Ser536) rabbit mAb (clone 93H1), HRP-linked goat anti-rabbit IgG (H&L) antibody.

2.3. Neutrophil Isolation and Neutrophil Adhesion Assay

2.3.1. Neutrophil Isolation and Labeling

Neutrophils were isolated from venous blood of healthy human donors using Lympholyte[®]-poly (Cedarlane) following the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, venous blood was collected into K2-EDTA coated BD Vaccutainer® tubes. Anticoagulated whole blood (5.0ml) was carefully layered on top of an equal volume of Lympholyte-poly[®] in a 15ml centrifuge tube. It was centrifuged at 500 x g for 40 minutes in a swing-out rotor at room temperature (RT). After centrifugation, the neutrophil band was carefully harvested using a glass Pasteur pipette, then diluted with 3 volumes of PBS. The extracted cells were then washed by centrifugation at RT, 400 x g for 10 minutes. If red blood cells were present in the neutrophil sample, they were lysed by gently resuspending the cell pellet in 0.2% of sterile NaCl (hypoosmotic) solution (500 μ L/ 5ml of whole blood) for 30 seconds. An equal volume of 0.16% NaCl (hyperosmotic) solution was then added for an additional 30 seconds to restore normal osmolarity, followed by a washing step with PBS (2ml/ 5ml of whole blood). Red blood cell lysis steps were repeated until the pellet consisted almost exclusively of neutrophils (generally, 1-3 times). Then, the cell pellet was suspended in a serum free medium. Viability and purity of neutrophils were assessed and routinely exceeded 95% as judged by Trypan Blue and 2% crystal violet/acetic acid staining. On average, we were able to extract 1.5-2 x 10⁶

neutrophils from each ml of whole blood, however, it was varied from 0.8-4.0 x 10⁶ neutrophils/ml, depending on the donor. Freshly isolated neutrophils were labelled with the cell permeant fluorescent label Calcein-AM (Life Technologies; 10uM diluted in serum free medium M199, 60 minutes, 37°C). Then, Calcein-AM labelled neutrophils were washed three times with 10%FBS-M199 buffer and used within 3 hours of isolation.

2.3.2. Neutrophil Adhesion Assay

Labelled neutrophils were applied to confluent wells of EA.hy926 or HUVEC in 96-well plates. Some were pre-treated with ligands (TNF, FasL, and TRAIL) as detailed in the Results. The stimulus were removed by washing (10%FBS in M199 medium) prior to the assay ensuring the applied neutrophils were not exposed to the ligands. Labelled neutrophils were applied (5x10⁵/well) and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C, and each well washed gently four times to remove non-adherent neutrophils. Fluorescence was measured with a plate reader (Fluorskan FL, Thermo Electron) using a fluorescein filter set (EM: 485nm; EX: 538nm). A separate calibration was carried out during each assay, which obtained a linear relationship between neutrophil numbers and fluorescence, used to convert fluorescence to neutrophil counts. Data were normalized to the neutrophils in untreated control wells, and expressed as a percentage.

2.4. Cell Number Assessment/Cytotoxicity Assay

2.4.1. Acid Phosphatase Assay

In Chapter 3, cell numbers were assessed by the acid phosphatase assay, according to a previously established method (234). HUVEC or EA.hy926 were seeded in 96-well tissue culture plates, and grown to 60-70% confluence. Cells were treatmented with different concentrations of ligands TNF, FasL, TRAIL for 24 hours. Cells were washed with PBS three times and then resuspended in 100µL assay buffer (1M sodium acetate, pH5.5, 0.1% Triton X-100, and 4mg/ml phosphatase substrate, all from Sigma-Aldrich). Following incubation at 37°C in 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere for 90 minutes, 10µL of 1N NaOH was added to each well and the absorbance at 405nm was measured with a microplate reader (Bio Tek ELx 800 with KC Junior 2 software, Bio Tek Instruments, Inc., Winooski, VT). For each experiment, a calibration plate with known numbers of untreated cells (0-12,500 cells/well) were set up to ensure the linear relationship of standard curve was obtained between cell numbers and absorbance. After subtracting background absorbance, cell numbers in each well were calculated using the standard curve obtained on each day of experiment, and expressed as percentage of cell numbers in the control wells.

2.4.2. MTT Assay

In Chapter 4 and 5, endothelial cell viability, cell numbers, and growth *in vitro* were assessed with the colorimetric MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl) 2, 5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide) assay (Cell proliferation kit I, Roche Applied Science, Laval, QC). This assay relates cell viability to the metabolic reduction of the tetrazolium salt MTT into a purple reaction product. Briefly, 5x10³ cells were added to each well of a 96 well plate and allowed to attach in complete medium for 24 hours. In some experiments with hCMEC/D3, cells were serum starved in basal medium containing 2% bovine serum albumin (BSA) overnight (14-16 hours) to render the cells quiescent. All other experiments, cells were not serum starved prior to treatments with TNF family ligands or resveratrol at 37°C. At the end of treatments (24 hours), the MTT labeling reagent (final concentration at 0.5mg/ml) was added to each well for an additional 4 hours at 37°C.

Thereafter, 100µL of solubilizing solution was added and incubated overnight. The absorbance at 570nm was measured with a microplate reader (Bio Tek ELx 800). For each experiment, a calibration plate with known numbers of untreated cells (0-12,500 cells/well) was included to ensure the linear relationship of the standard curve was obtained between cell numbers and absorbance. After subtracting background absorbance, cell numbers in each well were calculated using the stand curve obtained on each day of experiment, and expressed as percentage to cell numbers of the control wells.

2.4.3. Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH)-Release Assay

Cell lysis (necrosis) and cytotoxicity in resveratrol treated cultures of hCMEC/D3, BBMEC, and HUVEC were assessed by an LDH-release assay. LDH released from the cytosol of damaged cells into the supernatant was quantified with the Cytotoxicity Detection Kit^{plus} (LDH; Roche Applied Science) as per the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 5x10³ cells were added to each well of a 96-well Type I collagen coated tissue culture plate and left to attach in complete medium for 24 hours. Cells were then placed in basal medium containing 5% FBS with different doses of resveratrol or vehicle alone for an additional 24 hours. In each experiment, a background control (wells containing no cells) was included to determine the LDH activity in the serum containing assay medium. At the end of treatment period, 5µL of lysis buffer was added to those wells set up to assess maximum LDH release and incubated for additional 15 minutes in a 37°C incubator. Then, a freshly prepared reaction mixture (catalyst and dye solutions) was added to each well and incubated for 20 minutes at the RT before applying the stop solution. Absorbance was determined by a microplate reader (Bio Tek ELx 800) at 490nm and percent LDH release was calculated. The results are plotted in reference to positive control wells (100% lysed cells). Each sample was set up in quadruplicate and each experiment was repeated at least three times on different experimental days.

2.5. Cell Proliferation/BrdU Assay

Proliferation was assessed from the measurement of bromodeoxyridine (BrdU) incorporation during DNA synthesis in replicating (cycling) cells using a colorimetric BrdU cell proliferation ELISA kit (Roche Applied Science). Briefly, cells were seeded and manipulated as described for the MTT assay. Cells were then treated with various compounds of interest for 24 hours with BrdU labeling in the final 4 hours (10uM) at 37°C. This was followed by the addition of a fixation and denaturing solution (60 minutes, RT) followed by peroxidase conjugated Fab fragments against BrdU (2 hours, RT), and removal of excess antibody with three washes (PBS). The sample was then reacted with tetramethyl-benzidine substrate (10-30 minutes, RT) to develop color. The reaction was stopped by addition of 1M H₂SO₄ (sulphuric acid; 25µL/well), and measured as absorbance at 450nm with a plate reader (Bio Tek ELx 800). For each experiment, a calibration plate with known numbers (0-12,500 cells/well) of untreated cells was included to ensure the linear relationship was obtained between cell numbers and absorbance. After subtracting background absorbance, cell numbers in each well were calculated using the standard curve obtained on each day of experiment, and expressed as percentage of cell numbers in the control wells.

2.6. Flow Cytometry Analysis

Flow cytometric analysis was used to detect expression of various cell surface proteins (FasR, FasL, TRAIL-R1, R2, R3, R4, TRAIL, VEGF-R1, R2, ICAM-1, VCAM-1,

P-selectin, and E-selectin). Cells (1x10⁶ cells/ treatment) were collected by trypsinization and, washed twice with cold immunofluorescence (IF) buffer (1%BSA, 0.2% sodium azide in PBS) and incubated for 1 hour at 4°C with an appropriate dilution of PE-conjugated antibodies or isotype control antibodies (typically 20µL for 10⁶ cells sample as recommended by manufacturer). After incubation, cells were then washed three times with IF buffer and then resuspended in 1% cold paraformaldehyde in PBS. Cells were kept at 4°C for up to 3 days until ready to analyze. Analysis was performed on a FACSCalibur (BD Biosciences) and ten thousand events were collected from each sample. Data acquisition was obtained by Cell Quest computer software and analyzed or plotted with the WinMDI version 2.9 (The Scripps Research Institute).

2.6.1. Annexin V-FITC Apoptosis Assay

To detect surface expression of phophatidylserine as a marker of apoptosis (235), we used an annexin V-FITC apoptosis detection kit (BD Biosciences), according to manufacturer's instructions. Propidium iodide (PI) was added as a vital marker. Briefly, EA.hy926 cells grown to 90% confluency were exposed to medium alone or treated with TNF, TRAIL, or FasL for 6 hours, then both supernatant (with floaters) and the attached cells were collected and washed. Thereafter, 1x10⁵ cells were resuspended in 100µL of 1x Binding Buffer (provided with the detection kit) and annexin V-FITC and PI (5uL each) were added, then incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature in the dark. Each tube was then diluted with 400uL of Binding Buffer and analyzed by flow cytometry within 1 hour.

2.6.2. PI (Propidium Iodide) Cell Cycle Analysis by Flow Cytometry

PI staining was used to determine the proportion of cells in G_0/G_1 , S, and G_2/M phases of the cell cycle based on their cellular DNA content. The hCMEC/D3 cells were

grown to 70% confluency and then treated with resveratrol or DMSO vehicle control at various doses for 6 or 24 hours at 37°C. After treatment, 1x10⁶ cells were collected, washed once with ice-cold PBS, and then resuspended in 0.5ml ice-cold PBS until a monodispersed cell suspension was achieved. Then, 4.5ml of ice-cold 70% ethanol was mixed in to the cell suspension drop by drop while gently vortexing the sample. The samples were placed at -20°C freezer for at least 24 hours. On the day of flow cytometric analysis, the ethanol in the samples was removed by centrifugation for 10 minutes at 300 xg and the cell pellets were washed twice in 5ml PBS. Then, the pellets were suspended in 0.5ml PI/RNase staining buffer solution (BD Biosciences). The samples were incubated for 15 minutes in the dark at RT and were kept on ice until analysis by flow cytometry. A control sample containing cells treated with resveratrol but no PI/RNase staining buffer solution was included to ensure the phytochemical resveratrol did not produce background fluorescent that might interfere with data analysis. The list mode data were analyzed to determine the proportion of cells in each phase of the cell cycle using ModFit LT software (Verity Software House, Topsham, ME).

2.7. NF-KB Activation Assay

EA.hy926 cells (3-5x10⁶ cells) were treated with TNF (100U/ml), FasL (10ng/ml) or TRAIL (100ng/ml) for 1, 3, 6, and 24hr. Nuclear extracts were then obtained using a nuclear extraction kit (Panomics Inc., Redwood City, CA). Protein concentration of nuclear extracts was determined by Bio-Rad Protein Bradford based assay and NF-κB activation was determined using the TransBinding NF-κB assay kit, according to manufacturer's instructions (Panomics Inc.). Briefly, the kit consists of 96-well plates coated with an oligonucleotide containing the NF-κB consensus binding site for the activated NF-κB p50 subunit. Antibody directed against bound p50 was added and detected with a secondary HRP-conjugated antibody. The HRP reaction signal was read at 450nm with a microplate reader (Bio Tek ELx 800).

2.8. Caspase 3 Activation Assay

Caspase-3 activity was detected using a flurometric immunosorbent enzyme assay kit (Caspase 3 Activity Assay, Roche Applied Science) following the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, hCMEC/D3 were grown to confluency in 6 well plates and treated with molecules of interest (TNF ligands, growth factors, and resveratrol at different doses), or vehicle control (DMSO), for 1, 3, 6, and 24 hours. 2 x 10^6 cells per treatment condition were lysed, and cell supernatants (100uL) added to wells coated with a monoclonal antibody to caspase 3. A reagent was then added that undergoes proteolytic cleavage in proportion to the amount of activated caspase 3 to generate a fluorescent product whose level was read at 505nm with a plate reader (Fluorskan FL, Thermo Electron). The release of AFC (amido-trifluoromethyl-coumarin) was monitored for 2 hours at 37° C on a fluorescence plate reader (λ excitation = 400nm, λ emission = 505nm). The fluorescent reading from the blank wells (substrate only) were averaged and subtracted from that of the sample wells.

2.9. Microscopy, Image Acquisition, and Processing

For bright field microscopy, images were captured with a digital camera (Cannon PowerShot A630) attached to an inverted Leica DM-IL microscope (Richmond Hill, ON). The images were analyzed using the NIH Image J (version 1.41) image analysis program.

2.10. Cell Migration/ Scratch Wound Healing Assay

The scratch wound healing assay was based on a previously described protocol (236). 2.5 x 10⁵ cells per well were plated in a 6 well plate and grown to ~90% confluency (2-3 days). A 200uL plastic pipette tip was drawn across the monolayer to create two linear regions denuded of cells. Wells were washed twice with PBS to remove cell debris, and molecules of interest (TNF ligands, growth factors, and resveratrol at different doses), or vehicle control (DMSO) were added. Initial images of the denuded zones (two from each line) were collected. Plates were then incubated at 37°C for 20-24 hours (hCMEC/D3) or 16-18 hours (HUVEC), just before the gap between the denuded zone is closed by the migrating cells in the positive control (growth factor treated) well. Post treatment images of the same fields were then captured and analyzed using NIH Image J program to count the number of cells that migrated into the scratched region.

2.11. Tube Formation/ in vitro Matrigel[™] Assay

Wells of a 48 well plate were coated with 100µL of Matrigel[™] (growth factor reduced; BD Biosciences). To ensure an even polymerization of Matrigel[™], the coated plate was kept at RT for 1 hour and then 37° C for 30 minutes. Molecules of interest (TNF ligands, growth factors, and resveratrol at different doses), or vehicle control (DMSO) mixed with the serum free EBM-2 medium were then added to the wells and kept at 37° C for 40 minutes in order to saturate the Matrigel[™] before adding 4 x 10^{4} cells suspended in serum free EBM-2 medium containing 2% BSA. Cells and ligands were then incubated together for varying periods as indicated in the Results. At each time point, 4 random fields from each well were photographed (x20 magnification). The total length, area, and number of tubular structures formed were determined by image analysis (NIH

Image J). To determine the total number of tubular structures and the pixel numbers of a total area covered in a digital image, a color photograph was first transformed to an 8-bit image, and then a binary image was made prior to the area analysis. To determine the the total number of tubular structures and total tubular length in an image, the binary image was skeletonized prior to the length analysis. The area and length analysis was set to exclude cell debris or those individual cells that did not migrate into the tubular structures. The average area and average length were calculated by the pixel numbers of area or length divided by the total number counted. Data are expressed as a mean value derived from independent experiments performed on at least three different days with duplicate or triplicate samples in each experiment.

2.12. Ex vivo Rat Aorta Angiogenesis Assay

An established *ex vivo* angiogenesis assay involving rat aortic rings was previously described in detail (237). This assay was performed to assess the anti-angiogenic effects of resveratrol on an *ex vivo* angiogenesis model. Briefly, the rat aortas were obtained from adult Wistar rats with the technical assistance of another student, C.J. MacMillan. The animals used in this study were kept at the Carleton Animal Care Facility, Dalhousie University, and sacrificed with sodium pentobarbital following the University guidelines for the care and use of laboratory animals. These experiments used the left over tissues from control (untreated) animals that were used in C.J. MacMillan's study. Aortas were surgically excised, the fibro-adipose tissues were removed and the excised aortas were rinsed in serum free culture medium RPMI-1640 (Sigma-Aldrich). The aorta was then flipped inside out to expose endothelial cells and cut into ~1mm long fragments. The cleaned aortic segments were then carefully placed in the bottom wells of a 12-well

plate. Subsequently, 500µL of ice cold collagen gel matrix solution (Collagen Gel Culturing Kit, Wako Chemicals USA, Richmond, VA) was added to each well and allowed to polymerize at 37° C for 30 minutes. After polymerization, resveratrol (10, 25, 50, 100µM) or DMSO vehicle control were added to the culture medium in 0.5ml of serum free medium RPMI-1640 supplemented with penicillin/streptomycin. The cultures of rat aorta were maintained at 37° C, in 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere for 7 days. Digital images were taken daily to monitor the migration of cells and new microtubular structure formation from aorta fragments. The area covered with migrated cells was measured using Image J analysis. At least 5 measurements per group were recorded.

2.13. Western Blotting Analysis

Western blot analysis was performed according to a standard procedure. Briefly, hCMEC/D3 cells were plated in 6-well tissue culture plates until reaching 70%-90% confluency. Cells were treated with resveratrol (10, 25, 50, 100 μ M) or vehicle (DMSO); (monolayers started at ~70% confluency for cells that underwent 24 hours resveratrol treatment and 90% for cultures treated with resveratrol for less than 6 hours). Protein extractions were performed using the following procedure: cells were washed twice in ice-cold PBS, and then the ice-cold lysis buffer was added and incubated at 4°C for 5 minutes on an orbital shaker with a gentle agitation. The lysis buffer was purchased from Pierce-Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. (Waltham, MA) and contained M-PER[®] Mammalian Protein Extraction Reagent with an addition of 1x HaltTM Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail (Aprotinin, Bestatin, E-64, Leupeptin, Sodium Fluoride, Sodium Orthovanadate, Sodium Pyrophosphate, β -glycerophosphate, and EDTA). Total cellular extracts were then centrifuged at 12, 000xg for 10 minutes at 4°C and the supernatants

collected, aliquoted, and stored at a -80°C freezer. Total protein concentration of cell lysate was determined for each sample by Bradford based assay using Coomassie Plus (Bradford) Assav Reagent (Pierce-Thermo Fisher). Cell Ivsates were boiled in sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) sample buffer and 20µg of total protein from each sample was resolved by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and were electro transferred onto PVDF membranes. Protein molecular weight standards from Cell Signaling Technology (CST prestained protein marker, broad range, and CST biotinylated protein ladder detection pack) were run alongside of the samples to provide accurate molecular weight estimation. The resulting blots were blocked overnight at 4°C on an orbital shaker with the blocking buffer (Tris bufferd saline-Tween-20 (TBS-T), 5% (w/v) BSA and 0.1% Tween-20 (v/v), and incubated with primary antibody (1:2500 in the blocking buffer) overnight at 4°C. After washing with TBS-T buffer, blots were probed for 1 hour at RT with the appropriate secondary antibodies (1:10,000 in the blocking buffer). Blots were further washed in TBS-T and protein bands were visualized using an enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) plus detection system (GE-Healthcare., Baie-d'Urfe, QC) and scanned using the Typhoon 9410 system from GE-Amersham Bioscience. To confirm equal protein loading, blots were stripped (30 minutes incubation at 37°C in a Restore[™] Plus Western Blot Stripping Buffer (Pierce-Thermo Fisher) and probed for β-actin. Protein expression relative to steady state actin expression was quantified by densitometric analysis using NIH Image J software.

2.14. Statistical Analysis

Differences between mean values were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance with the Tukey-Kramer or the Bonferroni multiple comparisons post test, using statistical software Graph Pad Prism 5.02. For all comparison, p values of less than 0.05 were considered as significant.

CHAPTER 3 – Apoptotic Phenotype Alters the Capacity of Tumor Necrosis Factor Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand (TRAIL) to Induce Human Vascular Endothelial Activation

Pei-Lin Chen and Alexander Easton, Journal of Vascular Research (2008); 45:111-122. (Published)
3.0. Copyright Permission and Student Contribution Statement

Copyright permission for this manuscript to be reproduced in the candidate's thesis has been granted from the publisher, S. Karger AG Basel, see Appendix I-2. All experimental studies were completed by the candidate. Data analysis and the manuscript were prepared by the candidate with editorial guidance from Dr Easton. Note: Methods and Materials as well as Reference sections of the manuscript were removed from the chapter to avoid repetition, those contents are included in Chapter 2 and the Reference section of the thesis.

3.1. Abstract

Background/Aims: The ability of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) to activate vascular endothelium is unclear. This study investigates the link between endothelial apoptosis and activation in response to TRAIL. *Methods and Results*: Endothelial cell apoptosis was modeled with the immortalized human endothelial cell line EA.hy926, and with primary human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) sensitized with the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase inhibitor LY294002 in 1% serum. EA.hy926 expressed greatest levels of TRAIL receptors R1 and R2, and HUVEC of R2 and R3, determined by flow cytometry. Recombinant human TRAIL induced apoptosis in both models as confirmed by annexin V staining. Reduction in cell numbers were prevented by caspase inhibitors. In EA.hy926, TRAIL activated NF-κB (1 h) with increased ICAM-1 expression (24 h). TRAIL also increased adhesion of human neutrophils, blocked with an antibody to neutrophil CD18 and with antibodies to TRAIL and TRAIL-R1 and R2. TRAIL increased neutrophil adhesion to sensitized HUVEC, without effect on unmodified HUVEC. TRAIL did not increase surface labeling of ICAM-1 or E-selectin in sensitized

HUVEC. *Conclusions*: TRAIL increases neutrophil adhesion when it concurrently induces apoptosis both in EA.hy926 and in sensitized HUVEC. TRAIL may therefore induce endothelial activation in concert with endothelial apoptosis.

3.2. Introduction

Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) is a member of the TNF family of ligands, with the ability to bind to cell surface death receptors, which trigger programmed cell death (apoptosis) through caspase activation. TRAIL binds to four cell surface TRAIL receptors, two death receptors, R1 and R2 (which can transduce apoptosis) and two further receptors, R3 (which does not transduce intracellular signals) and R4 (which can activate the transcription factor nuclear factor κ B; NF- κ B) (144, 238). *In vitro* studies examining TRAIL function in vascular endothelium have employed human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC), and in most of these studies TRAIL does not induce apoptosis (239-244). However, HUVEC will undergo apoptosis upon exposure to TRAIL following inhibition of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, which regulates cell survival through protein kinase B/Akt (242, 244). This process of sensitizing endothelial cells to undergo apoptosis is widely employed experimentally, and may model particular states in which endothelial apoptosis occurs, such as angiogenesis and atherosclerosis (245, 246).

Vascular endothelial activation is critical in inflammation, converting endothelial cells from a quiescent barrier to one that promotes thrombosis and leukocyte adhesion. Treatment with TNF and other cytokines activates cultured endothelium, resulting in activation of NF-κB and *de novo* synthesis and surface expression of cell surface adhesion molecules that facilitate increases in leukocyte adhesion (247). The ability of TRAIL to activate vascular endothelium is uncertain. One report found no evidence of NF-κB activation or of altered surface expression of cell adhesion molecules when HUVEC were treated with 100 ng/ml TRAIL (242). The same group found that TRAIL inhibits leukocyte adhesion by downregulating expression of chemokines induced by co-treatment with TNF (248). By contrast, another report found that TRAIL (50 ng/ml) activates NF-κB and increases surface expression of the cell adhesion molecules endothelial (E)-selectin and intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 and the chemokine IL-8, promoting adhesion of HL-60 cells (145). The main difference between these reports was the ability of TRAIL to induce apoptosis. Activation appeared to accompany apoptosis (145), but interpretation is hampered because TRAIL does not cause apoptosis in most other studies of unmodified HUVEC (239-244). The aim of this study was therefore to clarify the link between endothelial activation and apoptosis induced by TRAIL, by specifically examining this question in endothelial models of apoptosis.

We were able to model endothelial apoptosis in the immortalized human endothelial cell line, EA.hy926, generated by fusion of HUVEC with A549 lung carcinoma cells (232). We report here that these cells undergo apoptosis without further modification on exposure to recombinant human TRAIL, presumably sensitized through immortalization. This cell line has been used for over 20 years, and is well characterized, exhibiting a number of defining endothelial characteristics, including traits pertinent to endothelial cell activation such as upregulation of cell adhesion molecules when treated with TNF (249, 250), and modification of leukocyte interactions (251-253). We complimented this model by reference to the primary cells themselves, using HUVEC treated with LY294002 in reduced (1%) serum medium, since this had previously been shown by two independent groups to sensitize the cells to TRAIL (242-244). TRAIL resulted in apoptosis of EA.hy926 cells, with concurrent activation of NF-κB, increased surface expression of ICAM-1 and increased human neutrophil adhesion in a CD18-dependent manner. TRAIL did not induce apoptosis in unmodified HUVEC or cause endothelial cell activation as assessed from neutrophil adhesion. However, HUVEC treated with LY294002 in low serum conditions underwent TRAIL induced apoptosis, and also showed increased neutrophil adhesion, but this was not related to increased surface expression of the adhesion molecules E-selectin or ICAM-1.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Characterization of TRAIL and FasL Responses in EA.hy926 Cells and HUVEC

Surface expression of the ligands TRAIL and FasL and their cognate receptors TRAIL-R1, TRAIL-R2, TRAILR3, TRAIL-R4 and Fas were examined by flow cytometry. HUVEC expressed TRAIL-R2, TRAIL-R3, and Fas, with lower expression of TRAIL-R1 and no TRAIL-R4 (Figure 3.1.A). EA.hy926 cells showed TRAIL-R1, TRAIL-R2, and Fas, with lower expression of TRAIL-R4 and undetectable TRAIL-R3 (Figure 3.1.B). Surface expression of TRAIL and FasL was not detected (Figure 3.1). Having detected receptors to TRAIL and FasL, their impact on cell number was determined (Figure 3.2). Twenty-four-hour treatments with TRAIL (10, 100, 300, and 1,000 ng/ml) resulted in a dose-related reduction in the EA.hy926 cell number. The cell number was not reduced by lower doses of FasL (1, 10, and 30 ng/ml), with a reduction at the highest dose (100 ng/ml, Figure 3.2.A). By contrast, these treatments had no effect on the HUVEC number (Figure 3.2.B). The effect of TRAIL (10, 100, and 300 ng/ml) on the EA.hy926 cell number was further investigated by combining TRAIL with caspase inhibitors (24 h treatments, Figure 3.2.C). Once TRAIL has bound to its death receptor (R1/R2), apoptosis is initiated by cleavage of caspase-8 followed by downstream cleavage of caspase-3 (71, 254). The dose-related reduction in cell numbers was partially inhibited by the caspase-3 inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK, and completely blocked by the caspase 8 inhibitor Z-IETD-FMK (both 50 μ M). To confirm apoptosis in EA.hy926 cells, we double stained cells with annexin V-FITC and PI. Annexin V binds to phosphatidylserine, which is exposed on the external cell membrane surface of apoptotic cells, while PI labels permeable cells, both necrotic cells and cells in the later stages of apoptosis. Flow-cytometric data were assigned quadrant markers using separate annexin V-FITC and PI staining of untreated cells, to define treated cells with increased annexin V-FITC staining but no increase in PI staining (Figure 3.3.B). This group was taken to measure the early stages of apoptosis, since only cells at later stages of apoptosis as well as necrotic cells will label with PI (255). TRAIL (100 ng/ml) significantly increased early apoptosis above controls (treated with vehicle alone) in cells treated for 1, 3, 6, and 24 h. FasL (10 ng/ml) and TNF (100 U/ml) had minimal effects (Figure 3.3.A). Representative scatter plots of the annexin V-PI data are shown (Figure 3.3.B), comparing untreated (control) cells with cells treated with TRAIL for 6 h. Together, these data indicate that TRAIL induces apoptosis in EA.hy926 cells.

3.3.2. Regulation of TRAIL-Induced Increases in Neutrophil Adhesion to EA.hy926 Cells

The effect of TRAIL and FasL on neutrophil adhesion to EA.hy926 cells, and regulation of the TRAIL responses was then determined (Figure 3.4). FasL (100 ng/ml, 24 h) caused a small but significant increase in neutrophil adhesion, while 10 ng/ml of FasL had no effect. TRAIL (100 ng/ml) caused a significant increase in neutrophil adhesion, and 6- and 24-hour treatments with TNF (100 U/ml) induced an expected increase in neutrophil adhesion, being greater at 24 h than at 6 h. The effect of TNF was significantly greater than TRAIL at both 6 h and 24 h (Figure 3.4.A). Since TRAIL treatments had also

induced apoptosis, we assessed whether the increase in neutrophil adhesion reflected adhesion to EA.hy926 cells rather than exposed substrate. Neutrophil adhesion to cell-free wells was lower than adhesion to untreated (control) wells coated with confluent monolayers of EA.hy926 cells ($2.46 \pm 0.34\%$ of control, n = 16) or HUVEC ($8.86 \pm 1.23\%$ of control, n = 16). This indicates that neutrophil adhesion would not increase from substrate exposure due to apoptosis and cell detachment. We also observed that apoptosis caused EA.hy926 cells to detach leaving small gaps between them, such that large contiguous areas of substrate were not exposed. Neutrophils were observed to adhere to residual cells rather than the gaps.

The increase in neutrophil adhesion induced by TRAIL (100 ng/ml) was investigated by co-application of caspase inhibitors (24 h, Figure 3.4.B). The increase was partially inhibited by the caspase-3 inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK (50 μ M), and completely prevented by the pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK and caspase-8 inhibitor Z-IETD-FMK (both 50 μ M). The action of TRAIL (100 ng/ml) was also blocked by co-treatment with a blocking monoclonal antibody against TRAIL, and combined blocking antibodies against TRAIL receptors TRAIL-R1 and TRAIL-R2 (Figure 3.4.C). Neutrophil adhesion to endothelial ICAM-1 is mediated in part by binding of the β_2 -integrin subunit CD18 (256). When neutrophils were co-applied with a blocking monoclonal antibody against CD18, adhesion was significantly inhibited. CD18 blockade reduced neutrophil adhesion to untreated cells, and prevented increases in neutrophil adhesion after TRAIL treatment (100 ng/ml). TNF treatment in the presence of the antibody induced a small increase (100 U/ml, p< 0.001), which was significantly lower than the response to TNF alone. Treatments with isotype control antibodies were not significantly different from control.

3.3.3. TRAIL Treatment of EA.hy926 Cells Results in NF-KB Activation and Increased Surface Expression of ICAM-1

Many aspects of endothelial activation are regulated by NF-κB, dimeric transcription factors with a Rel homology domain (247, 257, 258). Among these dimers are the p50/p65 heterodimer and the p50/p50 homodimer. To measure NF-κB activation in EA.hy926 cells, we measured p50 from nuclear extracts, using an assay which quantifies its binding to an oligonucleotide containing the NF-κB consensus binding site. The concentration of bound p50 increased sharply 1 h after treatment with TNF (100 U/ml) or TRAIL (100 ng/ml), diminishing at 3, 6, and 24 h, while FasL (10 ng/ml) had no effect (Figure 3.5). We then determined the surface expression of adhesion molecules implicated in neutrophil adhesion. Surface expression of ICAM-1 was measured by flow cytometry (Figure 3.6). Untreated EA.hy926 cells expressed ICAM-1, and increased expression following 24-hour treatment with TNF (100 U/ml) or TRAIL (100 ng/ml). This increase was greater for TNF than for TRAIL. FasL (10 ng/ml) had no effect. In keeping with another report in EA.hy926 cells (254), E- or P-selectin were not detected in untreated or ligand-treated cells.

3.3.4. TRAIL Induces Apoptosis in HUVEC Treated with LY294002 in 1% Serum

Previous reports, including our own (242-244), have shown that TRAIL induces apoptosis in HUVEC in the presence of LY294002 and reduced (1%) serum medium. We confirmed this observation (Figure 3.7). Cell numbers reduced in the presence of 1% serum alone (71.08 \pm 1.45% of 20% serum control, n = 24, p< 0.001). All treatments were then applied in 1% serum for 6 h (244). Compared to treatment with 1% serum alone, additional reductions were noted with LY294002 (5 or 20 μ M). The reduction caused by 20 μ M LY294002 was partially inhibited by the caspase-3 inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK, but not

the caspase-8 inhibitor Z-IETD-FMK (both 50 μ M). When TRAIL (100 ng/ml) was co-applied with LY294002, further reductions in cell number occurred. The further reduction induced by TRAIL was blocked by Z-DEVD-FMK and Z-IETD-FMK (both 50 μ M). This indicated that the reduction in cell number induced both by LY294002 and its combination with TRAIL was caspase dependent, consistent with apoptosis (Figure 3.7-A). To confirm these data, we double stained cells with annexin V-FITC and PI. Quadrant markers were assigned to define the percentage of treated cells with increased annexin V-FITC staining but no increase in PI staining, as a measure of early apoptosis. Early apoptosis increased significantly above the control (1% serum) following treatment with LY294002 at both 5 and 20 μ M. The effect of 20 μ M was significantly greater than that of 5 μ M (p< 0.001). At both concentrations, the addition of TRAIL (100 ng/ml) induced a further increase in early apoptosis, significantly greater at both doses than LY294002 alone (Figure 3.7-B)

3.3.5. TRAIL Treatment, in the Presence of LY294002/1% Serum, Increases Neutrophil Adhesion to HUVEC

In standard medium, 24-hour treatments with TRAIL (100 ng/ml) and FasL (10 ng/ml), alone or in combination, did not increase neutrophil adhesion to HUVEC. TNF (100 U/ml) induced an expected increase in neutrophil adhesion, which was unchanged in combination with TRAIL (Figure 3.8.A). When cells were treated in 1% serum with TRAIL in the presence of 20 μ M LY294002 for 6 h, this increased neutrophil adhesion. Treatment with the higher dose of LY294002 alone increased neutrophil adhesion, but this was augmented by co-application of TRAIL (Figure 3.8.B). ICAM-1 expression was assessed in HUVEC following these treatments for 6 h, expressed as percent cell labeling above isotype control (see Figure 3.6). There was no significant difference in ICAM-1

labeling when comparing cells treated with 20% serum (30.66 \pm 0.26%, mean \pm SEM, n = 3) and 1% serum (31.05 \pm 0.26%, n = 3). Treatment with 20 μ M LY294002 in 1% serum induced a small but significant reduction in labeling (28.13 \pm 0.25%, n = 3, p< 0.01 compared to 1% serum alone). The addition of TRAIL (100 ng/ml) to 20 μ M LY294002 in 1% serum induced a further significant reduction in labeling (25.59 \pm 0.29%, n = 3, p< 0.01 compared to 20 μ M LY294002 alone). Labeling in 1% serum was unaffected when TRAIL (100 ng/ml) was applied alone (31.88 \pm 0.23%, n = 3). E-selectin expression was also assessed upon TRAIL treatment. E-selectin expression (% labeling above isotype control, 6-hour treatments) was significantly increased by TNF (100 U/ml) from very low control levels (20% serum, 0.45 \pm 0.08%, n = 3) to 48.11 \pm 0.13% (n = 3, p< 0.001). Expression was unaffected by 1% serum (0.72 \pm 0.05, n = 3), the application in 1% serum of 20 uM LY294002 (0.87 \pm 0.08, n = 3), 100 ng/ml TRAIL alone (0.74 \pm 0.02, n = 3), or these concentrations of TRAIL and LY294002 combined (0.75 \pm 0.02, n = 3).

3.4. Discussion

This study demonstrates that TRAIL induces activation of human vascular endothelial cells sensitized to undergo apoptosis. Unlike HUVEC in standard culture medium (Figure 3.2), TRAIL induces apoptosis in the HUVEC-derived immortalized endothelial cell line EA.hy926 (Figure 3.2, 3.3) consistent with the presence of TRAIL death receptors (TRAIL-R1/R2) on the cell surface (Figure 3.1). TRAIL also activates EA.hy926 cells, with activation of NF-κB (Figure 3.5) and increased surface expression of ICAM-1 (Figure 3.6), as well as increased adhesion of human neutrophils (Figure 3.4). To a lesser extent than TRAIL, FasL (100 ng/ml) also induced apoptosis in EA.hy926 cells, and caused a smaller increase in neutrophil adhesion (Figures 3.2, 3.4). The increase in neutrophil adhesion induced by TRAIL in EA.hy926 cells was dependent on its death receptors TRAIL-R1/R2, caspase activation and binding to CD18, the β₂-integrin subunit on neutrophils that binds to endothelial ICAM-1 (Figure 3.4). Although HUVEC in standard medium did not undergo activation (Figure 3.8) or apoptosis (Figure 3.2) upon exposure to TRAIL, the cells were sensitized by treatment with LY294002 in 1% serum (Figure 3.7). These cells also demonstrated increased neutrophil adhesion when treated with TRAIL (Figure 3.8). TRAIL treatment of sensitized HUVEC did not increase surface expression of E-selectin, and was associated with a small but significant reduction in ICAM-1 labeling.

The ability of TRAIL to activate vascular endothelium is unclear. A number of studies examined HUVEC cultured in standard medium, containing 10–20% serum, but these differ in their results. TRAIL was reported to have no effect on NF-kB activation or expression of cell surface adhesion molecules (242), but another study reported that TRAIL induces NF-kB activation and cell adhesion molecule expression, with increased adhesion to leukocyte-derived HL-60 cells (145). Indeed, TRAIL was reported to downregulate expression of the CCL8 and CXCL10 chemokines induced by treatment with TNF, and to thereby abrogate activation and reduce leukocyte adhesion (248). One striking difference between these studies was in the capacity of TRAIL to induce endothelial apoptosis. In the study that reported endothelial activation by TRAIL (145), apoptosis was concurrently present. However, TRAIL has often not been found to induce apoptosis in unmodified HUVEC (239-244), and it is difficult to support a concept of TRAIL both by vascular smooth muscle and hematological cells in close proximity to the endothelium (239, 259). Despite this caveat, the cited work (145) did raise the possibility

that TRAIL might activate endothelial cells when their phenotype is altered, such that they undergo apoptosis. Such an alteration is considered to be relevant in vascular biology because endothelial cell apoptosis can contribute to states as diverse as angiogenesis and atherosclerosis (245, 246, 260). Endothelial cell apoptosis is modeled in tissue culture by sensitizing the cells. In this study, we used human endothelium sensitized by immortalization (EA.hy926 cells) or by pharmacological treatment (HUVEC treated with LY294002 in 1% serum) to undergo apoptosis.

The use of an endothelial cell line attempts to balance the advantage of stable phenotypic characteristics, with the unavoidable tumor-like properties associated with immortalization. The cell line used in this study was chosen because of its human derivation, and its long record of use since first described in 1983 (232). Multiple endothelial characteristics have been described including the presence of Weibel-Palade bodies (261), secretion of von Willebrand factor (262), upregulation of cell adhesion molecules following treatment with TNF (249-251), uptake of acetylated low-density lipoprotein (250), tube formation in Matrigel[™] (263), and retained expression of caveolae (264). Several functional studies have been conducted that include an examination of leukocyte interactions (250, 252, 253, 265, 266). Various methods are used to immortalize endothelial cells, including fusion with cancer cells, introduction of SV40 large T antigen and/or telomerase, but all methods suffer from some loss of primary endothelial characteristics (250), and in this EA.hy926 cells are no exception. For example, EA.hy926 cells treated with bacterial lipopolysaccharide do not express IL-8 (but express IL-6, MCP-1, and GM-CSF) and in contrast to treatment with TNF, do not upregulate adhesion molecules on exposure to lipopolysaccharide or IL-1 β (250). When a direct comparison was made (267), EA.hy926 cells were found to express many of the

mRNAs present in HUVEC, as well as additional genes that regulate the cell cycle and apoptosis. These additional genes were introduced by hybridization (since the chromosome number in EA.hy926 cells is expanded to 80 (249)), and this probably explains the susceptibility of the cells to apoptosis induced by death ligands such as FasL (268) and TRAIL (present study). In our view, this is fortuitous, because immortalization sensitizes EA.hy926 cells to apoptosis, allowing the impact on retained endothelial characteristics, such as activation, to be explored. Indeed, as a general approach, virtually all *in vitro* studies of endothelial cell apoptosis employ sensitization. Sensitization generally uses an intervention that alters signaling pathways that regulate cells urvival. In the case of EA.hy926 cells, this intervention was hybridization with A549 cells, although the precise molecular alterations have not been described. In the case of primary cultures, most studies expose cells to reduced serum levels to deplete growth factors, and combine this with an agent of interest (often pathogenic) or agents that target specific signaling pathways (242-244)(85, 269-271).

We wished to determine whether a different method of sensitization applied to primary cultures would also unmask endothelial cell activation in response to TRAIL. To do this, we sensitized primary HUVEC by using LY294002 in reduced (1%) serum, because two independent studies, including our own, showed that this treatment sensitizes the cells to TRAIL (242-244). We show that, under these conditions, TRAIL both induces apoptosis (Figure 3.7) and also results in activation, inducing an increase in neutrophil adhesion to the cells (Figure 3.8). In contrast to EA.hy926 cells, TRAIL treatment of sensitized HUVEC did not result in increased surface expression of either E-selectin or ICAM-1, and so the mechanism by which TRAIL increases neutrophil adhesion in this model has not yet been determined. Indeed, both LY294002 and TRAIL caused a small but statistically significant reduction in ICAM-1 labeling. We speculate that this may indicate a change in the conformation and binding avidity of ICAM-1 independent of surface expression, reducing the binding of the monoclonal antibody used for flow cytometry. Altered avidity could mediate increases in neutrophil adhesion.

There were some differences in the responses seen in HUVEC in this study, compared to Dr Easton's previous work, which highlights the chief disadvantage of using primary cultures, which is the variability between primary cultures from different sources. In this study, cell numbers were reduced when placed in 1% serum alone, and additionally after 6 h of exposure to LY294002 (Figure 3.7). In Dr. Easton's previous study (244), 6 hour treatments with 1% serum and LY294002 had no effect. Our previous study also showed that TRAIL increased HUVEC numbers, an observation otherwise interpreted as a proliferative response by native cells (242); however, no increase was noted in this study (Figure 3.2). Thus HUVEC from different sources show differences in sensitivity to serum withdrawal and inhibitor treatment, as well as in their cellular responses to TRAIL.

The central conclusion of this study is that human vascular endothelium is activated by TRAIL when sensitized to undergo apoptosis. Sensitized endothelium may serve to model those physiological and pathological states in which endothelial cell apoptosis plays a role. For example, multiple stimuli have been reported to inhibit angiogenesis with concurrent inhibition of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (272), and this may partly occur by induction of endothelial cell apoptosis (273). Angiogenesis depends upon endothelial cell proliferation as well as vessel regression through apoptosis. Endothelial cell apoptosis contributes to atherosclerosis, by increasing lipid deposition, and activation contributes to inflammatory infiltration of atherosclerotic plaques (245). A recent report (274) in a mouse model, however, shows that the administration of exogenous TRAIL inhibits the development of atherosclerosis by inducing apoptosis in infiltrating macrophages, and by promoting smooth muscle formation. Thus TRAIL may exert different effects depending on dose, disease stage and the cells targeted. It has also been suggested that endothelial cells undergoing apoptosis become activated as a general response (275). LY294002 (20 μ M) alone induced apoptosis (Figure 3.7) and increased neutrophil adhesion (Figure 3.8), showing a link between apoptosis and activation using a stimulus different to TRAIL. This study also expands the concept that death ligands, such as FasL (reviewed in (276)) and TRAIL, regulate apoptosis and inflammatory activation simultaneously in particular target cells.

3.5. Acknowledgement

This study was funded by the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada and the Nova Scotia Health Research Foundation (grants to A.E.). P.-L.C. was funded by a George Loh Scholarship through the Department of Pathology, Dalhousie University.

Figure 3.1. Surface Expression of TRAIL, FasL and Their Cognate Receptors Detected by Flow Cytometry in HUVEC (A) and EA.hy926 Cells (B).

Open histograms indicate fluorescent labeling with receptor-specific monoclonal antibodies; shaded histograms show background labeling with isotype-matched control antibody in the same cells. Data are representative of 4 separate experiments.



Figure 3.1.

Figure 3.2. Effect of TRAIL and FasL on EA.hy926 Cells and HUVEC Numbers, Measured by Acid Phosphatase Assay.

Cells, either EA.hy926 (A, C) or HUVEC (B), were treated with the indicated doses for 24 hours. TRAIL was applied alone or in combination with the caspase-3 inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK (50 μ M, CI-3) or caspase-8 inhibitor Z-IETD-FMK (50 μ M, CI-8). Means ± SEM (n = 16). Significance is compared to the untreated control (NS = Not significant, * * p < 0.01, * * * p < 0.001), or between TRAIL alone and TRAIL plus CI-3 (p < 0.05). B. No significant difference versus control was found.



Figure 3.2.



Cell Number (% of control)

Figure 3.2.

Figure 3.3. Effect of TRAIL, TNF and FasL on Apoptosis of EA.hy926 Cells Measured by Annexin V-FITC Labeling.

A. Early apoptosis as percent of cells with high annexin V staining and low PI labeling. Control = vehicle alone. Means \pm SEM (n = 4). * p < 0.001 TRAIL treatments vs. control. B. Representative scatter plots of the raw data for cells treated for 6 h with TRAIL (100 ng/ml) or vehicle alone (control). The quadrant markers determine early apoptosis from the percentage (indicated) of cells in the lower right quadrants.



Figure 3.3.

Figure 3.4. Effect of TRAIL and FasL on Neutrophil Adhesion to EA.hy926 Cells, Assessed by Calcein Labeling.

Cells were treated with the indicated doses for 24 h unless otherwise indicated. Ligands were applied alone (A) or in combination with inhibitors (B, C). B. Treatments (all 50 μ M) with the pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK (CI-pan), caspase-3 inhibitor (CI-3) Z-DEVD-FMK, or caspase-8 inhibitor (CI-8) Z-IETD-FMK. C. Treatments with blocking antibodies to TRAIL (anti-TRAIL), to TRAIL-R1 and TRAIL-R2 (anti-R1 and -R2) and to CD18 (anti-CD18). Means ± SEM (A, n = 40; B, C, n = 8). Significance is compared to the untreated control (NS = Not significant, * * p < 0.01, * * * p < 0.001)



Neutrophil Adhesion (% of control)

Figure 3.4.



Neutrophil Adhesion (% of control)

Figure 3.4.

Figure 3.5. NF-KB Activation in EA.hy926 Cells Treated with TNF, TRAIL, and FasL.

Cells were treated with the indicated doses for 1, 3, 6, and 24 h, and nuclear proteins extracted. The concentration of p50 that bound to the NF- κ B consensus binding site is shown, normalized (%) to the untreated control. Means ± SEM, n = 4 per time point. NS = Not significant, * p < 0.05, * * p < 0.001, vs. untreated control.



Figure 3.5.

Figure 3.6. Surface Expression of ICAM-1 Detected by Flow Cytometry in EA.hy926 Cells Following Treatments with TRAIL, FasL, and TNF.

Open histograms indicate fluorescent labeling with ICMA-1-specific monoclonal antibodies; shaded histograms show background labeling with isotype-matched control antibody in the same cells. Percent counts within the range specified by the marker (M) is shown on each panel, which contains < 1% of cells labelled with the isotype control. Data are representative of 4 separate experiments.



Figure 3.6.

Figure 3.7. HUVEC Sensitized to Undergo Apoptosis by Treatment with LY294002 Alone, or in Combination with TRAIL (100 ng/ml).

All treatments were applied in reduced (1%) serum medium for 6 h. A. The caspase-3 inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK (CI-3) or the caspase-8 inhibitor Z-IETD-FMK (CI-8; both 50µM) were co-applied with TRAIL and 5µM or 20µM LY294002. Means ± SEM, n = 24. B. Early apoptosis (% of cells with high annexin-V, low PI labeling). Means ± SEM, n = 3. A., B. Significance is compared to the untreated control or to treatments linked by cross bars (NS = not significant, * p < 0.05, * * p < 0.01, * * * p < 0.001).









Α

Figure 3.8. Neutrophil Adhesion to HUVEC.

Cells were treated in 20% serum containing medium with ligands for 24 h, at the indicated doses (A). Cells were also treated for 6 h in reduced (1%) serum medium with TRAIL and LY294002, at the indicated doses, either alone, or in combination (B). Means \pm SEM, n = 8 (A) and n = 24 (B). NS = Not significant; * * * p < 0.001 vs. untreated control.



Neutrophil adhesion (% of control)

Figure 3.8.

CHAPTER 4 – Evidence that Tumor Necrosis Factor Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand (TRAIL) Inhibits Angiogenesis by Inducing Vascular Endothelial Cell Apoptosis.

Pei-Lin Chen and Alexander S. Easton; Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications (2010); 391: 936–941. (Published)

4.0. Copyright Permission and Student Contribution Statement

Copyright permission for this manuscript to be reproduced in the candidate's thesis has been granted from Elsevier Limited, see Appendix I-3. All experimental studies were completed by the candidate. Data analysis and the manuscript were prepared by the candidate with editorial guidance from Dr. Easton. Note: Methods and Materials as well as Reference sections of the manuscript were removed from the chapter to avoid repetition, those contents are included in Chapter 2 and the Reference section of the thesis.

4.1. Abstract

Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and its related ligands TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) and Fas ligand (FasL) play roles in the regulation of vascular responses, but their effect on the formation of new blood vessels (angiogenesis) is unclear. Therefore, we have examined the effects of these ligands on angiogenesis modeled with primary cultures of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC). To examine angiogenesis in the context of the central nervous system, we have also modeled cerebral angiogenesis with the human brain endothelial cell line hCMEC/D3. Parameters studied were bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation and cell number (MTT) assay (to assess endothelial proliferation), scratch assay (migration) and networks on Matrigel™ (tube formation). In our hands, neither TRAIL nor FasL (1, 10, and 100ng/ml) had an effect on parameters of angiogenesis in the HUVEC model. In hCMEC/D3 cells by contrast, TRAIL inhibited all parameters (10-100ng/ml, 24h). This was due to apoptosis, since its action was blocked by the pan-caspase inhibitor z-VAD-FMK (50µM) and TRAIL increased caspase-3 activity 1h after application. However, FasL (100ng/ml) increased BrdU uptake without other effects. We conclude that TRAIL has different effects on *in vitro*

angiogenesis depending on which model is used, but that FasL is generally ineffective when applied *in vitro*. The data suggest that TRAIL primarily influences angiogenesis by the induction of vascular endothelial apoptosis, leading to vessel regression.

4.2. Introduction

Angiogenesis, or the formation of new blood vessels, is an essential component of many physiological and pathological processes including embryogenesis, wound healing, formation of blood supply to tumors or ischemic tissues, and as a driver of inflammatory processes. New vessels promote inflammation by increasing the sum total of inflammatory mediators produced by vascular endothelial cells and by increasing the surface area for leukocyte interactions. In the central nervous system (CNS), angiogenesis may play a role in diseases as diverse as glioma, multiple sclerosis and stroke (277-279).

Angiogenesis is studied by using *in vitro* models that examine the many processes that vascular endothelial cells participate in during the formation of new vasculature. These processes include endothelial proliferation, migration and tube formation. Also relevant is an understanding of how each of these processes are limited through induction of endothelial apoptosis, which leads to vessel regression. Inhibition of angiogenic vessels may prove a key strategy in limiting pathological angiogenesis, by cutting off blood supply to tumors, or by reducing harmful inflammation.

Vascular endothelial apoptosis in this context may be induced by death ligands. Death ligands are inducers of caspase dependent apoptosis through cognate binding to death receptors, and include members of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) family of ligands including TNF itself, tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) and Fas ligand (FasL). TRAIL induces apoptosis by binding to its death receptors TRAIL-R1 and TRAIL-R2. TRAIL also binds to two decoy receptors TRAIL-R3 and TRAIL-R4, as well as the soluble receptor osteoprotegerin (238). The binding of TRAIL to its death receptors results in activation of caspase-8. Through the extrinsic-death receptor mediated pathway, this causes direct cleavage of caspase-3 into active subunits that execute apoptosis (66). Caspase-8 also activates the intrinsic-mitochondrial pathway, a more complex sequence of events involving mitochondrial membrane depolarization with release of cytochrome c which recruits Apaf1, ATP, and caspase-9 to form an apoptosome. Here the cleavage product of caspase-9 results in cleavage and activation of caspase-3 to execute apoptosis (280).

In this study, we have modeled angiogenesis using two *in vitro* models. Most work on *in vitro* angiogenesis has been conducted in human umbilical vein endothelial cells, but previous reports on the action of TRAIL are contradictory (281, 282). Therefore we examined the effects of both TRAIL and FasL in this model. There are to our knowledge, no previous reports on the effect of these ligands in models of cerebral angiogenesis. So, cerebral angiogenesis was modeled with hCMEC/D3 cells, a recently described human brain endothelial cell line (233).

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Effects of TRAIL, Fas Ligand and TNF in HUVEC

The result of the BrdU incorporation, cell number and migration assays, is shown in Figure 4.1. As a positive control, 24 h treatment with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF, 10ng/ml) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF, 10, 50 ng/ml) induced a significant increase in BrdU incorporation (Figure 4.1-A). bFGF at these doses also induced a significant increase in cell numbers (Figure 4.1-B). VEGF and bFGF (both 100 ng/ml) also significantly increased cell migration over 24 h (Figure 4.1-C). TRAIL, FasL
(both 1, 10, and 100 ng/ml) and TNF (10, 100 U/ml) had no effect on these parameters (Figure 4.1-A.B.C). Tube formation was also analyzed in HUVEC (Figure 4.2). Representative images are shown in Fig. 4-2A. The data are expressed as the average length or average area of the tubular structures. Under control conditions, average area increased slightly over 24 h, while average length remained stable. VEGF (50 ng/ml) induced significant increases in both parameters over 24 h (Figure 4.2-B, C). FasL (1, 10, and 100 ng/ml), TRAIL (1, 10, and 100 ng/ml) and TNF (1, 10, and 100 U/ml) had no effect (the effect of individual doses is shown in Figure 4.2-B, C). These data show that TRAIL, FasL, and TNF have no effect on parameters of angiogenesis modeled with HUVEC.

4.3.2. Effect of TRAIL, Fas Ligand, and TNF in hCMEC/D3 Cells

Flow cytometry was carried out to detect receptors for TRAIL and FasL on hCMEC/D3 cells. The fluorescence intensity of labeling with specific antibodies was plotted as a function of cell number (Appendix II, Figure S.1). The isotype control antibody staining was gated to give a value of ~10% of the cells (9.93 \pm 0.17%, mean \pm SEM, n = 9). This allows the relative increase in staining for other antibodies to be expressed as % of cells within the set range. Compared to ca. 10% staining in control cells, ~90% of cells stained for TRAIL-R2 (90.76 \pm 2.00%, n = 5, P < 0.001 compared to isotype control). This was considerably greater than staining for TRAIL-R3 (17.20 \pm 0.31%, n = 5, P < 0.001 compared to control), with no significant increase above control for either TRAIL-R1 (12.12 \pm 0.25%, n = 5) or TRAIL-R4 (9.75 \pm 1.00%, n = 4). The Fas receptor was also detected in a high percentage of cells (63.98 \pm 1.79%, n = 5, P < 0.001), but there was no detectable Fas ligand (FasL) or TRAIL (means under 3%, not significantly increased). There was also expression of the VEGF receptors VEGF-R1 (20.1 \pm 0.36%, n = 4, P < 0.001) and VEGF-R2 (66.18 \pm 0.36%, n = 4, P < 0.001).

The hCMEC/D3 line has an ordinary requirement for medium containing multiple growth factors. We therefore anticipated that single growth factors would be insufficient to act as positive controls. Indeed, VEGF and bFGF (10, 50, and 100 ng/ml) applied singly or in combination with the co-factor heparin (50 ng/ml plus 100 U/ml heparin, had no effect on BrdU incorporation, cell numbers or migration (Appendix II, Figures S.2, S.3, S.4) (effect of 100 ng/ml shown in Figure 4.3). However, introduction of 5% FBS to cells rendered quiescent (in serum free medium containing 2% BSA) stimulated a strong positive responses, that served as positive controls (Figure 4.2-A, B, C).

Quiescent cells responded differently to TRAIL and FasL. TRAIL (1–100 ng/ml) induced a dose dependent reduction in BrdU incorporation (Figure 4.3-A.), that was inhibited by co-treatment (100 ng/ml TRAIL) with the pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK (50µM). A similar reduction was observed in cell numbers and migration, which were also blocked by Z-VAD-FMK co-treatment (Figure 4.3-B, C). In contrast, FasL (1, 10ng/ml) had no effect on BrdU uptake, while 100 ng/ml had a small stimulatory effect (Figure 4.3-A). TNF (10, 100 U/ml) mimicked the inhibitory effect of TRAIL on BrdU incorporation (Figure 4.3-A). Both FasL and TNF had no effect on cell numbers or migration (Figure 4.2-B).

To confirm the impression that TRAIL induced apoptosis in the cells, caspase-3 activity was measured. TRAIL induced a significant increase in caspase-3 activity over untreated cells at 1 h (2.10 ± 0.35 vs control 0.10 ± 0.01 , arbitrary fluorescence units, n = 4, P < 0.001 compared to control), with values returning to baseline by 3 h (0.73 ± 0.23 , n = 4) and 6 h (0.50 ± 0.22 , n = 4).

Tube formation on Matrigel[™] was assessed for periods between 3 and 24 hours. Representative images are shown in Figure 4.4-A. These images show that the tubular structures increased in both length and area but reduced in number as the assay progressed. The individual regions were therefore analyzed in terms of average length and average area (Figure 4.4.B, C). Untreated cells (control data) showed a progressive increase in both parameters over time. This was accelerated by the introduction of 5% FBS as a positive control (Figure 4.4-B, C). 50 ng/ml doses of VEGF and bFGF had no significant effect on either parameter while TRAIL (100 ng/ml) reduced both parameters, inducing a statistically significant reduction in average length at 6 hours (Figure 4.4-B.). FasL (10 ng/ml) and TNF (100 U/ml) had no effect (Figure 4.4-B, C). The data confirm that tube formation in hCMEC/D3 cells is inhibited by TRAIL, and unaffected by other ligands.

4.4. Discussion

4.4.1. Effect of TRAIL on HUVEC

TRAIL was initially reported to promote apoptosis in cancer cells without harming normal cells, and it remains a promising candidate for novel anti-cancer therapy (239). Physiologically, its best characterized function is in tumor surveillance (283). In the vasculature, TRAIL is expressed by vascular smooth muscle (259) and may function in a paracrine function to regulate vascular endothelial functioning by inducing endothelial production of nitric oxide and prostanoids (284). In an inflammatory context, TRAIL is upregulated by virtually all immune cells including neutrophils, T and B lymphocytes, natural killer cells, dendritic cells and monocytes (285).

There are different outcomes in previous studies of TRAIL and angiogenesis in peripheral endothelial cells. In HUVEC, TRAIL was reported to induce activation of Akt and ERK leading to endothelial proliferation (242) and to increase cell migration and tube formation without altering endogenous endothelial cell expression of VEGF (286). TRAIL had no effect on angiogenesis in the rat aortic ring model (286). TRAIL was reported to inhibit cancer related angiogenesis in an implant of PC-3 tumor cells in mice, with a reduction in local VEGF expression (287). Finally, in contrast to the previous finding that TRAIL is stimulatory (281), TRAIL was found to inhibit tube formation, cell numbers and endogenous VEGF expression in HUVEC in another study (282). The pro-angiogenic action of TRAIL (281) was induced by 10 ng/ml TRAIL linked to a histidine tag, while the anti-angiogenic effect of TRAIL (282) was induced by higher doses (100–400 ng/ml). Tagged forms of TRAIL may behave differently from untagged forms, as for instance when histidine tagged TRAIL induced apoptosis in hepatocytes that was not seen with the untagged moiety (288, 289). The data in this study lead us to conclude that both TRAIL and FasL have no effect on parameters of angiogenesis modeled in HUVEC (Figures 4.1 and 4.2). We speculate that this could relate to our use of untagged TRAIL instead of histidine tagged TRAIL (281), since other conditions (doses of TRAIL,10 ng/ml in (281), 100 ng/ml in (282), presence of serum in both studies) have been replicated in this work.

4.4.2. Actions of TRAIL and FasL in hCMEC/D3 Cells

This is to our knowledge, the first study to examine the actions of TRAIL and FasL in a model of cerebral angiogenesis. In hCMEC/D3 cells, TRAIL induced a dose dependent reduction in BrdU uptake, cell numbers, migration and tube formation (Figures 4.3 and 4.4). The effect of TRAIL was inhibited in combination with the pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK (Figure 4.3). To confirm that TRAIL inhibited these processes through induction of apoptosis, TRAIL was found to induce an early (1 h) increase in caspase-3 activity. TNF also reduced BrdU uptake (Figure 4.3) but had no effect on migration (Figure 4.3) or tube formation (Figure 4.4). In contrast, Fas ligand had minimal effects, inducing a small but significant increase in BrdU uptake (Figure 4.3), without effect on other parameters (Figures 4.3 and 4.4).

The propensity of hCMEC/D3 cells to undergo apoptosis in response to TRAIL is not

the result of serum withdrawal, since TRAIL was also effective in reducing BrdU uptake, cell numbers and migration when 5% FBS was present (Figure 4.3 and Appendix II, Figures S.2, S.3, and S.4). Also, FasL did not induce an apoptotic response in the cells, so there is no general propensity for hCMEC/D3 cells to undergo apoptosis in response to death ligands. However, a study in primary cultures of human brain endothelial cells found that TRAIL does not induce apoptosis (290). This suggests that the human brain endothelial cells used in this study have been sensitized to TRAIL by the process of immortalization. This is not irrelevant to an understanding of the role that TRAIL may play in regulating cerebral angiogenesis. Other evidence indicates that TRAIL only induces apoptosis in vascular endothelial cells when they have been previously sensitized. This may be relevant to understanding the balance between pro- and anti-angiogenic factors in limiting angiogenesis. Thus, TRAIL induces apoptosis in HUVEC only when there is inhibition of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and its downstream activation of the serine/threonine kinase, Akt (242, 244). TRAIL (but not FasL) also induces apoptosis in unmodified EA.hy926 cells, an immortalized cell line derived from HUVEC. In this context the endothelial cells become pro-adhesive for neutrophils (291). TRAIL promotes apoptosis of human dermal microvascular endothelial cells when they are grown on a substrate that inhibits integrin signaling (292). Angiogenesis induced by VEGF acts through Akt activation and can be blocked when Akt is inhibited by various anti-angiogenic factors such as angiotensin II and thromboxane A2 (293, 294). Thus, factors that inhibit angiogenesis could sensitize vascular endothelium to undergo apoptosis by TRAIL, leading to vessel regression. However, TRAIL would not be expected to induce apoptosis in the normal microvasculature.

4.5. Conclusions

The data in this study suggest that TRAIL (with supportive evidence for TNF) may inhibit cerebral angiogenesis by inducing apoptosis in appropriately sensitized cerebral endothelial cells, and so exert a potential anti-inflammatory role in the human CNS. Fas ligand may be neutral, or even promote cerebral angiogenesis. The combination of our findings in HUVEC and hCMEC/D3 suggests that TRAIL principally influences angiogenesis by inducing apoptosis in vascular endothelial cells, leading to vessel regression. In contrast to other in vitro studies (242, 281), we did not find evidence of a pro-angiogenic role for TRAIL.

4.6. Acknowledgments

The study was funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, the Nova Scotia Health Research Foundation, and the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada. P.-L.C. was funded by a George Loh Scholarship through the Department of Pathology, Dalhousie University.

Figure 4.1. Effects of Multiple Factors on Parameters of Angiogenesis in the HUVEC.

Data are shown for BrdU incorporation (A), cell number analysis by MTT assay (B) and cell migration by scratch assay (C). Cells were treated (24 h) with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL), Fas ligand (FasL), and tumor necrosis factor (TNF). Numbers indicate doses in ng/ml except for TNF where dosage is U/ml. Data are normalized to the untreated control, and shown as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Significance is compared to the untreated control; only significant differences are marked (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001). In (A, B), n = 24 for untreated cells and n = 12 for other groups. In (C), n = 12 for untreated cells, n = 6 for other groups.



HUVEC

Figure 4.1.

Figure 4.2. Tube Formation Assay on Matrigel[™] in HUVEC Treated with Growth Factors and Indicated Ligands.

Doses are ng/ml except TNF (U/ml). Representative images are shown (A) taken at 20x magnification (scale bar = 500 μ m). Data (mean ± SEM) are expressed as average length (B) or average area (C) of tubular structures over time. Relative changes are shown (expressed in arbitrary units). Significance is compared to the untreated control and only significantly different results are shown (**P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001). In (B and C), n = 8 for controls and n = 4 for all other groups.



Figure 4.2.

Figure 4.3. Effects on Parameters of Cerebral Angiogenesis Modeled with hCMEC/D3 Cells.

Data are shown for BrdU incorporation (A), cell number analysis (B), and cell migration (C). Cells were treated (24 h) with growth factors and indicated ligands. In some experiments, TRAIL was combined with the caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK (50 μ M, Cl). Numbers indicate doses in ng/ml except for TNF (U/ml). Data are normalized to the untreated control, and shown as mean ± SEM. Significance is compared to the untreated control except where indicated by cross bars; only significant differences are marked (***P < 0.001). In (A), n = 32 for untreated cells, n = 8–12 for 5% FBS and growth factors and n = 4–20 for other ligands. In (B), n = 60 for untreated cells, n = 26 for 5% FBS, n = 24 for growth factors, and n = 12–36 for other ligands. In (C), n = 79 for untreated cells, n = 63 for 5% FBS, and n = 15–40 for other ligands.



hCMEC/D3 cells

Figure 4.3.

Figure 4.4. Tube Formation Assay on Matrigel[™] in hCMEC/D3 Cells Treated in Serum (5% FBS) and with Indicated Ligands.

Doses are ng/ml except for TNF (U/ml). Representative images are shown (A) taken at 20x magnification (scale bar = 500 μ m). Data (mean ± SEM) are expressed as average length (B) or average area (C) of tubular structures over time. Relative changes are shown (expressed in arbitrary units). Significance is compared to the untreated control and only significantly different results are shown (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001). In (B, C), n = 8 for controls and n = 4 for all other groups.



Figure 4.4.

hCMEC/D3 cells

CHAPTER 5 – Anti-angiogenic Effects of Resveratrol on Cerebral Angiogenesis.

Pei-Lin Chen and Alexander S. Easton; (accepted by the Current Neurovascular Research in December, 2010; E-published ahead of print on Jan 5th, 2010)

5.0. Copyright Permission and Student Contribution Statement

Copyright permission for this manuscript to be reproduced in the candidate's thesis has been granted from Bentham Science Publishers Limited, see Appendix I-4. All experimental studies were completed by the candidate, with the exception of rat aorta extraction, which was performed by another student in the lab, C.J. MacMillan. Data analysis and the manuscript were prepared by the candidate with editorial guidance from Dr. Easton. Note: Methods and Materials, and Reference sections of the manuscript were removed from the chapter to avoid repetition, those contents are included in the Chapter 2 and Reference section of the thesis.

5.1. Abstract

Angiogenesis is implicated in diseases of the central nervous system, and its modulation represents an attractive therapeutic strategy. This is the first report of the effects of resveratrol (*trans*-3,4',5-trihydroxystilbene) on cerebral angiogenesis, using an *in vitro* model. Processes associated with angiogenesis were studied in cerebral vascular endothelial cells, using the human brain endothelial cell line hCMEC/D3 and primary bovine brain microvessel EC (BBMEC). Comparisons were made to human umbilical vein EC (HUVEC). In cerebral cultures, resveratrol (24h) induced a dose dependent reduction in BrdU incorporation and cell numbers (MTT assay) between 10-100µM, while lower doses (100nM-5µM) had no effect. Cell migration (scratch assay) was inhibited between 10-100µM depending on cell type. Doses between 10-100µM reduced average tubule length on Matrigel[™], while higher doses (50, 100µM) also inhibited process formation around explanted rat aortic rings (*ex vivo* assay). Cell cycle analysis in hCMEC/D3

(propidium iodide) showed reduced progression to the G2/M phase, with a maximal effect at 25µM. Resveratrol did not induce apoptosis in hCMEC/D3, based on the absence of caspase-3 activity. Cytotoxicity (LDH release) was induced by resveratrol (50,100µM) in hCMEC/D3 and HUVEC, peaking at ~15% in hCMEC/D3 and ~35% in HUVEC. Cytotoxic effects were not detected in BBMEC. Resveratrol (10-50µM) inhibited phosphorylation of the serine/threonine kinase Akt, by Western blot (15min, 1h) with a prolonged inhibition (24h) for 25µM. In conclusion, this study shows inhibitory effects of resveratrol on cerebral angiogenesis, using an *in vitro* model. This is discussed in terms of dosage, *in vivo* equivalence and therapeutic potential.

5.2. Introduction

Resveratrol (*trans*-3,4',5-trihydroxystilbene) is a natural phytoalexin found in the skin of grapes, and other plant sources including berries, plums, peanuts and pines (295). Interest in resveratrol derives from its presence in red wine, and the inverse correlation between red wine consumption and cardiovascular health. Because this was noted in studies carried out in southern France, despite a diet rich in saturated fats, the effect is known as the 'French paradox' (206). Since these initial observations, there has been a burgeoning of studies looking not only at the cardiovascular effects of resveratrol, but also its effects on cancer and aging.

Angiogenesis is the formation of new blood vessels from pre-existing vessels. The process of angiogenesis is orchestrated by the balance of pro and anti-angiogenic factors, and involves vascular endothelial cells in the processes of proliferation, migration and tubule formation. Angiogenesis occurs in a physiological as well as a pathological context. For instance, it is involved in embryonic development, menstruation and wound healing (1, 20). In the setting of disease, angiogenesis has mixed effects. In cancer, angiogenesis is harmful, because it is associated with tumor growth and the promotion of metastasis (296-301). In ischemic heart disease and stroke, angiogenesis is believed to be protective, promoting the restoration of blood flow to injured tissues, or limiting the effects of subsequent ischemia (302-307).

The impact of resveratrol on angiogenesis has been assessed in tissue culture as well as animal models. Previous work was carried out in large vessel endothelial cells, such as human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC, (181, 308-311)), bovine pulmonary artery (312) and aortic (310, 313) endothelial cells and porcine aortic endothelial cells (16). Far fewer studies have been carried out in smaller vessels, including human coronary arteriolar endothelial cells (314) and human microvascular endothelial cells (315). In general, these studies have shown an inhibitory effect of resveratrol on parameters of angiogenesis. Effects have been noted in the micromolar range. The exceptions are coronary vessel endothelium, where resveratrol promotes tube formation (314), and a recent study in HUVEC that describes pro-angiogenic effects for 5μ M resveratrol but inhibitory effects at 20μ M (311). A variety of different steps in the molecular regulation of angiogenesis have been studied in vitro, including those regulating endothelial cell proliferation (16, 181, 311, 312), endothelial cell attachment to neighbouring cells via VE-cadherin (308), and endothelial cell adhesion to the substratum via $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrins (310). As mentioned, resveratrol promotes tube formation in human coronary arteriolar endothelial cells (314), suggesting that its effects are organ specific. The same study showed that resveratrol promotes angiogenesis after myocardial ischemia in rat heart, which supports its cardioprotective effects (314). Dosage appears to be a critical factor in its *in vivo* actions. In a study of angiogenesis in rat ischemic limbs, low doses of red wine polyphenols promoted angiogenesis while higher doses were inhibitory (316). Several *in vivo* assays, including the corneal micropocket assay, skin Matrigel[™] plug and chick chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) assay, have also documented an inhibitory effect on angiogenesis (16, 315, 317), while 5µM promoted vessel formation in the chick CAM assay (311). Resveratrol also inhibits vessel formation in the chick CAM assay (312).

The impact of resveratrol on angiogenesis in the central nervous system (CNS) is incompletely understood. CNS angiogenesis plays a role in the promotion of neoplasia. High grade gliomas induce vascular proliferation as a hallmark characteristic. Angiogenesis is also induced following cerebral ischemia, and may play a role in restoring blood flow to tissue around a stroke, and help to protect this tissue from subsequent ischemic injury (302, 319). There is now evidence that angiogenesis is induced in inflammatory diseases such as multiple sclerosis, and its animal model experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (8, 9), but in this context angiogenesis may prove harmful, since new vessels can support ongoing inflammation both by generating pro-inflammatory mediators and acting as conduits for the recruitment of pathogenic leucocytes. However, *in vivo* studies have been lacking. In one study, resveratrol inhibited glioma associated angiogenesis (228). In a study of ischemic stroke, rats treated with resveratrol at the time of stroke induction, showed a smaller reduction in blood vessel density on the side of the stroke, compared to control animals, suggesting that

resveratrol either protects vessels from elimination, or actively promotes angiogenesis in the CNS (320). There are to date no studies of the actions of resveratrol on CNS angiogenesis modeled *in vitro*.

This is the first study to examine the actions of resveratrol on cerebral angiogenesis using cerebrovascular endothelial cultures. Vascular endothelial cell proliferation, migration and tubule formation were examined as surrogate measures of angiogenesis. Mechanisms were also studied, with a focus on apoptosis, cytotoxicity and cell cycle progression, and downstream effects on the key signaling molecule Akt.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Impact of Resveratrol on BrdU Incorporation and Cell Numbers

The effect of resveratrol was tested in vascular endothelial cell cultures from the CNS (hCMEC/D3 and BBMEC) and periphery (HUVEC). To explore differential effects between lower and higher doses, the dose range was between 100nM and 100µM. The result of BrdU incorporation and cell number assays is shown in Figure 5.1. In CNS cultures (hCMEC/D3 and BBMEC), there was a significant reduction in BrdU incorporation for doses between 25-100µM (10µM in BBMEC). Resveratrol 10µM reduced cell numbers in hCMEC/D3 (P<0.05), while higher doses (25, 50, 100µM) reduced cell numbers in both hCMEC/D3 and BBMEC. Lower doses (100nM, 1µM) had no significant effect. In HUVEC, higher doses of resveratrol (25, 50, 100µM) induced significant reductions in BrdU incorporation, while lower doses had no significant effect. Higher doses (25, 50, 100µM) caused significant reductions in HUVEC cell numbers.

5.3.2. Effect of Resveratrol on Cell Migration

Endothelial cell migration was assessed in the different endothelial types, using the scratch assay. Images of the denuded zone are shown in Figure 5.2-A, after 24h treatment with 1-100 μ M resveratrol, and the data is summarized in Figure 5.2-B. Migration was significantly inhibited by 10 μ M resveratrol in hCMEC/D3 and HUVEC, while 1 μ M had no effect. Higher doses of resveratrol (25, 50, 100 μ M) inhibited migration in all cell types.

5.3.3. Possible Explanations for the Impact of Resveratrol

A reduction in BrdU incorporation, cell numbers and migration can occur if resveratrol induces apoptosis, induces non-specific toxicity (necrosis), or inhibits cell cycle progression and proliferation. In Figure 5.3-A, the LDH release assay was used to assess cytotoxicity. In hCMEC/D3 and HUVEC, there were significant increases in LDH release at the two higher doses of resveratrol (50, 100 μ M), with no significant impact in BBMEC at any dose. Cytotoxicity reached at 15.67 ± 1.02% in hCMEC/D3 treated with 100 μ M resveratrol, and 34.51 ± 1.81% in HUVEC. This compares with cell number reductions of about 50% for the same dose and duration of resveratrol treatment (to 50.52 ± 1.96% in hCMEC/D3 and 47.91 ± 9.47% in HUVEC). At 50 μ M, the toxicity data is 7.10 ± 1.33% in hCMEC/D3 and 17.66 ± 2.11% in HUVEC, compared to cell number reductions of around 20% in hCMEC/D3 (to 79.27 ± 1.43%) and around 35% in HUVEC (to 64.11 ± 2.29%). To assess the possible contribution of apoptosis to the effects of resveratrol in hCMEC/D3, caspase-3 activity was measured between 1-6h for doses of resveratrol between 10-100 μ M, using TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL,

100ng/ml) as a positive control, based on our previous assessment (321). The data are presented in Fig. 5.3-B, where all doses of resveratrol (50, 100µM are shown) were without significant effect. Cell cycle progression in hCMEC/D3 was assessed with propidium iodide staining. Figure 5.3-C shows representative flow cytometry plots that estimate the proportion of cells in the G1/G0, S and G2/M phases of the cell cycle. Compared to vehicle, resveratrol (25µM) arrested progression to the G2/M phase, with an increase in S phase fraction, absent G2/M fraction and a reduction in the G1/G0 fraction. The data is summarized in Figure 5.3-D. Effects begin to be seen for 10µM resveratrol, with an increase in S phase fraction, while 25µM abolishes cells in G2/M, with significant reductions for 50 and 100µM. G1/G0 fraction was significantly increased by 50 and 100µM resveratrol.

5.3.4. Effects of Resveratrol on Tubule Formation

Tubule formation was assessed by plating hCMEC/D3 cells on Matrigel^M, and by measuring tubule formation around everted rat aortic rings exposed to different doses of resveratrol. Figure 5.4-A shows the effect of 10, 25 and 100µM resveratrol on tubule formation in Matrigel^M after an incubation period of 16h, in which there is a reduction in length of individual tubules compared to vehicle alone. The tubules were quantified by image analysis (Figure 5.4-B) as changes in average length at 4 and 16h. Significant reductions in average length were detected for 10 and 100µM resveratrol at 4h, with significant reductions at 16h for doses between 10-100µM. Resveratrol at 100nM and 1µM had no significant effect. To further assess the impact of resveratrol on tubule formation, an *ex vivo* assay was carried out in rat aortic rings (Figure 5.5-A, B). A well

defined plexus develops around the rings in vehicle treated wells by day 5 (Figure 5.5-A). The area of this plexus was significantly reduced by 50μ M resveratrol, while its formation was blocked at 100μ M.

5.3.5. Effects of Resveratrol on Key Signaling Molecules

There was a dose dependent reduction in the phosphorylated form of Akt (p-Akt) relative to total protein, on exposure to 10, 25 and 50µM resveratrol for different durations (15min, 1h, 24h). Treatment for 15min and 1h induced a significant reduction in levels of p-Akt for 25 and 50µM while 10µM was effective only after 15min. For the 24h treatments, only 25µM induced a significant reduction in levels of p-Akt (Figure 5.6.-A, B). These dose-durations of resveratrol treatment had no effect on relative levels of phosphorylated forms of the MAP kinases ERK1/2 (Appendix II, Figure S.8.A).

5.4. Discussion

5.4.1. Principal Findings

This study presents the first *in vitro* evidence on the actions of resveratrol on angiogenesis in the CNS, and draws useful comparisons with a widely used peripheral model (HUVEC). Resveratrol inhibited vascular endothelial cell proliferation in both hCMEC/D3 cells (derived from human brain primary endothelium) and primary bovine brain derived cultures. Its effects on BrdU incorporation and cell number reduction were only significant for doses in the micromolar range (25, 50, 100µM with variable effects at 10µM, Figure 5.1). Resveratrol also inhibited cell migration and tubule formation (Figures 5.2, 5.4, 5.5). The effect on migration was significant for the same dose range

(10-100μM). Tubule formation in Matrigel[™] was also inhibited for 10-100μM, while 50 and 100μM inhibited process formation around explanted rat aortic rings. Lower doses (100nM, 1μM) did not induce significant stimulatory in either central or peripheral endothelium. The mechanisms of action of resveratrol were also explored. The data show significant cytotoxicity for higher doses of resveratrol (50, 100μM), particularly in HUVEC; however, the magnitude does not account for the total reduction in cell number at these doses. There was no evidence for apoptosis, and propidium iodide staining showed that resveratrol (10-100μM) inhibited cell cycle progression, with arrested progression to G2/M for 25 μM (Figure 5.3). Resveratrol (10, 25, 50μM) also inhibited phosphorylation of Akt, with a prolonged effect after 24h treatment with the 25μM dose (Figure 5.6).

5.4.2. The Significance of Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis refers to the formation of new blood vessels from pre-existing vasculature. The process of angiogenesis involves the detachment of pericytes from the capillary wall, allowing endothelial cells to proliferate and invade the surrounding basement membrane and interstitial matrix as sprouts. These migrate outwards, forming tubular structures that eventually canalize and establish new capillary networks (302). The regulation of angiogenesis is tightly controlled by the balance of pro-angiogenic factors (like vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF) and anti-angiogenic factors (such as angiostatin), and the outward invasion of vascular sprouts depends on matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). The endothelial processes linked to angiogenesis are regulated by several signaling molecules including the mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinases, phosphatidylinositol 3 (PI3)-kinase and activation of the serine/threonine kinase

Akt/protein kinase B, and through transcription factors such as Nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB), HIF-1 α and AP-1. These regulate multiple cellular processes including proliferation, production of growth factors and proteases and endothelial cell apoptosis (272, 322).

Angiogenesis has beneficial roles in physiology and disease. It is involved in diverse physiological processes including embryogenesis, wound healing and the normal menstrual cycle (1, 20). Angiogenesis is stimulated following ischemic injury to the myocardium or the central nervous system (CNS), in myocardial infarction and stroke, respectively (319, 323). In these contexts, it is believed to restore blood supply to injured tissue, which may promote recovery and protect from additional injury. Angiogenesis may also play a detrimental role in disease. The additional vasculature can facilitate unwanted inflammatory responses, both by generating pro-inflammatory mediators, and by providing routes for the egress of inflammatory cells into the tissues. In the context of the CNS, this may relevant in inflammatory conditions such as meningitis or multiple sclerosis. Cancer cells recruit a chaotic vasculature in comparison to the normal pattern of blood supply. Vessels are not differentiated into arterioles or venules, and blood supply is inefficient, so that tumor tissue is relatively hypoxic (324). The interruption of this vasculature can inhibit cancer growth and metastasis, although many of the agents currently in clinical trials have met with significant drug resistance, since cancer cells develop means of evading the influence of particular factors or the need to depend on a blood supply (325). In this context, the use of phytochemicals such as resveratrol to inhibit cancer associated angiogenesis has been promoted along several lines.

Resveratrol inhibits multiple signaling pathways in cancer cells, and the doses required to inhibit cancer growth in animals are well tolerated (172, 181-184).

5.4.3. Resveratrol and Angiogenesis

The actions of resveratrol on angiogenesis have been studied both in tissue culture and using ex vivo explants, and in vivo assays. Tissue culture studies have mostly been carried out in large vessel endothelial cells (EC), including human umbilical vein EC (HUVEC) (242-244), bovine pulmonary artery EC (312), bovine aortic EC (310, 313), porcine aortic EC (16) and human coronary arteriolar EC (314). In the majority of these studies, the effect of resveratrol was to inhibit angiogenesis related processes. The effective dose ranges from 1-100µM, and the mechanism of action includes reduced endothelial production of MMP-2 (309), inhibition of endothelial cell binding to the $\alpha v\beta 3$ integrin receptor (310), reduced ROS dependent Src-dependent phosphorylation of VE-cadherin (308), reduced phosphorylation of MAP kinases (16), upregulation of p21 causing cell cycle arrest in the G1 phase (312), and reductions in phosphorylation of Akt (181, 311, 326) linked in one study to downstream activation of FOXO transcription factors (326). In exploring actions of resveratrol on cancer associated angiogenesis, resveratrol reduced production of VEGF, MMP-2 and MMP-9 by the myeloma cell line RPMI 8226, and reduced its ability to stimulate in vitro angiogenesis in HUVEC (318). Fewer studies have explored the actions of resveratrol on microvascular endothelial cells, although these likely represent the substrate for sprouting angiogenesis in vivo. In human microvessel EC, resveratrol inhibited proliferation, and showed activation of elongation factor 2 kinase (315). Resveratrol also inhibits angiogenesis in the ex vivo aortic explant assay (309). Several in vivo assays, including the corneal micropocket assay, skin Matrigel[™] plug assay and chick chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) assay have also documented an inhibitory effect of resveratrol on angiogenesis (16, 315, 317). Although most of these studies imply that resveratrol inhibits angiogenesis, this may be organ specific. Studies in the heart have shown that resveratrol promotes angiogenesis after myocardial ischemia, and promotes tube formation in human coronary arteriolar EC (314). A recent study also documents a selective effect for 5µM resveratrol, which promoted angiogenesis both in HUVEC and the chick CAM assay, while 20µM had the opposite effect, suggesting some variability in its reported effects in different peripheral assays (311). Its in vitro effects include activation of thioredoxin-1, hemoxygenase-1 and VEGF (315). Little is presently known about the actions of resveratrol on angiogenesis in the CNS. In a study of ischemic injury (stroke), mice were given resveratrol orally (50mg/kg/day) at the time of stroke induction (using nylon suture occlusion of the middle cerebral artery followed by reperfusion 2h later) or with a delay of 24h. Mice were treated for 7 days, and assessed for blood vessel density in the vicinity of the stroke. Control mice showed a reduction in cortical vessel counts, however the reduction was mitigated in mice treated with resveratrol on stroke induction. This was associated with tissue production of VEGF and MMP-2 (320). This implies that resveratrol can protect pre-existing vessels from loss as the result of ischemic injury, perhaps by countering vascular endothelial apoptosis, but does not define its independent effects on cerebral angiogenesis. Also, it is significant that delayed administration was ineffective.

5.4.4. Resveratrol Dosage and Metabolism

Dosage is also a critical consideration in these studies. It is difficult to translate the

in vitro findings to the in vivo setting (172, 181-184). Resveratrol is extensively metabolized in vivo to conjugated forms in the gut and liver. Levels of free resveratrol associated with red wine consumption are in the nM range, while oral administration of higher doses are associated with levels of the order of 1-10µM (176, 327). In vivo studies of angiogenesis in post-ischemic limbs have suggested that red wine polyphenols, of which resveratrol is one, may promote angiogenesis at low doses, but inhibit angiogenesis at higher doses (316). In an attempt to address these differences, studies have examined the effects of low (nM) doses of resveratrol in HUVEC. Gene microarray studies using 100nM resveratrol showed induction of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and downregulation of endothelin-1 (183) and other work showed that 50nM resveratrol increases production of NO via activation of eNOS (328). These studies are of interest, because low dose polyphenols also appeared to stimulate angiogenesis via eNOS stimulation (316), and VEGF may induce angiogenesis via NO (329). It is not clear whether nM doses of resveratrol also promote angiogenesis in the *in vitro* models used to date, but we did not detect pro-angiogenic effects for doses as low as 100nM. The requirement for higher doses to see inhibitory effects may also reflect the artificial conditions used. For instance, cell cultures are routinely exposed to hyperoxic conditions (room air) which increase oxidative stress. As resveratrol is a known antioxidant, perhaps higher doses are necessary to reduce this oxidative stress and unmask more typical effects on angiogenesis related processes. Also, many studies deprive cells of serum, and so increase environmental stress through withdrawal of growth factors.

5.4.5. Present Findings

Given the lack of information on the effect of resveratrol on cerebral angiogenesis,

this study was carried out using cultures of human and bovine brain capillary endothelial cells, and comparisons made with HUVEC. We have previously reported the use of the human brain endothelial cell line hCMEC/D3 as a model of cerebral angiogenesis (321). We report that resveratrol inhibits the processes of endothelial proliferation, migration and tube formation in a dose dependent manner, with maximal effects in the micromolar range (10-100 μ M, Figures 5.1, 5.2, 5.4, and 5.5). Lower doses (100nM, 1 μ M) did not significantly increase these responses. The effects of resveratrol cannot be entirely attributed either to cytotoxicity or apoptosis. However, cytotoxicity was significant when HUVEC were exposed to 100μ M resveratrol (reaching ~ 35%, Figure 5.3). This effect was not assessed in many of the previous studies in HUVEC, and may have confounded some of the previous data. However, although present to a lesser extent in hCMEC/D3, cytotoxicity was absent in BBMEC, suggesting it is not the principal reason for the actions of resveratrol on CNS endothelium. Instead, resveratrol acts by reducing cell cycle progression (Figure 5.3) and is associated with reduced phosphorylation of the signaling molecule Akt (Figure 5.6). In our hands, in hCMEC/D3 cells, resveratrol had no effect on phosphorylation of MAP kinases (ERK1/2, p38 and SAPK/JNK; Appendix II Figure S8). This is similar to reports in HUVEC, in which resveratrol inhibited Akt phosphorylation at either 20 μ M (311) or at 10 and 25 μ M (181). The same doses either had no effect on ERK phosphorylation (181) or showed an inhibitory effect ((311), using 20μ M). Lower doses (5 μ M, (311); 0.5 μ M, (181)) were reported to increase phosphorylation of both Akt and ERK, consistent with a selective pro-angiogenic effect (311), however we did not examine doses lower than 10µM in this study. The same dose range (0.5-25µM, (181)) had no effect on JNK phosphorylation in HUVEC. The actions of

resveratrol on Akt phosphorylation have been studied in a variety of cell types. Resveratrol inhibits Akt phosphorylation in vascular smooth muscle cells, with reduced hypertrophy induced by angiotensin II or epidermal growth factor (330). It also inhibits Akt phosphorylation in a variety of cancer cells (prostate, liver, glioma) (331-333). Downstream effects include reduced mTOR signaling and enhanced apoptosis of glioma cells (331). By contrast, resveratrol increases Akt phosphorylation in hepatic cells after traumatic injury, where it induces upregulation of hemoxygenase-1 as a protective response (334). Akt is upregulated in diabetic myocardial cells by resveratrol, leading to nitric oxide induced glucose uptake via the GLUT-4 transporter (335). The role of Akt is multipotent, but includes the regulation of cell cycle progression, whose effects have a major impact in a variety of CNS diseases such as stroke and Alzheimer's disease (336-338). The potential impact of resveratrol on these diseases is therefore wider than its effects on angiogenesis. However, the present study implies that resveratrol is inhibitory for angiogenesis in the CNS, unlike its distinct pro-angiogenic effect on the myocardium, or possibly in HUVEC at lower doses. As such, it may be effective against certain inflammatory diseases that could be exacerbated by angiogenesis. For instance, resveratrol was effective in reducing the severity of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis, a murine model of multiple sclerosis (339). At high doses in vivo, it was also effective in reducing blood vessel density in implanted rat gliomas (228). The high doses used to inhibit these processes in vitro would probably not correlate to levels of free resveratrol present as the result of red wine consumption, but begin to be significant if oral (pharmacological) dosing with higher doses of resveratrol is taken into account. In one study, resveratrol reached peak serum levels of around $5\mu M$ (340),

similar to the effective doses used in this and other studies. It is also likely that *in vitro* dosing has a poor correlation to *in vivo* levels.

5.5. Conclusion

We present the first report on the effects of resveratrol on *in vitro* processes linked to angiogenesis in the CNS. Resveratrol has a broad inhibitory effect, when applied in the micromolar range. The protective effects of resveratrol on the cardiovascular system, and in stroke, needs to be balanced against its possible inhibitory effect on angiogenesis. Dosage, timing of administration and context are likely to prove critical in assessing the use of resveratrol as a therapy for diseases of the CNS. However, resveratrol may play a useful role as adjunctive therapy in CNS inflammatory diseases such as multiple sclerosis, where inhibition of angiogenesis might be beneficial.

5.6. Acknowledgement

This work was funded by the Nova Scotia Health Research Foundation (grant to AE). P.-L.C. was funded by a George Loh Scholarship from the Department of Pathology, Dalhousie University. Cells were treated for 24h in complete medium (with serum, Control), with vehicle (0.1% DMSO) or resveratrol at indicated doses. Effects of resveratrol on cell proliferation (DNA synthesis) assessed by BrdU incorporation (A) or cell number analyzed by MTT assay (B). Data are normalized to the medium only control and shown as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). Significance is compared to the vehicle control; only significant differences are marked (*P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001). In A, n=10-25 for control, 4-11 for vehicle, and 3-15 for resveratrol. In B, n=11-29 for control, 6-8 for vehicle and 3-19 for resveratrol. This indicates replicate experiments; each experiment pools data from 4 wells per treatment.



Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1.

Figure 5.2. Effect of Resveratrol on Migration Assessed by Scratch Assay.

Cells were treated for 24h with medium (Control), 0.1% DMSO (Vehicle) or indicated doses of resveratrol. A. Shows representative images of the denuded zone, with filling after 24h in control wells. Increases in resveratrol dosage reduce the number of cells entering the zone. Images were taken at 20x magnification (scale bar = 500 μ m) B. Summarizes the data, expressed as mean ± SEM, normalized to the control. Significance is compared to vehicle; only significant differences are marked (*P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001). In B, n=4-22 for control, 4-10 for vehicle, and 4-14 for resveratrol. This indicates replicate experiments; each experiment pools data from 4 wells per treatment.

hCMEC/D3



Figure 5.2.


Figure 5.2.

A. Cytotoxicity assessed from LDH release, expressed as % maximal release from lysed cells. Cells were treated for 24h with vehicle (0.1% DMSO) or indicated doses of resveratrol. B. Apoptosis assessed from caspase-3 activity assay. hCMEC/D3 were treated for indicated times with TRAIL (100ng/ml, positive control), vehicle or resveratrol at indicated doses. C. Representative scatter plots showing content of propidium iodide. hCMEC/D3 cells have been allotted to different phases of the cell cycle as indicated. D. Summary data for proportion of cells in each phase of the cell cycle showing the effect of vehicle (V) or indicated doses of resveratrol on hCMEC/D3 cells. In each plot, data is mean ± SEM, and significance is calculated relative to the vehicle control. Only significant results are marked (*P<0.05, ***P<0.001). In A, n=8 (vehicle) or 16 (resveratrol, each dose). In B, n=3 per treatment. In D, n=10-13 for each bar.



Figure 5.3.



Figure 5.4. Tubule Formation Assay on Matrigel[™] in hCMEC/D3 Cells Treated with Vehicle or Indicated Doses of Resveratrol.

A. Shows representative images of the networks formed after 16h, with a reduction in tubule length for 10 and 100 μ M resveratrol. Images were taken at 20x magnification (scale bar = 500 μ m)B. Shows summary data for average tubule length at 4 and 16h, expressed as mean ± SEM. Data is normalized to the vehicle treated wells at 4h. Significance is relative to vehicle at each time point; only significant results are marked (*P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001). N=6 (vehicle) and 9 for each treatment group. Vehicle, 0.1%DMSO.



Figure 5.4.

Figure 5.5. Ex Vivo Angiogenesis Assay using Explanted Rat Aortic Rings.

A. Shows representative images of the network forming around explants treated with vehicle (0.1% DMSO) or indicated doses of resveratrol after 5 days. The network is delimited by a dashed line superimposed on the images. Images were taken at 4x magnification (scale bar= 500 μ m) B. Summary data showing network area normalized to the area of the explant as a function of time in days. Data is expressed as mean ± SEM for indicated treatments, and significance shown relative to vehicle; only significant results are marked (*P<0.05, **P<0.01). For each group, data is taken from 3-5 separate explants.





Β

Α



Figure 5.5.

Figure 5.6. Resveratrol Induces a Reduction in the Phosphorylated Form of Akt Relative to Total Akt Levels by Western Blot on hCMEC/D3 Cells.

A. Representative blots showing effect of different treatment durations (15min, 1h, 24h) with vehicle (0.1% DMSO) or indicated doses of resveratrol (10, 25, 50 μ M). V: vehicle control. B. Summary data obtained by densitometry for 3-4 blots per treatment. Data is expressed as mean ± SEM and has been normalized to the vehicle treated group at each time point. Significance is relative to the vehicle, and only significant results are shown (*P<0.05, **P<0.01). p-Akt, phosphorylated form of Akt. β -actin was used as a loading control.



Figure 5.6.

CHAPTER 6 – DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

6.1. Overview and Principal Findings

The research outlined in this thesis is focused on the modulatory molecules that underlie the cross talk between inflammation and angiogenesis, especially in the CNS, with a focus on regulation of vessel regression as a way of limiting angiogenesis. Molecules from both endogenous and exogenous sources were examined for their ability to regulate vascular endothelial activation, as well as *in vitro* surrogates for vessel formation and regression. The purpose of the study is to gain an insight into the basic mechanisms that regulate these vascular responses, with an ultimate aim of establishing rationales for potential clinical use in limiting angiogenesis.

The endogenous molecules chosen in this study were TRAIL and FasL from the TNF cytokine superfamily. These factors were chosen because we hypothesized that death ligands could regulate vessel regression by inducing endothelial apoptosis. In this way, they form a link between the immune system and angiogenesis. The literature shows that TNF is a key factor in bridging the processes of inflammation and angiogenesis (39, 117, 119). The role of other members from the same family in the link is not clear, despite the knowledge that levels of these molecules are elevated in many inflammatory conditions and immune diseases.

In addition, an exogenous agent was also included because modulation of endogenous molecules could have adverse physiological effects, particularly over the long term. For example, TNF plays a crucial role in cancer and autoimmune diseases and anti-TNF therapy is used currently to treat these conditions (131). However, TNF is also required for the proper function of the immune system; the anti-TNF treatment can therefore be harmful and lead to immune dysregulation (131). For this reason, phytochemicals derived from fruits and vegetables that are safe to consume might be good therapeutic alternatives, with all the benefits attributed to anti-TNF and other immune modulating therapies. We chose to study resveratrol as the literature shows its potential modulatory role in peripheral endothelium and relatively low toxicity (308, 315). Specifically we hypothesized resveratrol would inhibit cerebral angiogenesis as this has not been previously examined.

Another fundamental aim of this research was to incorporate both commonly used primary human and animal endothelial cell models and to compare these to immortalized cell lines of both peripheral and CNS origin. This can assist in interpretation of data in the literature as many CNS related studies rely on data obtained from peripheral large vessel endothelial cells to reach their conclusions.

The first part of the work (chapter 3) investigated the role of TRAIL and FasL in both endothelial activation and apoptosis. This study showed that FasL and TRAIL did not induce or activate normal human endothelial cells. However, when endothelial cells were sensitized to undergo TRAIL induced apoptosis, TRAIL was able to activate cells simultaneously and promote neutrophil adhesion. This implied that process of vessel regression is enhanced by the direct interactions between endothelial cells and immune effector cells (neutrophils). One way by which neutrophils might induce regression is through production of death ligands (341, 342). Therefore, the second part of the work (chapter 4) focused on the impact of the death ligands, TRAIL and FasL, in the multistep processes of angiogenesis. While these ligand showed modulatory effect on the human peripheral endothelial cell model (HUVEC), they had a significant inhibitory impact on a human brain endothelial cell model (hCMEC/D3) by inducing apoptosis. The work was finally directed to exploring the effects of resveratrol on cerebral angiogenesis related processes since this had not been previously studied. It was found that resveratrol had anti-angiogenic properties in both primary (BBMEC) and immortalized (hCEMC/D3) brain endothelial cell models as well as primary human peripheral endothelial cells (HUVEC). However, resveratrol does not induce apoptosis but instead inhibits endothelial proliferation. This emphasizes that vessel regression can be controlled by different mechanisms.

6.2. General Direction of the Work

As the work progressed, it became clear that there were limitations in examining how TRAIL and FasL were able to stimulate neutrophil adhesion in endothelial models *in vitro*. Although, positive data was obtained in a HUVEC derived cell line (EA.hy926) it became clear that similar results were not seen in primary HUVEC, or in hCMEC/D3. This emphasizes the limitations of EA.hy926 cells as a model (discussed more fully in chapter 3). When we examined hCMEC/D3 cells, we found that TRAIL treatment did not result in changes in ICAM-1 expression (see Appendix II, Figure S.5). This was despite its ability to induce apoptosis in the cell line, as shown in chapter 4. Also, we examined neutrophil adhesion in the cells in response to TRAIL, but could not obtain consistent results. Given these limitations, we decided to examine the literature on angiogenesis, since this is an important aspect of endothelial activation, and one in which apoptosis may play a key inhibitory role. We discovered that the role of TRAIL and FasL was confusing (281, 282), which opened up new avenues for us to explore. The research group has a longstanding interest in cerebrovascular endothelial function, and the blood-brain barrier (244, 343-351). Therefore, we were interested in exploring this using appropriate cell cultures. However, our initial attempts to culture primary brain endothelium from a variety of sources (human, bovine, porcine, rat, and mice) were unsuccessful. Another factor to consider is the difference in response between cells of human versus laboratory animal origin. Also, reagents such as antibodies and the specificity of different ligands is often not adapted to animal models. Sources of primary human brain endothelial cells have become extremely difficult to access, however, the hCMEC/D3 cell line had been described in 2005 (233) and were made widely available to other researchers. We were able to obtain these in 2006 from Dr. Weksler's group. This prompted us to move into studies in this cell line, both to examine cerebral function in a human derived cell, and to begin studies in a relatively novel model.

6.3. Limitations and Future Directions

In the following sections, the rationale of choosing the models and methods used, their limitations, the strengths and weaknesses, and the challenges encountered are discussed. In addition, alternative or additional methods that complement the current findings are provided as future work.

6.3.1. Use of the hCMEC/D3 Cell Line

hCMEC/D3 is an immortalized cell line that has been genetically engineered to possess the ability to divide indefinitely, theoretically, without changing its parental phenotype. Primary cell cultures are generally believed to be a more physiological model system than cell lines. However, after cells are extracted, the supporting cells and tissues are separated from the cells of interest and this causes them to lose factors necessary to maintain their characteristics. For example, after several passages, brain endothelial cells show an increase in permeability (352), a reduction in levels of transporters and enzymes (353), and they alter their phenotype markedly on exposure to astrocyte secreted factors (354-356). However, cell lines tend to be more stable, and less dependent on these variables. The type of cell line also varies in its capacity to express different characteristics. For example, permeability across hCMEC/D3 is much lower than permeability across *in situ* endothelium or some primary culture models (28, 233).

The complexity of CNS endothelium is particularly challenging to represent *in vitro* (357, 358). However, there are several reports on hCMEC/D3 suggesting that it can represent different aspects of cerebral function. These include studies of permeability (233, 355, 359, 360), tight junction biology (233, 361, 362), cytokine function (233, 363), transporter function (364-367), but no studies of angiogenesis to date. Another critique of using hCMEC/D3 cells is that the blood-brain barrier depends on interactions with surrounding cells, so that monocultures may lose certain characteristics. To this end, other studies have tried to mimic these conditions by using co-culture of endothelial cells with other cells such as astrocytes (354, 355, 357, 358) or pericytes (357, 368). In addition, shear stress due to blood flow is also present *in vivo*, and some groups have cultured hCMEC/D3 cells in the presence of shear stress (the "dynamic *in vivo*" flow based conditions) and found reductions in permeability (tightening the barrier)(355) as a result (355). To what extent this limits our modeling of angiogenesis is open to question. We were unable to confirm the results in a primary human brain endothelial cell culture. As well, *in vivo* experiments would be necessary to verify the findings because a

141

reductionist approach was utilized throughout this study (since one cell type and one modulatory agent were examined at a time).

6.3.2. Limitations of Using Large Vessel Endothelial Cells

HUVEC is one of the easiest sources of human endothelial cells to obtain and the most popular human endothelial cell model used *in vitro*. They are relatively easy to maintain compared to microvascular endothelial cells isolated from adult skin or lung. However, HUVEC is of large vessel origin, while many of the vascular responses associated with angiogenesis and inflammation occur in microvascular endothelium (369-372). There is also a question of how representative HUVEC is of function in mature endothelial cells, since they are derived from the umbilical cord, where their function is limited in duration. Although HUVEC possess many endothelial cell specific properties, evidence shows that endothelial cells from different vascular beds display diversity at morphological, functional, biochemical, and molecular levels (369, 370, 372). To address the drawback of using HUVEC, we attempted studies in microvascular endothelium from a peripheral source (dermal HMVEC). Data on the effect of resveratrol and TNF family ligands on these cells is shown in Appendix II, Figure S.6. In general, the results parallel those observed in other primary cultures.

6.3.3. Lack of Response to Growth Factors

A puzzling aspect of the response of hCMEC/D3 cells was their general lack of responsiveness to a variety of pro-angiogenic growth factors. As an angiogenesis related study, growth factors are used as a positive control. Also, we were interested to examine responses to VEGF, because the VEGF₁₆₅ isoform is most often implicated in cerebral angiogenesis (116, 373). For instance, in human autopsy brains after stroke, there is

upregulation of VEGF at 3-4 days at the edge of the infarct which coincides with an increase in new vessel formation (374, 375). VEGF is expressed by choroid plexus, astrocytes and neurons (116). On brain endothelial cells, there are two known VEGF receptors, R1 and R2, and interaction with R2 mediates angiogenesis (116, 376). Expression of R2 is increased by ischemia at the infarct margin (377, 378). R1 acts as a decoy receptor that can bind to VEGF and prevent it from binding to R2 (379-381). Binding of VEGF is enhanced by neuropilins and heparin as a co-factor (376, 382, 383). We showed that hCMEC/D3 express both VEGF-R1 and VEGF-R2 (Appendix II, Figure S.1).

Within the limits of our assay, we were not able to demonstrate responses to most of the growth factors that were tested. Thus, treatment of cells for 24h with VEGF in medium lacking serum or in the presence of 5% FBS did not increase cell uptake of BrdU, cell numbers, cell migration or tube formation (Appendix II, Figures S.2, S.3, and S.4). There was a small but significant increase in BrdU uptake in response to PDGF, but EGF, NGF and bFGF were similarly ineffective (Figure S.2). The cells did however show a marked proliferative response when placed in 5% FBS comparing to those in no serum medium. Since heparin can act as a co-factor for VEGF responses (384), we also combined VEGF with heparin but this did not result in significant increases in BrdU uptake or cell proliferation (Figures S.2 and S.3). As a positive control, we repeated these assays in HUVEC, which responded with significant increases in BrdU incorporation on treatment with the growth factors (Figure 4.1).

The literature on the actions of VEGF includes many studies in HUVEC (282, 385, 386) but there are relatively few studies of the actions of VEGF on brain endothelial cells, either of human or animal origin. Zhao *et al.* (387) reported that VEGF induced a

143

significant increase in tube formation by human brain primary endothelial cells. The ligand was applied for 2h without serum, but tube formation was assessed in medium containing 3% serum for the next 24h. There was a significant increase in tube formation in human primaries but this was significantly enhanced in the cells obtained from the cavernous malformations. Chow et al. (388) reported the effect of VEGF in the rat brain derived endothelial cell line RBE4. In the presence of 10% FBS, VEGF promoted tube formation after treatment for 6 days, but this was only significant with 0.01 and 0.1ng/ml but not with higher doses (1, 10, 20ng/ml). In experiments that studied changes in permeability after treatment with VEGF in porcine brain EC (389), VEGF had no effect on permeability unless the cells were exposed to hypoxia or antioxidants. Taken together, these studies suggest that the response to VEGF depends on activation of the endothelium (e.g. by hypoxia) and that other growth factors (present in serum) may need to be present for VEGF to induce a response. This was the case in HUVEC, but we did not see responses in our serum treated cells. However, it is possible that the effect of many growth factors masks an additive effect of VEGF under these circumstances. Perhaps additional activation, or other durations of treatment would be required to induce a response. However, given the lack of response, it may be difficult to use hCMEC/D3 in order to model pro-angiogenic effects, since positive control data is not easy to obtain. This may reflect the maximal growth rate of immortalized cell lines. Hence we tried to render the cells quiescent using serum deprivation with 2% BSA, but under these conditions, the cells also failed to respond to growth factor stimulation. (Appendix II, Figure S.2, S.3, and S.4) In addition, we tested human VEGF and bFGF in bovine primary brain EC, and did not see responses (Appendix II, Figure S.7). However, this could reflect a species difference, and so still requires further investigation.

6.3.4. Limitations of Activation and Apoptosis Assays

Although neutrophil adhesion assays are in common use to assess endothelial cell activation, there are several limitations. For instance, as mentioned, the use of shear stress during the assay would make it more physiological (390, 391). Also, we could have examined a more extensive time course for adhesion molecule expression, since these can vary considerably between different types of adhesion molecules. As for the approach to sensitize cells to apoptosis, LY294002 is not an entirely specific inhibitor of PI3 kinase, so its ability to sensitize cells could have been complemented by using more specific inhibitors or knockdown experiments with siRNA.

Expression of the FasL, TRAIL and their receptors was examined by flow cytometry. Flow cytometry was exclusively relied upon to assess expression of cell surface proteins. However, additional confirmation with Western blot analysis or cell surface ELISA would be preferable, especially where negative data was obtained. For instance, there are some reports of FasL expression on the surface of endothelial cells (158, 392), an observation we were not able to confirm. In order to control for the possibility that trypsinization cleaves FasL from the cell surface, a control was carried out using a non-enzymatic cell dissociation solution. However, this treatment did not alter the results (data not shown). Since FasL did not result in apoptosis, an additional control was carried out in which FasL induced apoptosis in Jurkat cells (Dr. A Issekutz personal communication). In addition, it would also have been preferable to confirm the presence of apoptosis using more than one assay in each cell type (e.g. combining an annexin V-FITC method with a caspase-3 activity measurement and single stranded DNA analysis).

6.3.5. Limitations of Angiogenesis Assays

We are also aware of several limitations of modeling angiogenesis *in vitro*. In many of these assays, cell numbers are assessed without knowledge of the underlying processes, and there is considerable overlap in effect. For instance, a reduction in BrdU uptake or MTT can either reflect increased cell death (apoptotic or necrotic) or reduced proliferation. However, we did attempt to quantify the relative contribution of each of these processes. Many of the assays involve treating cells when they are subconfluent, in order to see proliferative effects, but this may not reflect responses in a mature culture, where cells are contact inhibited and therefore less likely to proliferate or undergo apoptosis. Moreover, the substratum used (collagen) was not varied in the experiments, although this may be an important variable in determining endothelial responses (368, 393). For instance, the substratum varies secretion of biomolecules (393). Collagen has particular molecular domains are known to alter endothelial proliferation, such as the alpha2(IV)NC1 domain (394). Also, particular extracellular matrix proteins such as fibronectin influence spreading and proliferation by altering integrin clustering on endothelial cells (395).

The migration assay is also limited because it does not distinguish between reduced migration versus reduced proliferation, since fewer cells may migrate into the artificial wound simply due to a reduction in available cell numbers. This could be addressed by using transmigration assays across simple filters or membranes. We attempted one such assay, in which we placed endothelial cells on Matrigel[™] coated filters (a Boyden

chamber based assay) and counted the number of cells migrated through Matrigel[™] during an incubation period of 4-48h. Due to the low invasive properties of the endothelial cells, differences in the number of migrated cells between treatments were too small to be statistically significant. These assays are often used to assess migration of cancer cells, but may be less useful for examining endothelial cells.

More difficulties were encountered when we attempted to assess tubule formation on Matrigel[™]. Many studies rely on simplified images of tube networks on Matrigel[™] to demonstrate pro- or anti-angiogenic effects. However, we found that these networks were highly dependent on different variables, including thickness of Matrigel[™], seeding density, duration, presence or absence of serum, pre-treatment of cells before application, degree of trypsinization, digital image quality, etc. For instance, after cells form solid networks (due to higher seeding density) they become more resistant to inhibitory treatments. When we included serum in our experiments (as a control), this promoted tube formation in the experiments shown in chapter 4, but in later work, serum appeared to be inhibitory. The reasons for this are unclear, but may be due to different batches of serum. Also, we faced difficulties in extracting meaningful data from a series of images. It was not clear how to relate the networks to the formation of a mature vascular plexus. Should we measure tube length, tube area, tube numbers, tube diameter etc? Studies have explored the use of image processing techniques looking at such parameters as vessel length, number of branch points and vessel densities after skeletonising and manipulating images of vessel networks in the chick CAM assay (396). This complexity is not usually reflected in most research reports. To further establish our effects, data could have been included with inhibitors of cytoskeletal proteins, such as

cytochalasin D (397), to determine their ability to inhibit migration. This could determine the relative contribution of migration and proliferation in the scratch assay. We also attempted to validate our findings using an *ex vivo* angiogenesis assay (rat aorta). However, this assay also has limitations, in that the tubules forming around the explants may not be exclusively endothelial in origin. For instance, it has been reported that smooth muscle cells as well as endothelial cells can grow out of the explants depending on the culture conditions (398). We could have done additional staining to confirm the endothelial nature of these tubes, such as Factor VIII and CD31. Furthermore, we could have used other *in vivo* assays of angiogenesis, such as the chick chorioallantoic membrane assay, and retinal angiogenesis assay. Lastly, to complement our angiogenesis work, we could also have studied expression of other modulators of angiogenesis such as MMPs.

In studying the signal transduction of resveratrol, we performed Western blot analysis for a variety of proteins in the MAP kinase family as well as NF-κB. Previous work has shown that resveratrol only inhibits NF-κB in HUVEC after overnight treatment but has no acute effect (399). Since this reduces phosphorylation of NF-κB subunits (p50/p65), we examined relative phosphorlation of p65 in hCMEC/D3 cells but found no effect of prolonged treatment (24 hours) (See Appendix II, Figure S.8-A, NF-κB; Figure S.8-B, ERK1/2). In many cases, resveratrol appeared to reduce the levels of absolute as well as phosphorylated forms of the proteins, so that absolute reductions were not seen. Also, there was some variability in response. Of all the proteins we studied, Akt was the most consistent. Cell cycle analysis was also limited by the inability to separate phases of the cell cycle with propidium iodide staining. For instance, we could not distinguish G0 from G1 or G2 from M phase. Additional work would be necessary to define this in greater detail, such as by using inhibitors or detecting the levels of cell cycle factors such as cyclins, cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), CDK regulatory proteins, cell division control (cdc) proteins, and Rb (retinoblastoma) by Western blot.

6.4. Future Directions

Many of the anti-inflammatory aspects of resveratrol remain to be studied. This includes its possible inhibitory effects on adhesion molecule expression in endothelial cells, and therefore effects on leukocyte adhesion and migration. Preliminary work shows that pre-treatment of hCMEC/D3 cells with resveratrol (50, 100µM) reduces the expression of ICAM-1 induced by TNF (see Appendix II, Figure S.9). This is similar to what was reported to human coronary arterial endothelial cells where resveratrol inhibited NF-kB induced expression of ICAM-1, VCAM, IL-6 and NOS (400). It would be interesting to study a range of adhesion molecules and chemokine expression in different *in vitro* models, and perhaps to study the interaction of other leucocytes, such as T cells, B cells or monocytes. Other aspects of interest include the antioxidant properties of resveratrol and its effects on vascular permeability.

To validate much of the *in vitro* work it would be necessary to carry out studies in animal models. Neutrophil migration can be assessed in different ways, for example by introducing chemokines or cytokines into the peritoneum and enumerating of migrating cells. In addition, experiments can be carried out at the single microvessel level, using both cerebral and peripheral sites. For instance, intravital microscopy can be used to image leukocyte interactions with microvessels on the brain surface (401) and peripheral sites such as mesentery or cremaster muscle (402). These allow neutrophil adhesion and migration to the vessel wall to be directly recorded in real time. Moreover, in the case of TRAIL or FasL, genetically modified mice are available that have reduced expression of TRAIL (403, 404) and receptors (405)(406), and knockdown of both Fas(*lpr*) and FasL(*qld*) (407, 408). Therefore, complementary studies could be carried out in these models, to determine if TRAIL or FasL alters leucocyte interactions with sites of interest. Angiogenesis has been modeled *in vivo* by using the Matrigel[™] plug assay (409-412), in which endothelial cell infiltration and vessel formation are assessed in subcutaneous implants of Matrigel[™]. Tissue site specific angiogenesis can also be assessed. For instance, it could be induced with adenoviral vectors expressing pro- or anti-angiogenic factors, such as VEGF and VEGF receptors (413-415). Many disease models are associated with angiogenesis, including stroke, EAE and cancer models. These offer an opportunity to assess angiogenesis in response to agents such as resveratrol or TRAIL. For instance, it would be interesting to determine whether resveratrol inhibits the cerebral angiogenesis associated with stroke or glioma, since this has yet to be established. In this respect, it would be important to distinguish between resveratrol pre-treatment or application at times after disease onset, since this has a direct bearing on its use as a therapy. Dosage effects are also critical in this context.

6.5. Concluding Remarks

The field of angiogenesis research has concentrated on the impact of hypoxia as a basic stimulus at the earlier stages of angiogenesis. However, less emphasis has been placed on factors that regulate vessel regression at the later stages of angiogenesis. The role of the immune system in angiogenesis is often seen as a secondary factor in which immune cells respond to hypoxia and stimulate vessel formation. This work adds further evidence on how the immune system limits angiogenesis. We have explored endothelial apoptosis as a key mechanism and shown its relationship to neutrophil interactions and the effect of TNF related death ligands.

Cerebral angiogenesis has been less well studied than peripheral angiogenesis which reflects the difficulty in establishing valid models. This study characterized a novel human brain endothelial cell line, hCMEC/D3 as a model of cerebral angiogenesis. It was compared to more established models, using HUVEC and other cell types. While many questions remain unanswered, particularly *in vivo* or in disease models, the basic mechanisms that we have defined in response to TRAIL and resveratrol, provide a necessary foundation for future work. We suggest that the death promoting activity of TRAIL is critical to, and cannot be divorced from, its inflammatory effects, both on neutrophil adhesion as well as an inhibitor of angiogenesis. Fas ligand appears to have a much less active role. By contrast, we describe the first study showing that resveratrol can also inhibit angiogenesis in a cerebral model, but without inducing caspase-dependent apoptosis. Thus we have explored the complementary roles of apoptosis (induced by TRAIL) and cellular modulation (induced by resveratrol) in the regulation of cerebral angiogenesis.

Epilogue:

As my Chinese Kungfu Master, Dr. Hong Tao Tze, once told me, "(World) Peace needs love and love requires balance. If you view a cell like the world, and an organism like the universe, you will understand your pathology studies." Maybe I am still confused by his words. But one thing becomes clear to me is that both stimulating and inhibiting elements are essential to cell function, and it all requires a delicate balance -- the essence of Chinese philosophy of Yin and Yang!

"Life itself is a proper binge." -- Julia Child

APPENDIX I

AI-1: Copyright Permission from the Macmillan Publishers Limited

This is the copy of permission approved from online Copyright Clearance Centre of the Nature Publishing Group (Macmillan Publishers Ltd) to adapt a single figure in the Chapter 1 of this thesis.

NATURE PUBLISHING GROUP LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jan 10, 2011

This is a License Agreement between Pei-Lin Chen ("You") and Nature Publishing Group ("Nature Publishing Group") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Nature Publishing Group, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	2585211315370
License date	Jan 10, 2011
Licensed content publisher	Nature Publishing Group
Licensed content publication	Nature
Licensed content title	The biochemistry of apoptosis
Licensed content author	Michael O. Hengartner
Licensed content date	Oct 12, 2000
Volume number	407
Issue number	6805
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Requestor type	academic/educational

Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of	1
figures/tables/illustrations	
Figures	The Figure (Box 3) entitiled "The roads to ruin: two major apoptotic pathways in mammalian cells."
Author of this NPG article	no
NPG Code	
Title of your thesis /	Modulation of Endothelial Activation and Cerebral Angiogenesis by TNF
dissertation	Family Ligands and Resveratrol: an in vitro Study
Expected completion date	Jan 2011
Estimated size (number of	215
pages)	
Total	0.00 USD

AI-2: Copyright Permission from S. Karger AG Basel

This is the e-mail correspondence with the S. Karger AG Basel Rights and Permissions Department. The permission was granted to use the article in Chapter 3 of this thesis.

Date: Mon, 25 Oct 2010 09:03:13 +0200 [04:03:13 ADT]

From:	Rights and Permissions <permission@karger.ch></permission@karger.ch>
To:	Pei-Lin Chen <pchen@dal.ca></pchen@dal.ca>
Cc:	Reigber, Beth <b.reigber@karger.ch></b.reigber@karger.ch>
Subject:	RE: Request for a permission

Dear Ms Chen,

I would like to refer to your request below.

As to it, kindly be informed that permission is granted herewith to use your article

Chen, P.-L. et al: J Vasc Res 2008;45:111-122

in your PhD thesis provided that full credit is given to the original source and that S. Karger AG Basel is mentioned.

Please note that any further use, edition or distribution requires written permission again and may be subject to a permission fee, as this permission is valid for the above granted edition only. As far as a reproduction of your thesis - with your above mentioned Karger-article - by the Library and Archives of Canada (LAC) is concerned, kindly be advised and informed that we cannot grant permission to have the article loaned, distributed and sold for commercial or non-commercial purposes by the LAC.

The distribution of the article by the thesis program of the LAC does not differ from any other distribution from any other commercial document delivery, which surely is not allowed witout a written consent/agreement with us.

As we could not control the distribution and selling of the article if it was participating in the LAC thesis program, we cannot agree to have it being used it in this non-exclusive license. I hope you do understand our motives.

Sincerely,

Tatjana Sepin Rights and Permissions S. Karger AG Medical and Scientific Publishers Allschwilerstrasse 10 CH - 4009 Basel Tel +41 61 306 12 88 Fax +41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail permission@karger.ch -----Original Message-----From: Pei-Lin Chen [mailto: PCHEN@DAL.CA] Sent: Wednesday, October 20, 2010 12:33 AM To: Rights and Permissions Subject: Request for a permission Dear Tatjana or Silvia, I am preparing my PhD thesis for submission to the Faculty of Graduate Studies at Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada. I am seeking your permission to include a manuscript version of the following paper as a chapter in the thesis: Apoptotic Phenotype Alters the Capacity of Tumor Necrosis Factor-Related Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand to Induce Human Vascular Endothelial Activation Pei-Lin Chen. Alexander Easton Departments of Pathology, and Microbiology and Immunology, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada J Vasc Res 2008;45:111-122 (DOI: 10.1159/000109880) Canadian graduate theses are reproduced by the Library and Archives of Canada (formerly National Library of Canada) through a non-exclusive, world-wide license to reproduce, loan, distribute, or sell theses. I am also seeking your permission for the material described above to be reproduced and distributed by the LAC(NLC). Further details about LAC(NLC) thesis program are available on the LAC(NLC) website (www.nlc-bnc.ca).

Full publication details and a copy of this permission letter/e-mail will be included in the thesis.

Yours sincerely, Pei-Lin Chen

AI-3: Copyright Permission from the Elsevier Limited

This is the copy of permission approved from online Copyright Clearance Centre of the Elsevier Limited to use the article in Chapter 4 of the thesis.

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Oct 25, 2010

This is a License Agreement between Pei-Lin Chen ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited	
	The Boulevard,Langford Lane	
	Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK	
Registered Company Number	1982084	
Customer name	Pei-Lin Chen	
Customer address	#1504 1470 Summer St.	
	Halifax, NS B3H 3A3	
License number	2532740279172	
License date	Oct 19, 2010	
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier	
Licensed content publication	Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications	
Licensed content title	Evidence that tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis	
	inducing ligand (TRAIL) inhibits angiogenesis by inducing	
	vascular endothelial cell apoptosis	
Licensed content author	Pei-Lin Chen, Alexander S. Easton	
Licensed content date	1 January 2010	

391
1
6
reuse in a thesis/dissertation
full article
both print and electronic
Yes
No
In vitro studies on the impact of TRAIL and resveratrol on vascular endothelial activation
Dec 2010
18
GB 494 6272 12

Terms and Conditions

Detailed Terms and Conditions could be found at the Elsevier homepage at http://www.elsevier.com

TERMS AND CONDITIONS related to use the article in this thesis is listed below

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

20. **Thesis/Dissertation**: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

AI-4: Copyright Permission from Bentham Science Publishers Limited

This is the e-mail correspondence with the Bentham Science Publishers Ltd Permissions & Rights Manager. The permission was granted to use the article in Chapter 5 of this thesis.

Date:	Tue, 1 Feb	2011 14:09:41	+0500 [05:09:41	AST]
-------	------------	---------------	-----------------	------

From:	AMBREEN IRSHAD - BSP <ambreenirshad@benthamscience.org></ambreenirshad@benthamscience.org>
То:	pchen@dal.ca
Cc:	'M.Ahmed' <m.ahmed@benthamscience.org></m.ahmed@benthamscience.org>
Subject	RE: C-Query: Permission Requests

Grant of Permission

Dear Dr. Chen:

Thank you for your interest in our copyrighted material, and for requesting permission for its use.

Permission is granted for the following subject to the conditions outlined below:

Anti-Angiogenic Effects of Resveratrol on Cerebral Angiogenesis. Chen PL, Easton AS. Curr Neurovasc Res 2011 Jan 5 (Epub ahead of print).

To be used in the following manner:

Bentham Science Publishers grants you the right to reproduce the material indicated above on a one-time, non-exclusive basis, solely for the purpose described. Permission must be requested separately for any future or additional use.

For an article, the copyright notice must be printed on the first page of article or book chapter. For figures, photographs, covers, or tables, the notice may appear with the material, in a footnote, or in the reference list.

Thank you for your patience while your request was being processed. If you wish to contact us further, please use the address below.

Sincerely,

AMBREEN IRSHAD

Permissions & Rights Manager

Bentham Science Publishers Ltd

Email: permission@bentham.org

URL: www.bentham.org

-----Original Message-----

From: pchen@dal.ca [mailto:pchen@dal.ca]

Sent: Thursday, January 27, 2011 8:26 PM

To: permission@bentham.org

Subject: C-Query: Permission Requests

Dear Ms. Ambreen Irshad ,

Please kindly look at the matter

I am preparing my PhD thesis for submission the Faculty of Graduate Studies at Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada. I am seeking your permission to include a manuscript version of the following paper as a chapter in the thesis:

Anti-Angiogenic Effects of Resveratrol on Cerebral Angiogenesis. Chen PL, Easton AS. Curr Neurovasc Res 2011 Jan 5 (Epub ahead of print).

Canadian graduate theses are reproduced by the Library and Archives of Canada (formerly National Library of Canada) through a non exclusive, world-wide license to reproduce, loan, distribute, or sell these. I am also seeking your permission for the material described above to be reproduced and distributed by LAC(NLC). Further details about the LAC(NLC) thesis program are available on the LAC(NLC) website (www.nlc-bnc.ca).

Full publication details and a copy of this permission letter will be included in the thesis. Yours sincerely,

Pei-Lin Chen

APPENDIX II: SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

Figure S.1. Surface Expression of TRAIL, Fas Ligand and Their Cognate Receptors and the VEGF Receptors R1 and R2 in hCMEC/D3 Cells.

Open histograms indicate fluorescent labeling with receptor specific monoclonal antibodies; shaded histograms show background labeling with isotype-matched control antibody in the same cells. Data are representative of 4 separate experiments.



Figure S.1.

Figure S.2.: Effect of Growth Factors on BrdU Incorporation in hCMEC/D3 Cells.

Growth factor abbreviations are indicated in the text, doses are ng/ml. Data is shown (A) for quiescent cells (in serum free medium containing 2% BSA) or cells in 5% FBS (B), 24 h treatments. Data is normalized to the untreated control, and shown as mean \pm SEM. Significance is compared to the untreated control; only significantly different bars are marked (*=P<0.05, **=P<0.01, ***=P<0.001). In (a), n=8 for untreated cells and n=3 for other groups. In (b), n=13 for untreated cells, n=6 for 2% BSA and n=2-4 for other groups; n= numbers of experiment done on a separate experimental day, and each experiment has 4 replications.



BrdU incorporation (% control)

Figure S.2.
Figure S.3. Effect of Growth Factors and Heparin (H) on hCMEC/D3 Cell Numbers Assessed with the MTT Assay.

Cells were treated in serum free/ 2% BSA (A) or 5% FBS (B) medium for 24 hours. Significance is compared to the untreated control, only significantly different results are marked (***=P<0.001). In (a), n=15 for untreated cells, n=7 for 5% FBS, n=6 for 100ng/ml VEGF and bFGF, and n=4 for other groups. In (b), n=21 for untreated cells, n=12 for 2% BSA, n=7 for 100ng/ml bFGF, and n=2-5 for other groups. n= numbers of experiment done on a separate experimental day, and each experiment has 4 replications. Abbreviations in the text, doses in ng/ml. Data is normalized to the untreated control and expressed as mean ± SEM.



Figure S.3.

Figure S.4.: Cell Migration Assessed with Scratch Assay in hCMEC/D3 in Response to Growth Factors or TNF Family Ligands.

Data (mean \pm SEM) is normalized to the untreated control in serum free/2%BSA (A) or 5% FBS (B) medium. Significance is compared to the untreated control, significantly different results only are marked (**=P<0.01, ***=P<0.001). In (A), n=20 for untreated cells, n=16 for 5% FBS, and n=4-10 for other groups. In (B), n=12 for untreated cells, n=12 for 2% BSA, n=3 for bFGF, and n=4-6 for other groups. n= numbers of experiment done on a separate experimental day, and each experiment has 4 replications. Use of the caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK (50µmol/I) is indicated (CI). Other doses are ng/ml with the exception of TNF (U/mI).



Figure S.4.

Figure S.5. ICAM-1 Expression in hCMEC/D3 Cells Following Treatments with TNF and TRAIL.

Open histograms indicate fluorescent labeling with ICAM-1-specific monoclonal antibodies; shaded histograms show background labeling with isotype-matched control antibody in the same cells. Results showed surface expression of ICAM-1 did not significantly alter on cells treated with TRAIL (100ng/ml) for 24 h. TNF (100U/ml) was a positive control and it induced an increase in ICAM-1 expression.



Figure S.5.

Figure S.6. Impact of Growth Factors, TNF Family Members and Resveratrol on HMVEC Cells.

A. BrdU assay; B. MTT cell proliferation assay; C. Scratch migration assay. Cells were treated for 24 hours in all three assays. Data is normalized to the untreated control, and shown as mean \pm SEM. Significance is compared to the untreated control; only significantly different bars are marked (*=p<0.05, **=p<0.01, ***=p<0.001). In (a), n=2 for untreated cells and n= 1 for other groups. In (b), n=2 for untreated cells and n=1 for other groups. In (c), n=4 for untreated cells and n=2 for other groups; n= numbers of experiment done on a separate experimental day, and each experiment has 4 replications.



Figure S.6.



С



Figure S.6.

В

Figure S.7. Impact of Growth Factors, TNF Family Members and Resveratrol on BBMEC Cells.

A. BrdU assay; B. MTT cell proliferation assay; C. Scratch migration assay. Cells were treated for 24 hours in all three assays. Data is normalized to the untreated control, and shown as mean \pm SEM. Significance is compared to the untreated control; only significantly different bars are marked (*=p<0.05, **=p<0.01, ***=p<0.001). In (a), n=8 for untreated cells and n=3-6 for other groups. In (b), n=8 for untreated cells and n=3-8 for other groups. In (c), n=4 for untreated cells and n=2-4 for other groups; n= numbers of experiment done on a separate experimental day, and each experiment has 4 replications.



Figure S.7.

BBMEC/ MTT



С



Figure S.7.

Figure S.8.Detection of NF-KB and MAPK Signaling Molecules in hCMEC/D3 Cells by Western Blotting.

A. Expression of a phosphorylated form of NF- κ B (p-p65) and total cytosolic protein (p65) were detected by Western blotting analysis. Representative blots show the effect of different treatment durations (5min and 24h) with vehicle (0.1% DMSO) or indicated doses of resveratrol (10, 25, or 50 μ M). B. Summary data obtained by densitometry for 3 blots per treatment. Data is expressed as mean ± SEM and has been normalized to the vehicle treated group at each time point. Significance is relative to the vehicle (*P<0.05, **P<0.01). V=vehicle control.



Figure S.8.

B. Expression of phosphorylated form of MAP kinase ERK1/2 (p-ERK1/2) and total ERK were detected by Western blotting analysis. Representative blots show the effect of different treatment durations (30 minutes and 24 hours) to untreated control (labelled as C), with vehicle (0.1% DMSO; labelled as V) or indicated doses of resveratrol (10, 25, 50, and 100 μ M). B. Summary data obtained by densitometry for 3 blots per treatment. Data is expressed as mean ± SEM and has been normalized to the vehicle treated group at each time point. Significance is relative to the vehicle (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001).

B

30 minutes 24 hours 10 25 50 100 10 25 ٧ 50 100 C Phos-ERK1/2 Total ERK1/2 b-Actin **ERK1/2** 500 Phos-ERK1/2 **Relative Protein Expression** Total ERK1/2 400 (% to control) 300 200 100 BU Res BU Res B N JANU CHIONSO 30 Childrenso SPICHIONSO 39 CHIONSO Jo Peston.S. D'Res 25 n.S 50 Pes 25 n.S Pi Resto 2am CHIDNSO 2AW Ros25 24th Reston 30'Resto 2AM Restons 2AM Rosans Law Restons 24H Restons 2AM Ressons ATT Rests ISINS Treatments

Figure S.8.

Figure S.9. Reduction in TNF-induced ICAM-1 Expression in hCMEC/D3 Cells Treated with Resveratrol.

ICAM-1 expression was detected by flow cytometry. For co-treatment experiments, hCMEC/D3 cells were treated with TNF (100U/ml) and resveratrol (50 or 100 μ M) or vehicle control (0.1%DMSO) for 24 hours. For pre-treatment experiments, cells were treated with resveratrol for 8 hours prior to addition of TNF for 24 hours. Data is an average of two samples obtained on a single day.



Figure S.9.

REFERENCE

- 1. Folkman J. 2006. Angiogenesis. Annu. Rev. Med. 57 : 1-18
- 2. Kobayashi H, Lin PC. 2009. Angiogenesis links chronic inflammation with cancer. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 511 : 185-91
- 3. Costa C, Incio J, Soares R. 2007. Angiogenesis and chronic inflammation: Cause or consequence? *Angiogenesis.* 10 : 149-66
- 4. De Marzo AM, Platz EA, Sutcliffe S, Xu J, Gronberg H, et al. 2007. Inflammation in prostate carcinogenesis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer.* 7 : 256-69
- 5. Carmeliet P. 2003. Angiogenesis in health and disease. Nat. Med. 9: 653-60
- 6. Hehlgans T, Pfeffer K. 2005. The intriguing biology of the tumour necrosis factor/tumour necrosis factor receptor superfamily: Players, rules and the games. *Immunology*. 115 : 1-20
- 7. Aggarwal BB. 2003. Signalling pathways of the TNF superfamily: A double-edged sword. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 3 : 745-56
- 8. Holley JE, Newcombe J, Whatmore JL, Gutowski NJ. 2010. Increased blood vessel density and endothelial cell proliferation in multiple sclerosis cerebral white matter. *Neurosci. Lett.* 470 : 65-70
- 9. Roscoe WA, Welsh ME, Carter DE, Karlik SJ. 2009. VEGF and angiogenesis in acute and chronic MOG((35-55)) peptide induced EAE. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 209 : 6-15
- 10. Hofman FM, Hinton DR, Johnson K, Merrill JE. 1989. Tumor necrosis factor identified in multiple sclerosis brain. *J. Exp. Med.* 170 : 607-12
- 11. McCoy MK, Tansey MG. 2008. TNF signaling inhibition in the CNS: Implications for normal brain function and neurodegenerative disease. *J. Neuroinflammation.* 5 : 45-58.
- 12. Rinta S, Kuusisto H, Raunio M, Paalavuo R, Levula M, et al. 2008. Apoptosis-related molecules in blood in multiple sclerosis. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 205 : 135-41
- 13. Chao HH, Juan SH, Liu JC, Yang HY, Yang E, et al. 2005. Resveratrol inhibits angiotensin II-induced endothelin-1 gene expression and subsequent proliferation in rat aortic smooth muscle cells. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 515 : 1-9
- 14. Lekli I, Szabo G, Juhasz B, Das S, Das M, et al. 2008. Protective mechanisms of resveratrol against ischemia-reperfusion-induced damage in hearts obtained from

zucker obese rats: The role of GLUT-4 and endothelin. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 294 : H859-66

- 15. Thirunavukkarasu M, Penumathsa SV, Koneru S, Juhasz B, Zhan L, et al. 2007. Resveratrol alleviates cardiac dysfunction in streptozotocin-induced diabetes: Role of nitric oxide, thioredoxin, and heme oxygenase. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 43 : 720-9
- Brakenhielm E, Cao R, Cao Y. 2001. Suppression of angiogenesis, tumor growth, and wound healing by resveratrol, a natural compound in red wine and grapes. *FASEB J*. 15 : 1798-800
- 17. Fitzpatrick DF, Hirschfield SL, Coffey RG. 1993. Endothelium-dependent vasorelaxing activity of wine and other grape products. *Am. J. Physiol.* 265 : H774-8
- Fulgenzi A, Bertelli AA, Magni E, Ferrero E, Ferrero ME. 2001. In vivo inhibition of TNFalpha-induced vascular permeability by resveratrol. *Transplant. Proc.* 33: 2341-3
- 19. Shakibaei M, Harikumar KB, Aggarwal BB. 2009. Resveratrol addiction: To die or not to die. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 53 : 115-28
- 20. Kumar V, Abbas AK, Fausto N, Aster J. 2010. Robbins and Cotran Pathologic Basis of Disease, 8th edition. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders. ISBN: 978-0-8089-2402-9.
- 21. Pober JS, Min W, Bradley JR. 2009. Mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction, injury, and death. *Annu. Rev. Pathol.* 4 : 71-95
- 22. Oliver G, Alitalo K. 2005. The lymphatic vasculature: Recent progress and paradigms. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 21: 457-83
- 23. Garcia-Cardena G, Gimbrone MA,Jr. 2006. Biomechanical modulation of endothelial phenotype: Implications for health and disease. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* (176 Pt 2) : 79-95
- 24. Aird WC, Edelberg JM, Weiler-Guettler H, Simmons WW, Smith TW, Rosenberg RD. 1997. Vascular bed-specific expression of an endothelial cell gene is programmed by the tissue microenvironment. *J. Cell Biol.* 138 : 1117-24
- 25. Hawkins BT, Davis TP. 2005. The blood-brain barrier/neurovascular unit in health and disease. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 57 : 173-85
- 26. del Zoppo GJ. 2010. The neurovascular unit in the setting of stroke. *J. Intern. Med.* 267 : 156-71

- 27. Petty MA, Lo EH. 2002. Junctional complexes of the blood-brain barrier: Permeability changes in neuroinflammation. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 68 : 311-23
- 28. Crone C, Olesen SP. 1982. Electrical resistance of brain microvascular endothelium. *Brain Res.* 241 : 49-55
- 29. Butt AM, Jones HC, Abbott NJ. 1990. Electrical resistance across the blood-brain barrier in anaesthetized rats: A developmental study. *J. Physiol.* 429 : 47-62
- 30. Ballabh P, Braun A, Nedergaard M. 2004. The blood-brain barrier: An overview: Structure, regulation, and clinical implications. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 16 : 1-13
- 31. Janigro D (Editor). 2006. The cell cycle in the central nervous system. Totowa, NJ: Human Press Inc. eISBN:1-59745-021-9
- 32. Bell RD, Winkler EA, Sagare AP, Singh I, Larue B, et al. 2010. Pericytes control key neurovascular functions and neuronal phenotype in the adult brain and during brain aging. *Neuron.* 68 : 409-27
- 33. Armulik A, Genove G, Mae M, Nisancioglu MH, Wallgard E, et al. 2010. Pericytes regulate the blood-brain barrier. *Nature* 468: 557-61
- Mojsilovic-Petrovic J, Callaghan D, Cui H, Dean C, Stanimirovic DB, Zhang W. 2007. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) is involved in the regulation of hypoxia-stimulated expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1/CCL2) and MCP-5 (Ccl12) in astrocytes. J. Neuroinflammation. 4 : 12
- 35. Cobb JP, Hotchkiss RS, Karl IE, Buchman TG. 1996. Mechanisms of cell injury and death. *Br. J. Anaesth.* 77 : 3-10
- 36. Zimmerman GA, Albertine KH, Carveth HJ, Gill EA, Grissom CK, et al. 1999. Endothelial activation in ARDS. *Chest.* 116 : 18S-24S
- 37. Pober JS, Cotran RS. 1990. The role of endothelial cells in inflammation. *Transplantation.* 50 : 537-44
- Pober JS, Cotran RS. 1990. Cytokines and endothelial cell biology. *Physiol. Rev.* 70: 427-51
- 39. Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. 2008. Cancer-related inflammation. *Nature.* 454 : 436-44
- 40. Clarke PG, Clarke S. 1996. Nineteenth century research on naturally occurring cell death and related phenomena. *Anat. Embryol. (Berl).* 193 : 81-99

- 41. Majno G, Joris I. 1995. Apoptosis, oncosis, and necrosis. an overview of cell death. *Am. J. Pathol.* 146 : 3-15
- 42. Meier P, Finch A, Evan G. 2000. Apoptosis in development. Nature. 407 : 796-801
- 43. Twomey C, McCarthy JV. 2005. Pathways of apoptosis and importance in development. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* 9 : 345-59
- 44. Henson PM, Hume DA. 2006. Apoptotic cell removal in development and tissue homeostasis. *Trends Immunol.* 27 : 244-50
- 45. Krammer PH. 2000. CD95's deadly mission in the immune system. *Nature.* 407 : 789-95
- 46. Murphy FJ, Hayes I, Cotter TG. 2003. Targeting inflammatory diseases via apoptotic mechanisms. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 3 : 412-9
- 47. Maderna P, Godson C. 2003. Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells and the resolution of inflammation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. 1639 : 141-51
- 48. Serhan CN, Savill J. 2005. Resolution of inflammation: The beginning programs the end. *Nat. Immunol.* 6 : 1191-7
- 49. Ethell DW, Buhler LA. 2003. Fas ligand-mediated apoptosis in degenerative disorders of the brain. *J. Clin. Immunol.* 23 : 439-46
- 50. Friedlander RM. 2003. Apoptosis and caspases in neurodegenerative diseases. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 348 : 1365-75
- 51. Norbury CJ, Zhivotovsky B. 2004. DNA damage-induced apoptosis. *Oncogene.* 23 : 2797-808
- 52. Bitomsky N, Hofmann TG. 2009. Apoptosis and autophagy: Regulation of apoptosis by DNA damage signalling roles of p53, p73 and HIPK2. *FEBS J.* 276 : 6074-83
- Fadok VA, Bratton DL, Konowal A, Freed PW, Westcott JY, Henson PM. 1998. Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J. Clin. Invest. 101: 890-8
- Huynh ML, Fadok VA, Henson PM. 2002. Phosphatidylserine-dependent ingestion of apoptotic cells promotes TGF-beta1 secretion and the resolution of inflammation. *J. Clin. Invest.* 109 : 41-50

- 55. Savill J, Dransfield I, Gregory C, Haslett C. 2002. A blast from the past: Clearance of apoptotic cells regulates immune responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2 : 965-75
- 56. Gardai SJ, Bratton DL, Ogden CA, Henson PM. 2006. Recognition ligands on apoptotic cells: A perspective. J. Leukoc. Biol. 79: 896-903
- 57. Michel JB. 2003. Anoikis in the cardiovascular system: Known and unknown extracellular mediators. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 23 : 2146-54
- 58. Li AE, Ito H, Rovira II, Kim KS, Takeda K, et al. 1999. A role for reactive oxygen species in endothelial cell anoikis. *Circ. Res.* 85 : 304-10
- 59. Frisch SM, Francis H. 1994. Disruption of epithelial cell-matrix interactions induces apoptosis. *J. Cell Biol.* 124 : 619-26
- 60. Nguyen TM, Subramanian IV, Kelekar A, Ramakrishnan S. 2007. Kringle 5 of human plasminogen, an angiogenesis inhibitor, induces both autophagy and apoptotic death in endothelial cells. *Blood.* 109 : 4793-802
- 61. Chau YP, Lin SY, Chen JH, Tai MH. 2003. Endostatin induces autophagic cell death in EAhy926 human endothelial cells. *Histol. Histopathol.* 18 : 715-26
- 62. Belloni D, Veschini L, Foglieni C, Dell'Antonio G, Caligaris-Cappio F, et al. 2010. Bortezomib induces autophagic death in proliferating human endothelial cells. *Exp. Cell Res.* 316 : 1010-8
- 63. Hengartner MO. 2001. Apoptosis: Corralling the corpses. Cell. 104: 325-8
- Wallach D, Varfolomeev EE, Malinin NL, Goltsev YV, Kovalenko AV, Boldin MP. 1999. Tumor necrosis factor receptor and fas signaling mechanisms. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 17: 331-67
- 65. Nagata S. 2006. Apoptosis and autoimmune diseases. IUBMB Life. 58: 358-62
- Ashkenazi A, Dixit VM. 1998. Death receptors: Signaling and modulation. Science. 281: 1305-8
- 67. Feinstein E, Kimchi A, Wallach D, Boldin M, Varfolomeev E. 1995. The death domain: A module shared by proteins with diverse cellular functions. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 20 : 342-4
- Kischkel FC, Hellbardt S, Behrmann I, Germer M, Pawlita M, et al. 1995. Cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1 (Fas/CD95)-associated proteins form a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) with the receptor. *EMBO J.* 14 : 5579-88

- 69. Kaufmann M, Bozic D, Briand C, Bodmer JL, Zerbe O, et al. 2002. Identification of a basic surface area of the FADD death effector domain critical for apoptotic signaling. *FEBS Lett.* 527 : 250-4
- Chinnaiyan AM, Orth K, O'Rourke K, Duan H, Poirier GG, Dixit VM. 1996. Molecular ordering of the cell death pathway. bcl-2 and bcl-xL function upstream of the CED-3-like apoptotic proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 271 : 4573-6
- 71. Medema JP, Scaffidi C, Kischkel FC, Shevchenko A, Mann M, et al. 1997. FLICE is activated by association with the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex (DISC). *EMBO J.* 16 : 2794-804
- Medema JP, Scaffidi C, Krammer PH, Peter ME. 1998. Bcl-xL acts downstream of caspase-8 activation by the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 3388-93
- 73. Li H, Zhu H, Xu CJ, Yuan J. 1998. Cleavage of BID by caspase 8 mediates the mitochondrial damage in the fas pathway of apoptosis. *Cell.* 94 : 491-501
- 74. Luo X, Budihardjo I, Zou H, Slaughter C, Wang X. 1998. Bid, a Bcl2 interacting protein, mediates cytochrome c release from mitochondria in response to activation of cell surface death receptors. *Cell.* 94 : 481-90
- 75. Wei MC, Zong WX, Cheng EH, Lindsten T, Panoutsakopoulou V, et al. 2001. Proapoptotic BAX and BAK: A requisite gateway to mitochondrial dysfunction and death. *Science*. 292 : 727-30
- 76. Chao DT, Korsmeyer SJ. 1998. BCL-2 family: Regulators of cell death. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 16 : 395-419
- 77. Salvesen GS, Renatus M. 2002. Apoptosome: The seven-spoked death machine. *Dev. Cell.* 2 : 256-7
- 78. Kitanaka C, Kuchino Y. 1999. Caspase-independent programmed cell death with necrotic morphology. *Cell Death Differ*. 6 : 508-15
- 79. Leist M, Jaattela M. 2001. Four deaths and a funeral: From caspases to alternative mechanisms. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 2 : 589-98
- Lorenzo HK, Susin SA, Penninger J, Kroemer G. 1999. Apoptosis inducing factor (AIF): A phylogenetically old, caspase-independent effector of cell death. *Cell Death Differ*. 6 : 516-24

- 81. Kim NH, Kang PM. 2010. Apoptosis in cardiovascular diseases: Mechanism and clinical implications. *Korean Circ. J.* 40 : 299-305
- 82. Diaz GD, Li Q, Dashwood RH. 2003. Caspase-8 and apoptosis-inducing factor mediate a cytochrome c-independent pathway of apoptosis in human colon cancer cells induced by the dietary phytochemical chlorophyllin. *Cancer Res.* 63 : 1254-61
- 83. O'Sullivan-Coyne G, O'Sullivan GC, O'Donovan TR, Piwocka K, McKenna SL. 2009. Curcumin induces apoptosis-independent death in oesophageal cancer cells. *Br. J. Cancer.* 101 : 1585-95
- 84. Watson JL, Hill R, Lee PW, Giacomantonio CA, Hoskin DW. 2008. Curcumin induces apoptosis in HCT-116 human colon cancer cells in a p21-independent manner. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 84 : 230-3
- 85. Suhara T, Mano T, Oliveira BE, Walsh K. 2001. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt signaling controls endothelial cell sensitivity to fas-mediated apoptosis via regulation of FLICE-inhibitory protein (FLIP). *Circ. Res.* 89 : 13-9
- 86. Verhagen AM, Vaux DL. 2002. Cell death regulation by the mammalian IAP antagonist Diablo/Smac. *Apoptosis.* 7 : 163-6
- 87. Schimmer AD. 2004. Inhibitor of apoptosis proteins: Translating basic knowledge into clinical practice. *Cancer Res.* 64 : 7183-90
- 88. Silvestre JS, Levy BI, Tedgui A. 2008. Mechanisms of angiogenesis and remodelling of the microvasculature. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 78 : 201-2
- 89. Tabruyn SP, Griffioen AW. 2007. Molecular pathways of angiogenesis inhibition. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 355 : 1-5
- 90. Szekanecz Z, Koch AE. 2007. Mechanisms of disease: Angiogenesis in inflammatory diseases. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Rheumatol.* 3 : 635-43
- 91. Holmes K, Roberts OL, Thomas AM, Cross MJ. 2007. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2: Structure, function, intracellular signalling and therapeutic inhibition. *Cell. Signal.* 19 : 2003-12
- 92. Gitay-Goren H, Soker S, Vlodavsky I, Neufeld G. 1992. The binding of vascular endothelial growth factor to its receptors is dependent on cell surface-associated heparin-like molecules. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267 : 6093-8

- Vander Kooi CW, Jusino MA, Perman B, Neau DB, Bellamy HD, Leahy DJ. 2007. Structural basis for ligand and heparin binding to neuropilin B domains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104 : 6152-7
- 94. Olsson AK, Dimberg A, Kreuger J, Claesson-Welsh L. 2006. VEGF receptor signalling in control of vascular function. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 7 : 359-71
- 95. Erber R, Thurnher A, Katsen AD, Groth G, Kerger H, et al. 2004. Combined inhibition of VEGF and PDGF signaling enforces tumor vessel regression by interfering with pericyte-mediated endothelial cell survival mechanisms. *FASEB J.* 18 : 338-40
- 96. Nishishita T, Lin PC. 2004. Angiopoietin 1, PDGF-B, and TGF-beta gene regulation in endothelial cell and smooth muscle cell interaction. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 91 : 584-93
- 97. Lu C, Kamat AA, Lin YG, Merritt WM, Landen CN, et al. 2007. Dual targeting of endothelial cells and pericytes in antivascular therapy for ovarian carcinoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 13 : 4209-17
- 98. Chakraborti S, Mandal M, Das S, Mandal A, Chakraborti T. 2003. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinases: An overview. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 253 : 269-85
- 99. Hummel V, Kallmann BA, Wagner S, Fuller T, Bayas A, et al. 2001. Production of MMPs in human cerebral endothelial cells and their role in shedding adhesion molecules. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 60 : 320-7
- 100. Wahl ML, Kenan DJ, Gonzalez-Gronow M, Pizzo SV. 2005. Angiostatin's molecular mechanism: Aspects of specificity and regulation elucidated. J. Cell. Biochem. 96 : 242-61
- 101. Hamano Y, Kalluri R. 2005. Tumstatin, the NC1 domain of alpha3 chain of type IV collagen, is an endogenous inhibitor of pathological angiogenesis and suppresses tumor growth. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 333 : 292-8
- 102. O'Reilly MS, Boehm T, Shing Y, Fukai N, Vasios G, et al. 1997. Endostatin: An endogenous inhibitor of angiogenesis and tumor growth. *Cell.* 88 : 277-85
- 103. Chen YH, Wu HL, Li C, Huang YH, Chiang CW, et al. 2006. Anti-angiogenesis mediated by angiostatin K1-3, K1-4 and K1-4.5. involvement of p53, FasL, AKT and mRNA deregulation. *Thromb. Haemost.* 95 : 668-77
- 104. Veitonmaki N, Cao R, Wu LH, Moser TL, Li B, et al. 2004. Endothelial cell surface ATP synthase-triggered caspase-apoptotic pathway is essential for k1-5-induced antiangiogenesis. *Cancer Res.* 64 : 3679-86

- 105. Gupta N, Nodzenski E, Khodarev NN, Yu J, Khorasani L, et al. 2001. Angiostatin effects on endothelial cells mediated by ceramide and RhoA. *EMBO Rep.* 2 : 536-40
- 106. Troyanovsky B, Levchenko T, Mansson G, Matvijenko O, Holmgren L. 2001. Angiomotin: An angiostatin binding protein that regulates endothelial cell migration and tube formation. J. Cell Biol. 152 : 1247-54
- 107. Kang HY, Shim D, Kang SS, Chang SI, Kim HY. 2006. Protein kinase B inhibits endostatin-induced apoptosis in HUVECs. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 39 : 97-104
- 108. Kim YM, Hwang S, Kim YM, Pyun BJ, Kim TY, et al. 2002. Endostatin blocks vascular endothelial growth factor-mediated signaling via direct interaction with KDR/Flk-1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277 : 27872-9
- 109. Shichiri M, Hirata Y. 2001. Antiangiogenesis signals by endostatin. *FASEB J.* 15 : 1044-53
- 110. Song G, Ouyang G, Bao S. 2005. The activation of Akt/PKB signaling pathway and cell survival. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* 9 : 59-71
- 111. Kim D, Chung J. 2002. Akt: Versatile mediator of cell survival and beyond. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 35: 106-15
- 112. Mitsiades CS, Mitsiades N, Koutsilieris M. 2004. The akt pathway: Molecular targets for anti-cancer drug development. *Curr. Cancer. Drug Targets.* 4 : 235-56
- 113. Chang L, Karin M. 2001. Mammalian MAP kinase signalling cascades. *Nature.* 410 : 37-40
- 114. Ilan N, Elkin M, Vlodavsky I. 2006. Regulation, function and clinical significance of heparanase in cancer metastasis and angiogenesis. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 38 : 2018-39
- 115. Kanthou C, Benzakour O. 2000. Cellular effects and signalling pathways activated by the anti-coagulant factor, protein S, in vascular cells protein S cellular effects. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 476 : 155-66
- 116. Storkebaum E, Lambrechts D, Carmeliet P. 2004. VEGF: Once regarded as a specific angiogenic factor, now implicated in neuroprotection. *Bioessays.* 26 : 943-54
- 117. Guadagni F, Ferroni P, Palmirotta R, Portarena I, Formica V, Roselli M. 2007. Review. TNF/VEGF cross-talk in chronic inflammation-related cancer initiation and progression: An early target in anticancer therapeutic strategy. *In Vivo.* 21 : 147-61

- 118. Szekanecz Z, Besenyei T, Szentpetery A, Koch AE. 2010. Angiogenesis and vasculogenesis in rheumatoid arthritis. *Curr. Opin. Rheumatol.* 22 : 299-306
- 119. Aggarwal BB, Shishodia S, Sandur SK, Pandey MK, Sethi G. 2006. Inflammation and cancer: How hot is the link? *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 72 : 1605-21
- 120. Szekanecz Z, Koch AE. 2001. Chemokines and angiogenesis. *Curr. Opin. Rheumatol.* 13: 202-8
- 121. Bodolay E, Koch AE, Kim J, Szegedi G, Szekanecz Z. 2002. Angiogenesis and chemokines in rheumatoid arthritis and other systemic inflammatory rheumatic diseases. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* 6 : 357-76
- 122. Szekanecz Z, Gaspar L, Koch AE. 2005. Angiogenesis in rheumatoid arthritis. *Front. Biosci.* 10 : 1739-53
- 123. Brat DJ, Bellail AC, Van Meir EG. 2005. The role of interleukin-8 and its receptors in gliomagenesis and tumoral angiogenesis. *Neuro Oncol.* 7 : 122-33
- 124. Yoshida S, Yoshida A, Ishibashi T. 2004. Induction of IL-8, MCP-1, and bFGF by TNF-alpha in retinal glial cells: Implications for retinal neovascularization during post-ischemic inflammation. *Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol.* 242 : 409-13
- 125. Sancho-Martinez I, Martin-Villalba A. 2009. Tyrosine phosphorylation and CD95: A FAScinating switch. *Cell. Cycle.* 8 : 838-42
- 126. Killar L, White J, Black R, Peschon J. 1999. Adamalysins. A family of metzincins including TNF-alpha converting enzyme (TACE). *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 878 : 442-52
- 127. Wajant H. 2004. TRAIL and NFkappaB signaling--a complex relationship. *Vitam. Horm.* 67 : 101-32
- 128. Karin M, Lin A. 2002. NF-kappaB at the crossroads of life and death. *Nat. Immunol.* 3 : 221-7
- 129. Li Q, Verma IM. 2002. NF-kappaB regulation in the immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2 : 725-34
- 130. Bradley JR. 2008. TNF-mediated inflammatory disease. J. Pathol. 214 : 149-60
- 131. Sethi G, Sung B, Kunnumakkara AB, Aggarwal BB. 2009. Targeting TNF for treatment of cancer and autoimmunity. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 647 : 37-51

- 132. Aggarwal BB, Schwarz L, Hogan ME, Rando RF. 1996. Triple helix-forming oligodeoxyribonucleotides targeted to the human tumor necrosis factor (TNF) gene inhibit TNF production and block the TNF-dependent growth of human glioblastoma tumor cells. *Cancer Res.* 56 : 5156-64
- 133. Goillot E, Combaret V, Ladenstein R, Baubet D, Blay JY, et al. 1992. Tumor necrosis factor as an autocrine growth factor for neuroblastoma. *Cancer Res.* 52 : 3194-200
- 134. Nabors LB, Suswam E, Huang Y, Yang X, Johnson MJ, King PH. 2003. Tumor necrosis factor alpha induces angiogenic factor up-regulation in malignant glioma cells: A role for RNA stabilization and HuR. *Cancer Res.* 63 : 4181-7
- 135. Wiley SR, Schooley K, Smolak PJ, Din WS, Huang CP, et al. 1995. Identification and characterization of a new member of the TNF family that induces apoptosis. *Immunity.* 3 : 673-82
- 136. Clarke N, Nebbioso A, Altucci L, Gronemeyer H. 2005. TRAIL: At the center of drugable anti-tumor pathways. *Cell. Cycle.* 4 : 914-8
- 137. Cretney E, Takeda K, Smyth MJ. 2007. Cancer: Novel therapeutic strategies that exploit the TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)/TRAIL receptor pathway. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 39 : 280-6
- 138. Hoffmann O, Zipp F, Weber JR. 2009. Tumour necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) in central nervous system inflammation. *J. Mol. Med.* 87 : 753-63
- 139. Dorr J, Bechmann I, Waiczies S, Aktas O, Walczak H, et al. 2002. Lack of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand but presence of its receptors in the human brain. *J. Neurosci.* 22 : RC209
- 140. Cannella B, Gaupp S, Omari KM, Raine CS. 2007. Multiple sclerosis: Death receptor expression and oligodendrocyte apoptosis in established lesions. J. Neuroimmunol. 188 : 128-37
- 141. Aktas O, Smorodchenko A, Brocke S, Infante-Duarte C, Schulze Topphoff U, et al. 2005. Neuronal damage in autoimmune neuroinflammation mediated by the death ligand TRAIL. *Neuron.* 46 : 421-32
- 142. Corallini F, Rimondi E, Secchiero P. 2008. TRAIL and osteoprotegerin: A role in endothelial physiopathology? *Front. Biosci.* 13 : 135-47
- 143. Falschlehner C, Emmerich CH, Gerlach B, Walczak H. 2007. TRAIL signalling: Decisions between life and death. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 39 : 1462-75

- 144. Degli-Esposti MA, Dougall WC, Smolak PJ, Waugh JY, Smith CA, Goodwin RG. 1997. The novel receptor TRAIL-R4 induces NF-kappaB and protects against TRAIL-mediated apoptosis, yet retains an incomplete death domain. *Immunity.* 7: 813-20
- 145. Li JH, Kirkiles-Smith NC, McNiff JM, Pober JS. 2003. TRAIL induces apoptosis and inflammatory gene expression in human endothelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 171 : 1526-33
- 146. Choi C, Benveniste EN. 2004. Fas ligand/Fas system in the brain: Regulator of immune and apoptotic responses. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 44 : 65-81
- 147. Nagata S. 1999. Fas ligand-induced apoptosis. Annu. Rev. Genet. 33: 29-55
- 148. Bechmann I, Steiner B, Gimsa U, Mor G, Wolf S, et al. 2002. Astrocyte-induced T cell elimination is CD95 ligand dependent. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 132 : 60-5
- 149. Bechmann I, Mor G, Nilsen J, Eliza M, Nitsch R, Naftolin F. 1999. FasL (CD95L, Apo1L) is expressed in the normal rat and human brain: Evidence for the existence of an immunological brain barrier. *Glia.* 27 : 62-74
- 150. Connolly K, Cho YH, Duan R, Fikes J, Gregorio T, et al. 2001. In vivo inhibition of fas ligand-mediated killing by TR6, a fas ligand decoy receptor. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 298 : 25-33
- 151. Pitti RM, Marsters SA, Lawrence DA, Roy M, Kischkel FC, et al. 1998. Genomic amplification of a decoy receptor for fas ligand in lung and colon cancer. *Nature*. 396 : 699-703
- 152. Bechmann I, Lossau S, Steiner B, Mor G, Gimsa U, Nitsch R. 2000. Reactive astrocytes upregulate fas (CD95) and fas ligand (CD95L) expression but do not undergo programmed cell death during the course of anterograde degeneration. *Glia.* 32 : 25-41
- 153. Saas P, Boucraut J, Quiquerez AL, Schnuriger V, Perrin G, et al. 1999. CD95 (Fas/Apo-1) as a receptor governing astrocyte apoptotic or inflammatory responses: A key role in brain inflammation? J. Immunol. 162 : 2326-33
- 154. Biedermann BC, Pober JS. 1998. Human endothelial cells induce and regulate cytolytic T cell differentiation. *J. Immunol.* 161 : 4679-87
- 155. Zheng L, Dengler TJ, Kluger MS, Madge LA, Schechner JS, et al. 2000. Cytoprotection of human umbilical vein endothelial cells against apoptosis and

CTL-mediated lysis provided by caspase-resistant bcl-2 without alterations in growth or activation responses. *J. Immunol.* 164 : 4665-71

- 156. Belanger AJ, Scaria A, Lu H, Sullivan JA, Cheng SH, et al. 2001. Fas ligand/Fasmediated apoptosis in human coronary artery smooth muscle cells: Therapeutic implications of fratricidal mode of action. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 51 : 749-61
- 157. Schneider P, Holler N, Bodmer JL, Hahne M, Frei K, et al. 1998. Conversion of membrane-bound fas(CD95) ligand to its soluble form is associated with downregulation of its proapoptotic activity and loss of liver toxicity. *J. Exp. Med.* 187: 1205-13
- 158. Sata M, Walsh K. 1998. TNFalpha regulation of fas ligand expression on the vascular endothelium modulates leukocyte extravasation. *Nat. Med.* 4 : 415-20
- 159. Lee HO, Ferguson TA. 2003. Biology of FasL. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 14 : 325-35
- 160. Biancone L, Martino AD, Orlandi V, Conaldi PG, Toniolo A, Camussi G. 1997. Development of inflammatory angiogenesis by local stimulation of fas in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 186 : 147-52
- 161. Ahmed S. 2010. Green tea polyphenol epigallocatechin 3-gallate in arthritis: Progress and promise. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 12 : 208
- 162. Bar-Sela G, Epelbaum R, Schaffer M. 2010. Curcumin as an anti-cancer agent: Review of the gap between basic and clinical applications. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 17: 190-7
- 163. Del Rio D, Borges G, Crozier A. 2010. Berry flavonoids and phenolics: Bioavailability and evidence of protective effects. *Br. J. Nutr.* 104 Suppl 3 : S67-90
- 164. Ghosh D, Scheepens A. 2009. Vascular action of polyphenols. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 53 : 322-31
- 165. Raederstorff D. 2009. Antioxidant activity of olive polyphenols in humans: A review. *Int. J. Vitam. Nutr. Res.* 79 : 152-65
- 166. Sies H. 2010. Polyphenols and health: Update and perspectives. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 501 : 2-5
- 167. Walzem RL. 2008. Wine and health: State of proofs and research needs. *Inflammopharmacology.* 16 : 265-71

- 168. Basu A, Penugonda K. 2009. Pomegranate juice: A heart-healthy fruit juice. *Nutr. Rev.* 67 : 49-56
- 169. Wongcharoen W, Phrommintikul A. 2009. The protective role of curcumin in cardiovascular diseases. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 133 : 145-51
- 170. Zhang F, Liu J, Shi JS. 2010. Anti-inflammatory activities of resveratrol in the brain: Role of resveratrol in microglial activation. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 636 : 1-7
- 171. Labinskyy N, Csiszar A, Veress G, Stef G, Pacher P, et al. 2006. Vascular dysfunction in aging: Potential effects of resveratrol, an anti-inflammatory phytoestrogen. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 13 : 989-96
- 172. Aggarwal BB, Bhardwaj A, Aggarwal RS, Seeram NP, Shishodia S, Takada Y. 2004. Role of resveratrol in prevention and therapy of cancer: Preclinical and clinical studies. *Anticancer Res.* 24 : 2783-840
- 173. Pervaiz S, Holme AL. 2009. Resveratrol: Its biologic targets and functional activity. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 11 : 2851-97
- 174. Wenzel E, Somoza V. 2005. Metabolism and bioavailability of trans-resveratrol. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 49 : 472-81
- 175. Yu C, Shin YG, Chow A, Li Y, Kosmeder JW, et al. 2002. Human, rat, and mouse metabolism of resveratrol. *Pharm. Res.* 19 : 1907-14
- 176. Baur JA, Sinclair DA. 2006. Therapeutic potential of resveratrol: The in vivo evidence. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 5 : 493-506
- 177. Walle T, Hsieh F, DeLegge MH, Oatis JE, Jr, Walle UK. 2004. High absorption but very low bioavailability of oral resveratrol in humans. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 32 : 1377-82
- 178. Vitrac X, Desmouliere A, Brouillaud B, Krisa S, Deffieux G, et al. 2003. Distribution of [14C]-trans-resveratrol, a cancer chemopreventive polyphenol, in mouse tissues after oral administration. *Life Sci.* 72 : 2219-33
- 179. Asensi M, Medina I, Ortega A, Carretero J, Bano MC, et al. 2002. Inhibition of cancer growth by resveratrol is related to its low bioavailability. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 33 : 387-98
- 180. Wang Q, Xu J, Rottinghaus GE, Simonyi A, Lubahn D, et al. 2002. Resveratrol protects against global cerebral ischemic injury in gerbils. *Brain Res.* 958 : 439-47

- 181. Pasciu V, Posadino AM, Cossu A, Sanna B, Tadolini B, et al. 2010. Akt downregulation by flavin oxidase-induced ROS generation mediates dose-dependent endothelial cell damage elicited by natural antioxidants. *Toxicol. Sci.* 114 : 101-12
- 182. Lakota K, Mrak-Poljsak K, Rozman B, Sodin-Semrl S. 2009. Increased responsiveness of human coronary artery endothelial cells in inflammation and coagulation. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2009 : 146872
- 183. Nicholson SK, Tucker GA, Brameld JM. 2008. Effects of dietary polyphenols on gene expression in human vascular endothelial cells. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 67 : 42-7
- 184. Hsieh TC, Lu X, Guo J, Wu JM. 2010. Differential regulation of proliferation, cell cycle control and gene expression in cultured human aortic and pulmonary artery endothelial cells by resveratrol. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 26 : 743-9
- 185. Gehm BD, McAndrews JM, Chien PY, Jameson JL. 1997. Resveratrol, a polyphenolic compound found in grapes and wine, is an agonist for the estrogen receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 94 : 14138-43
- 186. Bowers JL, Tyulmenkov VV, Jernigan SC, Klinge CM. 2000. Resveratrol acts as a mixed agonist/antagonist for estrogen receptors alpha and beta. *Endocrinology*. 141 : 3657-67
- 187. Pozo-Guisado E, Lorenzo-Benayas MJ, Fernandez-Salguero PM. 2004. Resveratrol modulates the phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway through an estrogen receptor alpha-dependent mechanism: Relevance in cell proliferation. *Int. J. Cancer.* 109 : 167-73
- 188. Pozo-Guisado E, Merino JM, Mulero-Navarro S, Lorenzo-Benayas MJ, Centeno F, et al. 2005. Resveratrol-induced apoptosis in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells involves a caspase-independent mechanism with downregulation of bcl-2 and NF-kappaB. Int. J. Cancer. 115 : 74-84
- 189. Bhola NE, Grandis JR. 2008. Crosstalk between G-protein-coupled receptors and epidermal growth factor receptor in cancer. *Front. Biosci.* 13 : 1857-65
- 190. Aggarwal BB, Shishodia S. 2006. Molecular targets of dietary agents for prevention and therapy of cancer. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 71 : 1397-421
- 191. Meeran SM, Katiyar SK. 2008. Cell cycle control as a basis for cancer chemoprevention through dietary agents. *Front. Biosci.* 13 : 2191-202

- 192. Pang PH, Lin YH, Lee YH, Hou HH, Hsu SP, Juan SH. 2008. Molecular mechanisms of p21 and p27 induction by 3-methylcholanthrene, an aryl-hydrocarbon receptor agonist, involved in antiproliferation of human umbilical vascular endothelial cells. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 215 : 161-71
- 193. Fulda S, Debatin KM. 2004. Sensitization for tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-induced apoptosis by the chemopreventive agent resveratrol. *Cancer Res.* 64 : 337-46
- 194. Shankar S, Singh G, Srivastava RK. 2007. Chemoprevention by resveratrol: Molecular mechanisms and therapeutic potential. *Front. Biosci.* 12 : 4839-54
- 195. Araim O, Ballantyne J, Waterhouse AL, Sumpio BE. 2002. Inhibition of vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation with red wine and red wine polyphenols. *J. Vasc. Surg.* 35 : 1226-32
- 196. Gagliano N, Aldini G, Colombo G, Rossi R, Colombo R, et al. 2010. The potential of resveratrol against human gliomas. *Anticancer Drugs.* 21 : 140-50
- 197. Holian O, Walter RJ. 2001. Resveratrol inhibits the proliferation of normal human keratinocytes in vitro. *J. Cell. Biochem. Suppl.* Suppl 36 : 55-62
- 198. Juan SH, Lee JL, Ho PY, Lee YH, Lee WS. 2006. Antiproliferative and antiangiogenic effects of 3-methylcholanthrene, an aryl-hydrocarbon receptor agonist, in human umbilical vascular endothelial cells. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 530 : 1-8
- 199. King RE, Kent KD, Bomser JA. 2005. Resveratrol reduces oxidation and proliferation of human retinal pigment epithelial cells via extracellular signal-regulated kinase inhibition. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 151 : 143-9
- 200. Lee MH, Choi BY, Kundu JK, Shin YK, Na HK, Surh YJ. 2009. Resveratrol suppresses growth of human ovarian cancer cells in culture and in a murine xenograft model: Eukaryotic elongation factor 1A2 as a potential target. *Cancer Res.* 69 : 7449-58
- 201. Mgbonyebi OP, Russo J, Russo IH. 1998. Antiproliferative effect of synthetic resveratrol on human breast epithelial cells. *Int. J. Oncol.* 12: 865-9
- 202. Tan Y, Lim LH. 2008. Trans-resveratrol, an extract of red wine, inhibits human eosinophil activation and degranulation. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 155 : 995-1004
- 203. Wang XB, Huang J, Zou JG, Su EB, Shan QJ, et al. 2007. Effects of resveratrol on number and activity of endothelial progenitor cells from human peripheral blood. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 34 : 1109-15

- 204. Shankar S, Chen Q, Siddiqui I, Sarva K, Srivastava RK. 2007. Sensitization of TRAIL-resistant LNCaP cells by resveratrol (3, 4', 5 tri-hydroxystilbene): Molecular mechanisms and therapeutic potential. J. Mol. Signal. 2 : 7
- 205. Delmas D, Rebe C, Micheau O, Athias A, Gambert P, et al. 2004. Redistribution of CD95, DR4 and DR5 in rafts accounts for the synergistic toxicity of resveratrol and death receptor ligands in colon carcinoma cells. *Oncogene.* 23 : 8979-86
- 206. Renaud S, de Lorgeril M. 1992. Wine, alcohol, platelets, and the french paradox for coronary heart disease. *Lancet.* 339 : 1523-6
- 207. Rius C, Abu-Taha M, Hermenegildo C, Piqueras L, Cerda-Nicolas JM, et al. 2010. Trans- but not cis-resveratrol impairs angiotensin-II-mediated vascular inflammation through inhibition of NF-kappaB activation and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma upregulation. J. Immunol. 185 : 3718-27
- 208. Bishayee A. 2009. Cancer prevention and treatment with resveratrol: From rodent studies to clinical trials. *Cancer. Prev. Res. (Phila).* 2 : 409-18
- 209. Das S, Alagappan VK, Bagchi D, Sharma HS, Maulik N, Das DK. 2005. Coordinated induction of iNOS-VEGF-KDR-eNOS after resveratrol consumption: A potential mechanism for resveratrol preconditioning of the heart. *Vascul. Pharmacol.* 42: 281-9
- 210. Das S, Khan N, Mukherjee S, Bagchi D, Gurusamy N, et al. 2008. Redox regulation of resveratrol-mediated switching of death signal into survival signal. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 44 : 82-90
- 211. Das S, Das DK. 2007. Resveratrol: A therapeutic promise for cardiovascular diseases. *Recent. Pat. Cardiovasc. Drug Discov.* 2 : 133-8
- 212. Mokni M, Limam F, Elkahoui S, Amri M, Aouani E. 2007. Strong cardioprotective effect of resveratrol, a red wine polyphenol, on isolated rat hearts after ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 457 : 1-6
- 213. Dernek S, Ikizler M, Erkasap N, Ergun B, Koken T, et al. 2004. Cardioprotection with resveratrol pretreatment: Improved beneficial effects over standard treatment in rat hearts after global ischemia. *Scand. Cardiovasc. J.* 38 : 245-54
- 214. Das S, Cordis GA, Maulik N, Das DK. 2005. Pharmacological preconditioning with resveratrol: Role of CREB-dependent bcl-2 signaling via adenosine A3 receptor activation. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 288 : H328-35

- 215. Dudley J, Das S, Mukherjee S, Das DK. 2009. Resveratrol, a unique phytoalexin present in red wine, delivers either survival signal or death signal to the ischemic myocardium depending on dose. J. Nutr. Biochem. 20 : 443-52
- 216. Lu X, Ma L, Ruan L, Kong Y, Mou H, et al. 2010. Resveratrol differentially modulates inflammatory responses of microglia and astrocytes. J. Neuroinflammation. 7 : 46
- 217. Darvesh AS, Carroll RT, Bishayee A, Geldenhuys WJ, Van der Schyf CJ. 2010. Oxidative stress and alzheimer's disease: Dietary polyphenols as potential therapeutic agents. *Expert Rev. Neurother.* 10 : 729-45
- 218. Marambaud P, Zhao H, Davies P. 2005. Resveratrol promotes clearance of alzheimer's disease amyloid-beta peptides. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280 : 37377-82
- 219. Lee MK, Kang SJ, Poncz M, Song KJ, Park KS. 2007. Resveratrol protects SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells from apoptosis induced by dopamine. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 39 : 376-84
- 220. Sinha K, Chaudhary G, Gupta YK. 2002. Protective effect of resveratrol against oxidative stress in middle cerebral artery occlusion model of stroke in rats. *Life Sci.* 71: 655-65
- 221. Raval AP, Lin HW, Dave KR, Defazio RA, Della Morte D, et al. 2008. Resveratrol and ischemic preconditioning in the brain. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 15 : 1545-51
- 222. Yousuf S, Atif F, Ahmad M, Hoda N, Ishrat T, et al. 2009. Resveratrol exerts its neuroprotective effect by modulating mitochondrial dysfunctions and associated cell death during cerebral ischemia. *Brain Res.* 1250 : 242-53
- 223. Albani D, Polito L, Signorini A, Forloni G. 2010. Neuroprotective properties of resveratrol in different neurodegenerative disorders. *Biofactors.* 36 : 370-6
- 224. Mattson MP, Son TG, Camandola S. 2007. Viewpoint: Mechanisms of action and therapeutic potential of neurohormetic phytochemicals. *Dose Response.* 5 : 174-86
- 225. Tang BL. 2010. Resveratrol is neuroprotective because it is not a direct activator of Sirt1-A hypothesis. *Brain Res. Bull.* 81 : 359-61
- 226. Tang BL, Chua CE. 2008. SIRT1 and neuronal diseases. *Mol. Aspects Med.* 29: 187-200
- 227. Ramadori G, Gautron L, Fujikawa T, Vianna CR, Elmquist JK, Coppari R. 2009. Central administration of resveratrol improves diet-induced diabetes. *Endocrinology.* 150 : 5326-33

- 228. Tseng SH, Lin SM, Chen JC, Su YH, Huang HY, et al. 2004. Resveratrol suppresses the angiogenesis and tumor growth of gliomas in rats. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10 : 2190-202
- 229. Lu KT, Chiou RY, Chen LG, Chen MH, Tseng WT, et al. 2006. Neuroprotective effects of resveratrol on cerebral ischemia-induced neuron loss mediated by free radical scavenging and cerebral blood flow elevation. J. Agric. Food Chem. 54 : 3126-31
- 230. Della-Morte D, Dave KR, DeFazio RA, Bao YC, Raval AP, Perez-Pinzon MA. 2009. Resveratrol pretreatment protects rat brain from cerebral ischemic damage via a sirtuin 1-uncoupling protein 2 pathway. *Neuroscience*. 159 : 993-1002
- 231. Hengartner MO. 2000. The biochemistry of apoptosis. Nature. 407 : 770-6
- Edgell CJ, McDonald CC, Graham JB. 1983. Permanent cell line expressing human factor VIII-related antigen established by hybridization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 80 : 3734-7
- 233. Weksler BB, Subileau EA, Perriere N, Charneau P, Holloway K, et al. 2005.
 Blood-brain barrier-specific properties of a human adult brain endothelial cell line.
 FASEB J. 19 : 1872-4
- 234. Connolly DT, Knight MB, Harakas NK, Wittwer AJ, Feder J. 1986. Determination of the number of endothelial cells in culture using an acid phosphatase assay. *Anal. Biochem.* 152 : 136-40
- 235. Koopman G, Reutelingsperger CP, Kuijten GA, Keehnen RM, Pals ST, van Oers MH.
 1994. Annexin V for flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine expression on B cells undergoing apoptosis. *Blood.* 84 : 1415-20
- 236. Liang CC, Park AY, Guan JL. 2007. In vitro scratch assay: A convenient and inexpensive method for analysis of cell migration in vitro. *Nat. Protoc.* 2 : 329-33
- 237. Nicosia RF, Ottinetti A. 1990. Growth of microvessels in serum-free matrix culture of rat aorta. A quantitative assay of angiogenesis in vitro. *Lab. Invest.* 63 : 115-22
- 238. Degli-Esposti M. 1999. To die or not to die--the quest of the TRAIL receptors. J. Leukoc. Biol. 65 : 535-42
- 239. Ashkenazi A, Pai RC, Fong S, Leung S, Lawrence DA, et al. 1999. Safety and antitumor activity of recombinant soluble Apo2 ligand. J. Clin. Invest. 104 : 155-62
- 240. Zhang XD, Nguyen T, Thomas WD, Sanders JE, Hersey P. 2000. Mechanisms of resistance of normal cells to TRAIL induced apoptosis vary between different cell types. *FEBS Lett.* 482 : 193-9

- 241. Nesterov A, Ivashchenko Y, Kraft AS. 2002. Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) triggers apoptosis in normal prostate epithelial cells. *Oncogene*. 21 : 1135-40
- 242. Secchiero P, Gonelli A, Carnevale E, Milani D, Pandolfi A, et al. 2003. TRAIL promotes the survival and proliferation of primary human vascular endothelial cells by activating the akt and ERK pathways. *Circulation*. 107 : 2250-6
- 243. Mori E, Thomas M, Motoki K, Nakazawa K, Tahara T, et al. 2004. Human normal hepatocytes are susceptible to apoptosis signal mediated by both TRAIL-R1 and TRAIL-R2. *Cell Death Differ.* 11 : 203-7
- 244. Alladina SJ, Song JH, Davidge ST, Hao C, Easton AS. 2005. TRAIL-induced apoptosis in human vascular endothelium is regulated by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt through the short form of cellular FLIP and bcl-2. *J. Vasc. Res.* 42 : 337-47
- 245. Stefanec T. 2000. Endothelial apoptosis: Could it have a role in the pathogenesis and treatment of disease? *Chest.* 117 : 841-54
- 246. Dimmeler S, Zeiher AM. 2000. Endothelial cell apoptosis in angiogenesis and vessel regression. *Circ. Res.* 87 : 434-9
- 247. Collins T, Read MA, Neish AS, Whitley MZ, Thanos D, Maniatis T. 1995. Transcriptional regulation of endothelial cell adhesion molecules: NF-kappa B and cytokine-inducible enhancers. *FASEB J.* 9 : 899-909
- 248. Secchiero P, Corallini F, di Iasio MG, Gonelli A, Barbarotto E, Zauli G. 2005. TRAIL counteracts the proadhesive activity of inflammatory cytokines in endothelial cells by down-modulating CCL8 and CXCL10 chemokine expression and release. *Blood.* 105 : 3413-9
- 249. Bouis D, Hospers GA, Meijer C, Molema G, Mulder NH. 2001. Endothelium in vitro: A review of human vascular endothelial cell lines for blood vessel-related research. *Angiogenesis.* 4 : 91-102
- 250. Unger RE, Krump-Konvalinkova V, Peters K, Kirkpatrick CJ. 2002. In vitro expression of the endothelial phenotype: Comparative study of primary isolated cells and cell lines, including the novel cell line HPMEC-ST1.6R. *Microvasc. Res.* 64 : 384-97
- 251. Thornhill MH, Li J, Haskard DO. 1993. Leucocyte endothelial cell adhesion: A study comparing human umbilical vein endothelial cells and the endothelial cell line EA-hy-926. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 38 : 279-86

- 252. Brown KA, Vora A, Biggerstaff J, Edgell CJ, Oikle S, et al. 1993. Application of an immortalized human endothelial cell line to the leucocyte:Endothelial adherence assay. *J. Immunol. Methods.* 163 : 13-22
- 253. Kita M, Eguchi K, Kawabe Y, Tsukada T, Migita K, et al. 1996. Staphylococcal enterotoxin B-specific adhesion of murine splenic T cells to a human endothelial cell line. *Immunology.* 88 : 441-6
- 254. Samali A, Cai J, Zhivotovsky B, Jones DP, Orrenius S. 1999. Presence of a pre-apoptotic complex of pro-caspase-3, Hsp60 and Hsp10 in the mitochondrial fraction of jurkat cells. *EMBO J.* 18 : 2040-8
- 255. Vermes I, Haanen C, Steffens-Nakken H, Reutelingsperger C. 1995. A novel assay for apoptosis. flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine expression on early apoptotic cells using fluorescein labelled annexin V. J. Immunol. Methods. 184 : 39-51
- 256. Wang Q, Doerschuk CM. 2002. The signaling pathways induced by neutrophil-endothelial cell adhesion. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 4 : 39-47
- 257. De Martin R, Hoeth M, Hofer-Warbinek R, Schmid JA. 2000. The transcription factor NF-kappa B and the regulation of vascular cell function. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 20 : E83-8
- 258. Weber C, Erl W. 2000. Modulation of vascular cell activation, function, and apoptosis: Role of antioxidants and nuclear factor-kappa B. *Curr. Top. Cell. Regul.* 36 : 217-35
- 259. Gochuico BR, Zhang J, Ma BY, Marshak-Rothstein A, Fine A. 2000. TRAIL expression in vascular smooth muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 278 : L1045-50
- 260. Duval H, Harris M, Li J, Johnson N, Print C. 2003. New insights into the function and regulation of endothelial cell apoptosis. *Angiogenesis*. 6 : 171-83
- 261. Edgell CJ, Haizlip JE, Bagnell CR, Packenham JP, Harrison P, et al. 1990. Endothelium specific weibel-palade bodies in a continuous human cell line, EA.hy926. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol.* 26 : 1167-72
- 262. van Oost BA, Edgell CJ, Hay CW, MacGillivray RT. 1986. Isolation of a human von willebrand factor cDNA from the hybrid endothelial cell line EA.hy926. *Biochem. Cell Biol.* 64 : 699-705
- 263. Bauer J, Margolis M, Schreiner C, Edgell CJ, Azizkhan J, et al. 1992. In vitro model of angiogenesis using a human endothelium-derived permanent cell line:

Contributions of induced gene expression, G-proteins, and integrins. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 153: 437-49

- 264. D'Alessio A, Al-Lamki RS, Bradley JR, Pober JS. 2005. Caveolae participate in tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 signaling and internalization in a human endothelial cell line. *Am. J. Pathol.* 166 : 1273-82
- 265. Burke-Gaffney A, Hellewell PG. 1996. Regulation of ICAM-1 by dexamethasone in a human vascular endothelial cell line EAhy926. *Am. J. Physiol.* 270 : C552-61
- 266. Badia E, Sacanella E, Fernandez-Sola J, Nicolas JM, Antunez E, et al. 2004. Decreased tumor necrosis factor-induced adhesion of human monocytes to endothelial cells after moderate alcohol consumption. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 80 : 225-30
- 267. Boerma M, Burton GR, Wang J, Fink LM, McGehee RE, Jr, Hauer-Jensen M. 2006. Comparative expression profiling in primary and immortalized endothelial cells: Changes in gene expression in response to hydroxy methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase inhibition. *Blood Coagul. Fibrinolysis.* 17: 173-80
- 268. Urayama S, Kawakami A, Matsuoka N, Tsuboi M, Nakashima T, et al. 1997. Fas/Fas ligand interaction regulates cytotoxicity of CD4+ T cells against staphylococcal enterotoxin B-pulsed endothelial cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 239 : 782-8
- 269. Suhara T, Fukuo K, Sugimoto T, Morimoto S, Nakahashi T, et al. 1998. Hydrogen peroxide induces up-regulation of fas in human endothelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 160 : 4042-7
- 270. Aoudjit F, Vuori K. 2001. Matrix attachment regulates fas-induced apoptosis in endothelial cells: A role for c-flip and implications for anoikis. J. Cell Biol. 152 : 633-43
- 271. Yue TL, Wang X, Louden CS, Gupta S, Pillarisetti K, et al. 1997. 2-methoxyestradiol, an endogenous estrogen metabolite, induces apoptosis in endothelial cells and inhibits angiogenesis: Possible role for stress-activated protein kinase signaling pathway and fas expression. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 51 : 951-62
- 272. Shiojima I, Walsh K. 2002. Role of akt signaling in vascular homeostasis and angiogenesis. *Circ. Res.* 90 : 1243-50
- 273. Panka DJ, Mier JW. 2003. Canstatin inhibits akt activation and induces fas-dependent apoptosis in endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278 : 37632-6
- 274. Secchiero P, Candido R, Corallini F, Zacchigna S, Toffoli B, et al. 2006. Systemic tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand delivery shows

antiatherosclerotic activity in apolipoprotein E-null diabetic mice. *Circulation.* 114 : 1522-30

- 275. Winn RK, Harlan JM. 2005. The role of endothelial cell apoptosis in inflammatory and immune diseases. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* 3 : 1815-24
- 276. Hohlbaum AM, Saff RR, Marshak-Rothstein A. 2002. Fas-ligand--iron fist or achilles' heel? *Clin. Immunol.* 103 : 1-6
- 277. Beck H, Plate KH. 2009. Angiogenesis after cerebral ischemia. *Acta Neuropathol.* 117 : 481-96
- 278. Bogler O, Mikkelsen T. 2005. Angiogenesis and apoptosis in glioma: Two arenas for promising new therapies. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 96 : 16-24
- 279. Kirk S, Frank JA, Karlik S. 2004. Angiogenesis in multiple sclerosis: Is it good, bad or an epiphenomenon? *J. Neurol. Sci.* 217 : 125-30
- 280. Li P, Nijhawan D, Budihardjo I, Srinivasula SM, Ahmad M, et al. 1997. Cytochrome c and dATP-dependent formation of apaf-1/caspase-9 complex initiates an apoptotic protease cascade. *Cell.* 91 : 479-89
- 281. Secchiero P, Gonelli A, Carnevale E, Corallini F, Rizzardi C, et al. 2004. Evidence for a proangiogenic activity of TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. *Neoplasia*. 6: 364-73
- 282. Cantarella G, Risuglia N, Dell'eva R, Lempereur L, Albini A, et al. 2006. TRAIL inhibits angiogenesis stimulated by VEGF expression in human glioblastoma cells. *Br. J. Cancer.* 94 : 1428-35
- 283. Zauli G, Secchiero P. 2006. The role of the TRAIL/TRAIL receptors system in hematopoiesis and endothelial cell biology. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 17 : 245-57
- 284. Zauli G, Pandolfi A, Gonelli A, Di Pietro R, Guarnieri S, et al. 2003. Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) sequentially upregulates nitric oxide and prostanoid production in primary human endothelial cells. *Circ. Res.* 92 : 732-40
- 285. Smyth MJ, Takeda K, Hayakawa Y, Peschon JJ, van den Brink MR, Yagita H. 2003. Nature's TRAIL--on a path to cancer immunotherapy. *Immunity.* 18 : 1-6
- 286. McGonigle JS, Giachelli CM, Scatena M. 2009. Osteoprotegerin and RANKL differentially regulate angiogenesis and endothelial cell function. *Angiogenesis*. 12: 35-46

- 287. Shankar S, Ganapathy S, Srivastava RK. 2008. Sulforaphane enhances the therapeutic potential of TRAIL in prostate cancer orthotopic model through regulation of apoptosis, metastasis, and angiogenesis. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 14 : 6855-66
- 288. Jo M, Kim TH, Seol DW, Esplen JE, Dorko K, et al. 2000. Apoptosis induced in normal human hepatocytes by tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. *Nat. Med.* 6 : 564-7
- 289. Lawrence D, Shahrokh Z, Marsters S, Achilles K, Shih D, et al. 2001. Differential hepatocyte toxicity of recombinant Apo2L/TRAIL versions. *Nat. Med.* 7 : 383-5
- 290. Wosik K, Biernacki K, Khouzam MP, Prat A. 2007. Death receptor expression and function at the human blood brain barrier. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 259 : 53-60
- 291. Chen PL, Easton A. 2008. Apoptotic phenotype alters the capacity of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand to induce human vascular endothelial activation. *J. Vasc. Res.* 45 : 111-22
- 292. Pritzker LB, Scatena M, Giachelli CM. 2004. The role of osteoprotegerin and tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in human microvascular endothelial cell survival. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 15 : 2834-41
- 293. Benndorf R, Boger RH, Ergun S, Steenpass A, Wieland T. 2003. Angiotensin II type 2 receptor inhibits vascular endothelial growth factor-induced migration and in vitro tube formation of human endothelial cells. *Circ. Res.* 93 : 438-47
- 294. Ashton AW, Ware JA. 2004. Thromboxane A2 receptor signaling inhibits vascular endothelial growth factor-induced endothelial cell differentiation and migration. *Circ. Res.* 95 : 372-9
- 295. Harikumar KB, Aggarwal BB. 2008. Resveratrol: A multitargeted agent for age-associated chronic diseases. *Cell. Cycle.* 7 : 1020-35
- 296. Athar M, Back JH, Kopelovich L, Bickers DR, Kim AL. 2009. Multiple molecular targets of resveratrol: Anti-carcinogenic mechanisms. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 486 : 95-102
- 297. Sofia Vala I, Martins LR, Imaizumi N, Nunes RJ, Rino J, et al. 2010. Low doses of ionizing radiation promote tumor growth and metastasis by enhancing angiogenesis. *PLoS One.* 5 : e11222
- 298. Rouhi P, Lee SL, Cao Z, Hedlund EM, Jensen LD, Cao Y. 2010. Pathological angiogenesis facilitates tumor cell dissemination and metastasis. *Cell. Cycle.* 9 : 913-7

- 299. Petersen M, Pardali E, van der Horst G, Cheung H, van den Hoogen C, et al. 2010. Smad2 and Smad3 have opposing roles in breast cancer bone metastasis by differentially affecting tumor angiogenesis. *Oncogene*. 29 : 1351-61
- 300. Young E, Miele L, Tucker KB, Huang M, Wells J, Gu JW. 2010. SU11248, a selective tyrosine kinases inhibitor suppresses breast tumor angiogenesis and growth via targeting both tumor vasculature and breast cancer cells. *Cancer. Biol. Ther.* 10: 703-11
- 301. Yang G, Rosen DG, Liu G, Yang F, Guo X, et al. 2010. CXCR2 promotes ovarian cancer growth through dysregulated cell cycle, diminished apoptosis, and enhanced angiogenesis. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 16 : 3875-86
- 302. Hayashi T, Deguchi K, Nagotani S, Zhang H, Sehara Y, et al. 2006. Cerebral ischemia and angiogenesis. *Curr. Neurovasc Res.* 3 : 119-29
- 303. Penumathsa SV, Maulik N. 2009. Resveratrol: A promising agent in promoting cardioprotection against coronary heart disease. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 87: 275-86
- 304. Nessa A, Latif SA, Siddiqui NI, Hussain MA, Bhuiyan MR, et al. 2009. Angiogenesis-a novel therapeutic approach for ischemic heart disease. *Mymensingh Med. J.* 18: 264-72
- 305. Kastrup J. 2010. Gene therapy and angiogenesis in patients with coronary artery disease. *Expert Rev. Cardiovasc. Ther.* 8 : 1127-38
- 306. Seevinck PR, Deddens LH, Dijkhuizen RM. 2010. Magnetic resonance imaging of brain angiogenesis after stroke. *Angiogenesis*. 13 : 101-11
- 307. Arai K, Jin G, Navaratna D, Lo EH. 2009. Brain angiogenesis in developmental and pathological processes: Neurovascular injury and angiogenic recovery after stroke. *FEBS J.* 276 : 4644-52
- 308. Lin MT, Yen ML, Lin CY, Kuo ML. 2003. Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor-induced angiogenesis by resveratrol through interruption of src-dependent vascular endothelial cadherin tyrosine phosphorylation. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 64 : 1029-36
- 309. Cao Y, Fu ZD, Wang F, Liu HY, Han R. 2005. Anti-angiogenic activity of resveratrol, a natural compound from medicinal plants. J. Asian Nat. Prod. Res. 7 : 205-13

- 310. Belleri M, Ribatti D, Savio M, Stivala LA, Forti L, et al. 2008. alphavbeta3 integrin-dependent antiangiogenic activity of resveratrol stereoisomers. *Mol. Cancer. Ther.* 7 : 3761-70
- 311. Wang H, Zhou H, Zou Y, Liu Q, Guo C, et al. 2010. Resveratrol modulates angiogenesis through the GSK3beta/beta-catenin/TCF-dependent pathway in human endothelial cells. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 80 : 1386-95
- 312. Hsieh TC, Juan G, Darzynkiewicz Z, Wu JM. 1999. Resveratrol increases nitric oxide synthase, induces accumulation of p53 and p21(WAF1/CIP1), and suppresses cultured bovine pulmonary artery endothelial cell proliferation by perturbing progression through S and G2. *Cancer Res.* 59 : 2596-601
- 313.Igura K, Ohta T, Kuroda Y, Kaji K. 2001. Resveratrol and quercetin inhibit angiogenesis in vitro. *Cancer Lett.* 171 : 11-6
- 314. Kaga S, Zhan L, Matsumoto M, Maulik N. 2005. Resveratrol enhances neovascularization in the infarcted rat myocardium through the induction of thioredoxin-1, heme oxygenase-1 and vascular endothelial growth factor. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 39 : 813-22
- 315. Khan AA, Dace DS, Ryazanov AG, Kelly J, Apte RS. 2010. Resveratrol regulates pathologic angiogenesis by a eukaryotic elongation factor-2 kinase-regulated pathway. *Am. J. Pathol.* 177 : 481-92
- 316.Baron-Menguy C, Bocquet A, Guihot AL, Chappard D, Amiot MJ, et al. 2007. Effects of red wine polyphenols on postischemic neovascularization model in rats: Low doses are proangiogenic, high doses anti-angiogenic. *FASEB J.* 21 : 3511-21
- 317. Mousa SS, Mousa SS, Mousa SA. 2005. Effect of resveratrol on angiogenesis and platelet/fibrin-accelerated tumor growth in the chick chorioallantoic membrane model. *Nutr. Cancer.* 52 : 59-65
- 318. Hu Y, Sun CY, Huang J, Hong L, Zhang L, Chu ZB. 2007. Antimyeloma effects of resveratrol through inhibition of angiogenesis. *Chin. Med. J. (Engl).* 120 : 1672-7
- 319. Chen HH, Chien CH, Liu HM. 1994. Correlation between angiogenesis and basic fibroblast growth factor expression in experimental brain infarct. *Stroke.* 25 : 1651-7
- 320. Dong W, Li N, Gao D, Zhen H, Zhang X, Li F. 2008. Resveratrol attenuates ischemic brain damage in the delayed phase after stroke and induces messenger RNA and protein express for angiogenic factors. *J. Vasc. Surg.* 48 : 709-14
- 321. Chen PL, Easton AS. 2010. Evidence that tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) inhibits angiogenesis by inducing vascular endothelial cell apoptosis. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 391 : 936-41
- 322. Berra E, Milanini J, Richard DE, Le Gall M, Vinals F, et al. 2000. Signaling angiogenesis via p42/p44 MAP kinase and hypoxia. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 60 : 1171-8
- 323. Banai S, Jaklitsch MT, Shou M, Lazarous DF, Scheinowitz M, et al. 1994. Angiogenic-induced enhancement of collateral blood flow to ischemic myocardium by vascular endothelial growth factor in dogs. *Circulation.* 89 : 2183-9
- 324. Cao Y. 2004. Antiangiogenic cancer therapy. Semin. Cancer Biol. 14: 139-45
- 325. Eikesdal HP, Kalluri R. 2009. Drug resistance associated with antiangiogenesis therapy. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* 19: 310-7
- 326. Srivastava RK, Unterman TG, Shankar S. 2010. FOXO transcription factors and VEGF neutralizing antibody enhance antiangiogenic effects of resveratrol. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 337 : 201-12
- 327. Kraft TE, Parisotto D, Schempp C, Efferth T. 2009. Fighting cancer with red wine? molecular mechanisms of resveratrol. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* 49 : 782-99
- 328. Klinge CM, Wickramasinghe NS, Ivanova MM, Dougherty SM. 2008. Resveratrol stimulates nitric oxide production by increasing estrogen receptor alpha-src-caveolin-1 interaction and phosphorylation in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *FASEB J.* 22 : 2185-97
- 329. Cooke JP, Losordo DW. 2002. Nitric oxide and angiogenesis. *Circulation*. 105 : 2133-5
- 330. Schreiner CE, Kumerz M, Gesslbauer J, Schachner D, Joa H, et al. 2010. Resveratrol blocks akt activation in angiotensin II or EGF-stimulated vascular smooth muscle cells in a redox-independent manner. *Cardiovasc. Res.*
- 331. Jiang H, Shang X, Wu H, Gautam SC, Al-Holou S, et al. 2009. Resveratrol downregulates PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathways in human U251 glioma cells. J. Exp. Ther. Oncol. 8 : 25-33
- 332. Parekh P, Motiwale L, Naik N, Rao KV. 2011. Downregulation of cyclin D1 is associated with decreased levels of p38 MAP kinases, Akt/PKB and Pak1 during chemopreventive effects of resveratrol in liver cancer cells. *Exp. Toxicol. Pathol.* 63 : 167-73

- 333. Wang Y, Romigh T, He X, Orloff MS, Silverman RH, et al. 2010. Resveratrol regulates the PTEN/AKT pathway through androgen receptor-dependent and -independent mechanisms in prostate cancer cell lines. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 19 : 4319-29
- 334. Yu HP, Yang SC, Lau YT, Hwang TL. 2010. Role of akt-dependent up-regulation of hemeoxygenase-1 in resveratrol-mediated attenuation of hepatic injury after trauma hemorrhage. *Surgery.* 148 : 103-9
- 335. Penumathsa SV, Thirunavukkarasu M, Zhan L, Maulik G, Menon VP, et al. 2008. Resveratrol enhances GLUT-4 translocation to the caveolar lipid raft fractions through AMPK/Akt/eNOS signalling pathway in diabetic myocardium. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 12: 2350-61
- 336. Byrnes KR, Faden AI. 2007. Role of cell cycle proteins in CNS injury. *Neurochem. Res.* 32 : 1799-807
- 337. Rashidian J, Iyirhiaro GO, Park DS. 2007. Cell cycle machinery and stroke. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 1772 : 484-93
- 338. Zhivotovsky B, Orrenius S. 2010. Cell cycle and cell death in disease: Past, present and future. J. Intern. Med. 268 : 395-409
- 339. Singh NP, Hegde VL, Hofseth LJ, Nagarkatti M, Nagarkatti P. 2007. Resveratrol (trans-3,5,4'-trihydroxystilbene) ameliorates experimental allergic encephalomyelitis, primarily via induction of apoptosis in T cells involving activation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor and estrogen receptor. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 72 : 1508-21
- 340. Boocock DJ, Patel KR, Faust GE, Normolle DP, Marczylo TH, et al. 2007. Quantitation of trans-resveratrol and detection of its metabolites in human plasma and urine by high performance liquid chromatography. J. Chromatogr. B. Analyt Technol. Biomed. Life. Sci. 848 : 182-7
- 341. Koga Y, Matsuzaki A, Suminoe A, Hattori H, Hara T. 2004. Neutrophil-derived TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL): A novel mechanism of antitumor effect by neutrophils. *Cancer Res.* 64 : 1037-43
- 342. Liles WC, Kiener PA, Ledbetter JA, Aruffo A, Klebanoff SJ. 1996. Differential expression of fas (CD95) and fas ligand on normal human phagocytes: Implications for the regulation of apoptosis in neutrophils. *J. Exp. Med.* 184 : 429-40
- 343. Hu DE, Easton AS, Fraser PA. 2005. TRPV1 activation results in disruption of the blood-brain barrier in the rat. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 146 : 576-84

- 344. Inglis VI, Jones MP, Tse AD, Easton AS. 2004. Neutrophils both reduce and increase permeability in a cell culture model of the blood-brain barrier. *Brain Res.* 998 : 218-29
- 345. Easton AS, Abbott NJ. 2002. Bradykinin increases permeability by calcium and 5-lipoxygenase in the ECV304/C6 cell culture model of the blood-brain barrier. Brain Res. 953 : 157-69
- 346. Easton AS, Dorovini-Zis K. 2001. The kinetics, function, and regulation of P-selectin expressed by human brain microvessel endothelial cells in primary culture. *Microvasc. Res.* 62 : 335-45
- 347. Easton AS, Fraser PA. 1998. Arachidonic acid increases cerebral microvascular permeability by free radicals in single pial microvessels of the anaesthetized rat. J. Physiol. 507 (Pt 2): 541-7
- 348. Sarker MH, Easton AS, Fraser PA. 1998. Regulation of cerebral microvascular permeability by histamine in the anaesthetized rat. J. Physiol. 507 (Pt 3): 909-18
- 349. Easton AS, Sarker MH, Fraser PA. 1997. Two components of blood-brain barrier disruption in the rat. J. Physiol. 503 (Pt 3): 613-23
- 350. Easton AS, Fraser PA. 1994. Variable restriction of albumin diffusion across inflamed cerebral microvessels of the anaesthetized rat. *J. Physiol.* 475 : 147-57
- 351. Easton AS. 1993. *The characteristics of BBB disruption studied in single microvessels in vivo*. PhD thesis. University of London, London, UK.
- 352. Albelda SM, Sampson PM, Haselton FR, McNiff JM, Mueller SN, et al. 1988.
 Permeability characteristics of cultured endothelial cell monolayers. J. Appl. Physiol.
 64 : 308-22
- 353. Meyer J, Mischeck U, Veyhl M, Henzel K, Galla HJ. 1990. Blood-brain barrier characteristic enzymatic properties in cultured brain capillary endothelial cells. *Brain Res.* 514 : 305-9
- 354. Arthur FE, Shivers RR, Bowman PD. 1987. Astrocyte-mediated induction of tight junctions in brain capillary endothelium: An efficient in vitro model. *Brain Res.* 433 : 155-9
- 355.Cucullo L, Couraud PO, Weksler B, Romero IA, Hossain M, et al. 2008. Immortalized human brain endothelial cells and flow-based vascular modeling: A marriage of convenience for rational neurovascular studies. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 28 : 312-28

- 356. Demeuse P, Kerkhofs A, Struys-Ponsar C, Knoops B, Remacle C, van den Bosch de Aguilar, P. 2002. Compartmentalized coculture of rat brain endothelial cells and astrocytes: A syngenic model to study the blood-brain barrier. J. Neurosci. Methods. 121 : 21-31
- 357. Deli MA, Abraham CS, Kataoka Y, Niwa M. 2005. Permeability studies on in vitro blood-brain barrier models: Physiology, pathology, and pharmacology. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 25 : 59-127
- 358. Garberg P, Ball M, Borg N, Cecchelli R, Fenart L, et al. 2005. In vitro models for the blood-brain barrier. *Toxicol. In. Vitro.* 19 : 299-334
- 359. Joice SL, Mydeen F, Couraud PO, Weksler BB, Romero IA, et al. 2009. Modulation of blood-brain barrier permeability by neutrophils: In vitro and in vivo studies. *Brain Res.* 1298 : 13-23
- 360. Cowan KM, Easton AS. 2010. Neutrophils block permeability increases induced by oxygen glucose deprivation in a culture model of the human blood-brain barrier. *Brain Res.* 1332 : 20-31
- 361. Tai LM, Holloway KA, Male DK, Loughlin AJ, Romero IA. 2010. Amyloid-beta-induced occludin down-regulation and increased permeability in human brain endothelial cells is mediated by MAPK activation. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 14 : 1101-12
- 362. Sade H, Holloway K, Romero IA, Male D. 2009. Transcriptional control of occludin expression in vascular endothelia: Regulation by Sp3 and YY1. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 1789 : 175-84
- 363. Fasler-Kan E, Suenderhauf C, Barteneva N, Poller B, Gygax D, Huwyler J. 2010. Cytokine signaling in the human brain capillary endothelial cell line hCMEC/D3. Brain Res. 1354 : 15-22
- 364. Araujo JR, Goncalves P, Martel F. 2010. Characterization of uptake of folates by rat and human blood-brain barrier endothelial cells. *Biofactors.* 36 : 201-9
- 365. Carl SM, Lindley DJ, Couraud PO, Weksler BB, Romero I, et al. 2010. ABC and SLC transporter expression and pot substrate characterization across the human CMEC/D3 blood-brain barrier cell line. *Mol. Pharm.* 7 : 1057-68
- 366. Dauchy S, Miller F, Couraud PO, Weaver RJ, Weksler B, et al. 2009. Expression and transcriptional regulation of ABC transporters and cytochromes P450 in hCMEC/D3 human cerebral microvascular endothelial cells. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 77 : 897-909

- 367. Poller B, Drewe J, Krahenbuhl S, Huwyler J, Gutmann H. 2010. Regulation of BCRP (ABCG2) and P-glycoprotein (ABCB1) by cytokines in a model of the human blood-brain barrier. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 30 : 63-70
- 368. Schor AM, Schor SL. 1986. The isolation and culture of endothelial cells and pericytes from the bovine retinal microvasculature: A comparative study with large vessel vascular cells. *Microvasc. Res.* 32 : 21-38
- 369. Hewett PW. 2009. Vascular endothelial cells from human micro- and macrovessels: Isolation, characterisation and culture. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 467 : 95-111
- 370. Garlanda C, Dejana E. 1997. Heterogeneity of endothelial cells. specific markers. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 17 : 1193-202
- 371. Kuzu I, Bicknell R, Harris AL, Jones M, Gatter KC, Mason DY. 1992. Heterogeneity of vascular endothelial cells with relevance to diagnosis of vascular tumours. J. Clin. Pathol. 45 : 143-8
- 372. Kumar S, West DC, Ager A. 1987. Heterogeneity in endothelial cells from large vessels and microvessels. *Differentiation*. 36 : 57-70
- 373. Hoehn BD, Harik SI, Hudetz AG. 2002. VEGF mRNA expressed in microvessels of neonatal and adult rat cerebral cortex. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 101 : 103-8
- 374. Zhang ZG, Zhang L, Jiang Q, Zhang R, Davies K, et al. 2000. VEGF enhances angiogenesis and promotes blood-brain barrier leakage in the ischemic brain. J. Clin. Invest. 106: 829-38
- 375. Chen J, Zhang ZG, Li Y, Wang L, Xu YX, et al. 2003. Intravenous administration of human bone marrow stromal cells induces angiogenesis in the ischemic boundary zone after stroke in rats. *Circ. Res.* 92 : 692-9
- 376. Soker S, Takashima S, Miao HQ, Neufeld G, Klagsbrun M. 1998. Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cell.* 92 : 735-45
- 377. Lennmyr F, Ata KA, Funa K, Olsson Y, Terent A. 1998. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptors (flt-1 and flk-1) following permanent and transient occlusion of the middle cerebral artery in the rat. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 57 : 874-82
- 378. Kovacs Z, Ikezaki K, Samoto K, Inamura T, Fukui M. 1996. VEGF and flt. expression time kinetics in rat brain infarct. *Stroke.* 27 : 1865,72; discussion 1872-3

- 379. Fischer C, Mazzone M, Jonckx B, Carmeliet P. 2008. FLT1 and its ligands VEGFB and PIGF: Drug targets for anti-angiogenic therapy? *Nat. Rev. Cancer.* 8 : 942-56
- 380. Shibuya M, Yamaguchi S, Yamane A, Ikeda T, Tojo A, et al. 1990. Nucleotide sequence and expression of a novel human receptor-type tyrosine kinase gene (flt) closely related to the fms family. *Oncogene*. 5 : 519-24
- 381. Gille H, Kowalski J, Yu L, Chen H, Pisabarro MT, et al. 2000. A repressor sequence in the juxtamembrane domain of flt-1 (VEGFR-1) constitutively inhibits vascular endothelial growth factor-dependent phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase activation and endothelial cell migration. *EMBO J.* 19 : 4064-73
- 382. Uniewicz KA, Fernig DG. 2008. Neuropilins: A versatile partner of extracellular molecules that regulate development and disease. *Front. Biosci.* 13 : 4339-60
- 383. Liu W, Parikh AA, Stoeltzing O, Fan F, McCarty MF, et al. 2005. Upregulation of neuropilin-1 by basic fibroblast growth factor enhances vascular smooth muscle cell migration in response to VEGF. Cytokine. 32 : 206-12
- 384. Zittermann SI, Issekutz AC. 2006. Endothelial growth factors VEGF and bFGF differentially enhance monocyte and neutrophil recruitment to inflammation. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 80 : 247-57
- 385. Yoshida A, Anand-Apte B, Zetter BR. 1996. Differential endothelial migration and proliferation to basic fibroblast growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor. *Growth Factors.* 13 : 57-64
- 386. Hood JD, Meininger CJ, Ziche M, Granger HJ. 1998. VEGF upregulates ecNOS message, protein, and NO production in human endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. 274 : H1054-8
- 387. Zhao Y, Tan YZ, Zhou LF, Wang HJ, Mao Y. 2007. Morphological observation and in vitro angiogenesis assay of endothelial cells isolated from human cerebral cavernous malformations. *Stroke.* 38 : 1313-9
- 388. Chow J, Ogunshola O, Fan SY, Li Y, Ment LR, Madri JA. 2001. Astrocyte-derived VEGF mediates survival and tube stabilization of hypoxic brain microvascular endothelial cells in vitro. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 130 : 123-32
- 389. Schoch HJ, Fischer S, Marti HH. 2002. Hypoxia-induced vascular endothelial growth factor expression causes vascular leakage in the brain. *Brain.* 125 : 2549-57

- 390. Chappell DC, Varner SE, Nerem RM, Medford RM, Alexander RW. 1998. Oscillatory shear stress stimulates adhesion molecule expression in cultured human endothelium. *Circ. Res.* 82 : 532-9
- 391. De Keulenaer GW, Chappell DC, Ishizaka N, Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Griendling KK. 1998. Oscillatory and steady laminar shear stress differentially affect human endothelial redox state: Role of a superoxide-producing NADH oxidase. *Circ. Res.* 82 : 1094-101
- 392. Sata M, Suhara T, Walsh K. 2000. Vascular endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells differ in expression of fas and fas ligand and in sensitivity to fas ligand-induced cell death: Implications for vascular disease and therapy. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 20 : 309-16
- 393. Canfield AE, Schor AM, Schor SL, Grant ME. 1986. The biosynthesis of extracellular-matrix components by bovine retinal endothelial cells displaying distinctive morphological phenotypes. *Biochem. J.* 235 : 375-83
- 394. Coleman G, Gardiner TA, Boutaud A, Stitt AW. 2007. Recombinant alpha2(IV)NC1 domain of type IV collagen is an effective regulator of retinal capillary endothelial cell proliferation and inhibits pre-retinal neovascularisation. *Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol.* 245 : 581-7
- 395. Slater JH, Frey W. 2008. Nanopatterning of fibronectin and the influence of integrin clustering on endothelial cell spreading and proliferation. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A. 87 : 176-95
- 396. Doukas CN, Maglogiannis I, Chatziioannou A, Papapetropoulos A. 2006. Automated angiogenesis quantification through advanced image processing techniques. *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 1 : 2345-8
- 397. Gordon SR, Staley CA. 1990. Role of the cytoskeleton during injury-induced cell migration in corneal endothelium. *Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton.* 16 : 47-57
- 398. Gorog P. 1997. Modified low density lipoprotein is a potent stimulus for smooth muscle cell outgrowth from rat aortic explant in vitro. *Atherosclerosis.* 129 : 1-7
- 399. Pellegatta F, Bertelli AA, Staels B, Duhem C, Fulgenzi A, Ferrero ME. 2003. Different short- and long-term effects of resveratrol on nuclear factor-kappaB phosphorylation and nuclear appearance in human endothelial cells. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 77 : 1220-8

- 400. Csiszar A, Smith K, Labinskyy N, Orosz Z, Rivera A, Ungvari Z. 2006. Resveratrol attenuates TNF-alpha-induced activation of coronary arterial endothelial cells: Role of NF-kappaB inhibition. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 291 : H1694-9
- 401. Teixeira MM, Vilela MC, Soriani FM, Rodrigues DH, Teixeira AL. 2010. Using intravital microscopy to study the role of chemokines during infection and inflammation in the central nervous system. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 224 : 62-5
- 402. Gavins FN, Chatterjee BE. 2004. Intravital microscopy for the study of mouse microcirculation in anti-inflammatory drug research: Focus on the mesentery and cremaster preparations. *J. Pharmacol. Toxicol. Methods.* 49 : 1-14
- 403. Ashkenazi A. 2002. Targeting death and decoy receptors of the tumour-necrosis factor superfamily. *Nat. Rev. Cancer.* 2 : 420-30
- 404. Kelley RF, Totpal K, Lindstrom SH, Mathieu M, Billeci K, et al. 2005. Receptor-selective mutants of apoptosis-inducing ligand 2/tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand reveal a greater contribution of death receptor (DR) 5 than DR4 to apoptosis signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 280 : 2205-12
- 405. Finnberg N, Gruber JJ, Fei P, Rudolph D, Bric A, et al. 2005. DR5 knockout mice are compromised in radiation-induced apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25 : 2000-13
- 406. Diehl GE, Yue HH, Hsieh K, Kuang AA, Ho M, et al. 2004. TRAIL-R as a negative regulator of innate immune cell responses. *Immunity.* 21 : 877-89
- 407. Fields ML, Sokol CL, Eaton-Bassiri A, Seo S, Madaio MP, Erikson J. 2001. Fas/Fas ligand deficiency results in altered localization of anti-double-stranded DNA B cells and dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* 167 : 2370-8
- 408. Roths JB, Murphy ED, Eicher EM. 1984. A new mutation, gld, that produces lymphoproliferation and autoimmunity in C3H/HeJ mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 159 : 1-20
- 409. Passaniti A. 1992. Extracellular matrix-cell interactions: Matrigel and complex cellular pattern formation. *Lab. Invest.* 67 : 804; author reply 804-8
- 410. Kragh M, Hjarnaa PJ, Bramm E, Kristjansen PE, Rygaard J, Binderup L. 2003. In vivo chamber angiogenesis assay: An optimized matrigel plug assay for fast assessment of anti-angiogenic activity. *Int. J. Oncol.* 22 : 305-11
- 411. Ley CD, Olsen MW, Lund EL, Kristjansen PE. 2004. Angiogenic synergy of bFGF and VEGF is antagonized by angiopoietin-2 in a modified in vivo matrigel assay. *Microvasc. Res.* 68 : 161-8

- 412. Baker JH, Huxham LA, Kyle AH, Lam KK, Minchinton AI. 2006. Vascular-specific quantification in an in vivo matrigel chamber angiogenesis assay. *Microvasc. Res.* 71: 69-75
- 413. Zheng XR, Zhang SS, Yang YJ, Yin F, Wang X, et al. 2010. Adenoviral vector-mediated transduction of VEGF improves neural functional recovery after hypoxia-ischemic brain damage in neonatal rats. *Brain Res. Bull.* 81 : 372-7
- 414. Proescholdt MA, Heiss JD, Walbridge S, Muhlhauser J, Capogrossi MC, et al. 1999. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) modulates vascular permeability and inflammation in rat brain. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 58 : 613-27
- 415. Zhu CS, Hu XQ, Xiong ZJ, Lu ZQ, Zhou GY, Wang DJ. 2008. Adenoviral delivery of soluble VEGF receptor 1 (sFlt-1) inhibits experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in dark agouti (DA) rats. *Life Sci.* 83 : 404-12